Public Document Pack

w WIRRAL

Cabinet
Special Meeting

Contact Officer: Lyndzay Roberts

Tel: 0151 691 8262

e-mail: lyndzayroberts@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk
AGENDA

1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any
disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests in connection with
any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state the
nature of the interest.

FINANCE

2. COMBINED AUTHORITY (Pages 1 - 152)

CENTRAL AND SUPPORT SERVICES

3. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2014/15 (Pages 153 - 168)

4. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 1)

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.



EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND
PUBLIC

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION: That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by
the relevant paragraphs of Part | of Schedule 12A (as amended) to
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours
exclusion.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 2)

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.



Agenda ltem 2

WIRRAL COUNCIL

SPECIAL CABINET
10 MARCH 2014

SUBJECT: COMBINED AUTHORITY

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: CHIEF EXECUTIVE

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

HOLDER:

KEY DECISION? YES

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Order and consequential

2.0
2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Order to establish a Combined Authority on 1 April 2014, and the other related
documents and matters for approval and adoption.

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

Liverpool City Region conducted a Review of Strategic Governance in 2013 to assess
whether the arrangements for economic development, regeneration and transport as
they stood should continue. This review highlighted the positive joint working to date
that has been in place through informal arrangements, and then considered the options
for the future. It considered no change, the establishment of a Supervisory Board, the
establishment of an Economic Prosperity Board and the creation of a Combined
Authority and assessed these against the key statutory tests:

e The exercise of statutory functions relating to economic development,
regeneration and transport;

e The effectiveness and efficiency of transport; and,

e The economic conditions in the area.

This concluded that the establishment of a Combined Authority for the Liverpool City
Region was best placed to support business to grow and create jobs, to secure an
improvement in the City Region’s economic conditions. The Combined Authority would
draw together strategic work across economic development, transport, housing and
employment and skills and provide the basis to potentially access additional funding
from Government for the benefit of the City Region.

The initial review was subject to consultation and received 179 responses from a range
of stakeholders, businesses and members of the public; the overwhelming majority
being positive. These responses were then used to shape the final Governance Review
proposals submitted to Government on 30 September 2013.

At its meeting on 19 September 2013, members of the Council endorsed these
proposals and agreed that Wirral Council should formally become a constituent member
of the “Liverpool City Region Combined Authority”, thereby sharing appropriate
economic development and transport powers with other Councils within the Liverpool

Page 1



2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

3.

City Region Combined Authority in accordance with the provisions of the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and the Local
Transport Act 2008.

Government considered the submission and published a statutory consultation
document on the establishment of the ‘Greater Merseyside Combined Authority’ on 29
November 2013. This was broadly consistent with the submitted Review of
Governance, except for the name of the organisation. The statutory consultation closed
on 22 January 2014; in total over 100 responses were received by Government.

The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government has now confirmed his
intention to establish the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral
Combined Authority and has invited Parliament to approve a draft of the Order and a
consequential Order (see Appendix One) for the establishment of the Combined
Authority on 1 April 2014 and for the abolition of the Merseyside Integrated Transport
Authority. For public purposes, the Combined Authority will be known as the “Liverpool
City Region Combined Authority”.

Subject to the passage of the Order through Parliament and subsequent establishment
of the Combined Authority, its inaugural meeting will be held on 1 April 2014 at which
point it will agree its Constitution and ways of working. This will enable the Combined
Authority to assume democratic responsibility for the functions of the Merseyside
Integrated Transport Authority, as well as accepting transfer of its assets and liabilities.

The Combined Authority’s Annual General Meeting will take place in mid June 2014.

Liverpool City Region Cabinet agreed at their meeting of 24 January 2014 that the
arrangements proposed for the Boards and Committees of the Combined Authority will
be transitional for the first year of the Combined Authority’s operation. Once further
details on the implementation of the Growth Plan and the Local Growth Fund are known
later this year, a review of the Combined Authority’s arrangements will be undertaken
and reported to the Combined Authority in 2015.

THE REMIT OF THE COMBINED AUTHORITY

3.1 The remit of the Combined Authority for the Liverpool City Region is those strategic

economic development, regeneration, transport, strategic housing and employment and
skills functions that can be better delivered collaboratively across the Liverpool City
Region. The Combined Authority will remain a lean, focused strategic decision making
body, with responsibility over those strategic issues where it is mutually beneficial for
local authorities, Merseytravel and the Local Enterprise Partnership to work together.

3.2 The City Region governance review concluded that the Combined Authority will

discharge thematic functions through the following arrangements:

Function Arrangements

Strategic Economic Development Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise
Partnership Board

Strategic Transport Merseytravel Committee

Page 2



3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

5.1

Function Arrangements

Strategic Housing and Land Based | Liverpool City Region Strategic Housing

Assets and Planning Board
Strategic Employment and Skills Liverpool City Region Employment and
Skills Board

On the Combined Authority each Constituent Council will be represented by one
member. It is proposed that that Member be the Leader of the Council. These six
members will form the core membership of the Combined Authority, with the Chair of
the Local Enterprise Partnership being a co-opted member.

UNDERPINNING DOCUMENTS

As a statutory organisation, the Combined Authority requires a Constitution to be in
place to describe how it will operate its functions. This has been developed by Legal
and Democratic Services officers from all City Region Councils and Merseytravel.
The draft Constitution is attached as Appendix Two and Cabinet is asked to endorse
the draft Constitution for the Combined Authority for adoption.

Appendix Three contains the Operating Agreement between the Combined Authority
and constituent Councils: this document sets out how the Combined Authority will
work alongside the 6 Constituent Councils, Merseytravel and the Local Enterprise
Partnership to deliver its functions. This too has been developed by Legal and
Democratic Services officers from all City Region Councils and Merseytravel. Cabinet
is asked to approve the Operating Agreement for the Combined Authority for
adoption/execution.

Each of the Constituent Councils will also need to endorse and adopt the Constitution
of the Combined Authority and the Operating Agreement between Councils and the
Combined Authority. This will need to be done before 1 April 2014.

A failure to complete this before 1 April 2014 will leave Merseytravel without
democratic oversight with the abolition of the Merseyside Integrated Transport
Authority occurring on 31 March 2014 as part of the new governance arrangements.
Agreement of the Constitution would provide for that oversight to be provided.

There are no changes proposed for the operation of the existing Housing and
Planning, Employment and Skills and Local Enterprise Partnership Boards, and these
will be commissioned by the Combined Authority to perform certain functions on its
behalf. As part of this process, a series of detailed Operational Protocols are being
developed for these key themes that the Combined Authority will be providing
strategic leadership on.

APPOINTMENTS TO COMBINED AUTHORITY AND STRUCTURE
The Constitution of the Combined Authority provides for Constituent Councils to

appoint a Member to the Combined Authority, along with a substitute Member. The
nominations will be requested in advance of the inaugural meeting on 1 April 2014.

Page 3



5.2

5.3

54

6.0
6.1

6.2

6.3

7.0
7.1

8.0
8.1

9.0

The Combined Authority will establish a Transport Committee (to be known as the
Merseytravel Committee) to provide operational input and democratic leadership
around transport issues. This Committee will be comprised of 20 Members of the
Constituent Councils who will be co-opted onto the Merseytravel Committee. It is
recommended that the Council’s nomination to this Committee is on the basis of a
continuation of the existing arrangements until the Annual General Meeting in June
2014. Thereafter Council’'s nominations to this Committee may be revised for the
2014/15 Municipal Year.

There will also be a Scrutiny Panel established drawn from Constituent Councils,
which will be politically balanced and reflect the combined political make-up of the 6
local authorities. The Panel will have a role to carry out pre decision scrutiny, conduct
themed reviews and the potential to request a reconsideration of the Combined
Authority’s decisions. Halton is leading on the Scrutiny model for the Combined
Authority. Appointments to the Scrutiny Panel will be made following the Annual
Meeting of constituent Councils in June 2014.

A Standards Committee will meet only when required. In addition, the Combined
Authority will establish an Audit Committee as part of its functions. Advice from CIPFA
(in their Position Statement of Audit Committees in Local Government) suggests that
the Audit Committee should not be entirely composed of members of the Authority or
Scrutiny, and that it should not be chaired by a member of the Authority.

As such, membership of the Audit Committee will be drawn from the Combined
Authority, Merseytravel Committee and Scrutiny Panel.

RELEVANT RISKS

There is a risk that the Combined Authority will not be able to function effectively on 1
April 2014. This will be mitigated by submitting the Constitution and Operating
Agreement to all Constituent Councils.

There is a risk that the Combined Authority may not have local stakeholder support.
This has been mitigated by consulting on the initial review of strategic governance and
potential operation of the Combined Authority during the summer of 2013 and the
more recent statutory consultation undertaken by Government to collect stakeholder
views. These were considered in the preparation by Government of the Orders laid
before Parliament on 12 February 2014.

There is a risk that the Combined Authority is seen as a ‘Super-Council’. This will be
mitigated by establishing a clear approach to the communication strategy between the
Constituent Councils, Merseytravel and the Local Enterprise Partnership to explain
precisely what the Combined Authority will and will not do.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Other options relevant to the establishment of the Combined Authority have been
considered as part of its development.

CONSULTATION

The consultation that has been undertaken has been set out in this report.

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
Page 4



9.1 There are no such implications arising.

10.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

Financial

A full due diligence process was undertaken as part of the review of strategic
governance and previously reported to Cabinet and Council ahead of the submission
to Government on 30 September 2013.

The Combined Authority will not have any additional resource implications for
constituent Councils. In this regard, any additional costs arising from the new
arrangements would be offset by efficiencies and savings and the establishment of the
Combined Authority would therefore be expected to be at least cost neutral in overall
terms.

No allowances (other than travel and subsistence) will be paid to Members of the
Combined Authority, the Scrutiny Panel and other Committees and Boards, with the
exception of the Merseytravel Committee. The existing Merseyside Integrated
Transport Authority allowance scheme will be used for the Merseytravel Committee as
a transitional arrangement. Cabinet is recommended to ask Council to agree that the
payment of allowances for co-opted members of the Transport Committee (to be
funded by Merseytravel) is dealt with by the Council’s own scheme.

Human Resources

The Chief Executives of the constituent Councils and Merseytravel will be appointed
as Officers of the Combined Authority, along with the following roles: Head of Paid
Service (Chief Executive of Merseytravel), Head of Secretariat (Chief Executive of
Knowsley Council), Monitoring Officer (from St Helens Council) and Section 151
Officer (from Merseytravel). These additional roles will be undertaken at no additional
cost. This approach will increase the effectiveness and efficiency of the related
functions by embedding integrated working, policy alignment and increasing
opportunities for co-design and collaboration.

Information Technology
There are no significant information technology implications associated with the
recommendations in this report.

Physical Assets
There are no physical assets implications associated with the recommendations in this
report.

11.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The establishment of the Combined Authority is being progressed in accordance with

the provisions in the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act
2009.

11.2 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

11.3 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

A full equality impact assessment has been undertaken as part of the preparation for
the implementation of the Combined Authority and mitigation actions implemented.

Page 5



12.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are no such implications arising.

13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

13.1 There are no such implications arising.

14.0 RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1 Cabinet is recommended to:

(a) Confirm its previous decision that the Council should formally become a
constituent member of the Combined Authority for the Liverpool City Region (as
referred to in this report);

(b) Note the position on the making of the Orders, as attached in Appendix One, and
the Parliamentary process in train;

(c) Endorse the Constitution for the Combined Authority for adoption as attached in
Appendix Two;

(d) Approve the Operating Agreement for the Combined Authority for adoption as
attached in Appendix Three;

(e) Ask Council to make nominations to the Combined Authority as set out in section
5.1 of this report;

(f) Ask Council to agree to nominate members to the Merseytravel Committee on the
basis of continuing with the existing arrangements until the Annual General
Meeting in June 2014, as set out in section 5.2 of this report;

(9) Note that no allowances (other than travel and subsistence) will be paid to
Members of the Combined Authority, the Scrutiny Panel and other Committees
and Boards, with the exception of the Merseytravel Committee (as part of the
transitional arrangements);

(h) Ask Council to agree that the payment of allowances for co-opted members of the
Merseytravel Committee (using the current Merseyside Integrated Transport
Authority scheme) will be dealt with by the Council’s own scheme as part of the
transitional arrangements, and funded by Merseytravel, as set out in section 10.1
of this report;

(i) Note that a review of the Combined Authority’s arrangements will be undertaken
during the first year and reported to the Combined Authority in 2015; and

(j) Ask Council to agree that approval to make any technical amendments to the
Constitution and Operating Agreement for the Combined Authority on behalf of the
Council is delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the
Council.

(k) Recommend to Council for confirmation, approval, endorsement and consideration
(as applicable) paragraphs (a) to (j) above.

Page 6



15.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
15.1 To establish the Combined Authority within the prevailing timescales.

REPORT AUTHOR: Graham Burgess
Chief Executive
telephone:
email: grahamburgess@uwirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix One: Order laid before Parliament on 12 February 2014 to establish the
Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority.

Appendix Two: Draft Constitution for the Combined Authority.

Appendix Three:  Draft Operating Agreement for the Combined Authority.

REFERENCE MATERIAL

Liverpool City Region Review of Strategic Governance 2013

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Cabinet 11 July 2013
Cabinet 8 August 2013
Policy and Performance Coordinating Committee 3 September 2013
Cabinet 19 September 2013
Council 19 September 2013

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Draft Order laid before Parliament under section 94 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and section
117 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, for approval by
resolution of each House of Parliament.

DRAFT STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

2014 No.
LOCAL GOVERNMENT, ENGLAND
TRANSPORT, ENGLAND

The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral
Combined Authority Order 2014

Made - - - - Kofokokok

Coming into force - - Ist April 2014

This Order is made in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 84, 91 and 93 of the Local
Transport Act 2008(a) and sections 103 to 105 and 114 to 116 of the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009(b).

The Secretary of State, having regard to a scheme prepared and published under section 82 of the
Local Transport Act 2008 and section 109 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009, considers that the making of this Order is likely to improve —

(a) the exercise of statutory functions relating to transport in the area to which this Order
relates,

(b) the effectiveness and efficiency of transport in that area,

(c) the exercise of statutory functions relating to economic development and regeneration in
that area, and

(d) economic conditions in that area.

The Secretary of State is satisfied that the area to which this Order relates meets the conditions set
out in section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

The Secretary of State has consulted—

(a) the metropolitan district councils for the area comprised in the Merseyside integrated
transport area,

(b) the councils for the local government areas who are within the area for which the
combined authority is to be established;

(c) the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority,

(a) 2008 c.26.
(b) 2009 c.20.

Page 9



(d) such other persons as the Secretary of State considered appropriate.

The councils whose areas are comprised in the Merseyside integrated transport area have
consented to the making of this Order.

In making this Order, the Secretary of State has had regard to the need to reflect the identities and
interests of local communities, and to secure effective and convenient local government.

A draft of this instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, each House of
Parliament pursuant to section 94 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and section 117 of the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

Accordingly, the Secretary of State makes the following Order:

PART 1

General

Citation and commencement

1. This Order may be cited as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral
Combined Authority Order 2014 and shall come into force on 1st April 2014.

Interpretation

2. In this Order—

“the 2009 Act” means the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act
2009;

“combined area” means the area consisting of the areas of the constituent councils;

“the Combined Authority” means the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and
Wirral Combined Authority constituted by article 3(2);

“constituent councils” means the councils for the local government areas of Halton,
Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, and Wirral;

“the Executive” means the Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive;

“financial year” means the period of 12 months ending with 31st March in any year;
“the ITA” means the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority;

“Halton Council” means the council of the borough of Halton; and

“Local Enterprise Partnership” means the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership.

PART 2
Establishment of a combined authority for Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens,
Sefton and Wirral
Establishment

3.—(1) There is established a combined authority for the combined area.

(2) The combined authority is to be a body corporate and to be known as the Halton, Knowsley,
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority.

Page 10



(3) The functions of the Combined Authority are those functions conferred or imposed upon it
by this Order or by any other enactment (whenever passed or made), or as may be delegated to it
by or under this Order or any other enactment (whenever passed or made).

Constitution

4. Schedule 1 (which makes provision about the constitution of the Combined Authority) has
effect.

Funding

5.—(1) The constituent councils must meet the costs of the Combined Authority reasonably
attributable to the exercise of its functions relating to economic development and regeneration.

(2) The amount payable by each of the constituent councils is to be determined by apportioning
the costs of the Combined Authority referred to in paragraph (1) between the constituent councils
in such proportions as they may agree or, in default of such agreement, in proportion to the total
resident population at the relevant date of the area of each council concerned as estimated by the
Registrar General.

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2) the relevant date in relation to a payment for a financial
year is 30th June in the financial year which commenced two years prior to the current financial
year.

(4) Subject to paragraphs (5) and (6) the costs of the Combined Authority reasonably
attributable to the exercise of its functions relating to transport shall be met by means of two
separate levies issued by the Authority to—

(a) the district councils in the county of Merseyside; and
(b) Halton Council,

under section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988(a), and in accordance with
regulations made thereunder.

(5) In determining the amount of the levies to be issued to Halton Council for a financial year,
no account may be taken of the cost of meeting any liabilities or expenses, including transferred
pension liabilities, incurred by the Combined Authority or to be incurred in consequence of article
6 (abolition of the ITA and transfer of functions etc.).

(6) Without prejudice to the generality of article 12, a levy issued by the ITA under section 74 of
the Local Government Finance Act 1988 to the district councils in the county of Merseyside in
respect of the financial year beginning 1st April 2014 has effect for that year as if it had been so
issued by the Combined Authority.

(7) No levy shall be issued to the Halton Council for that financial year, but that Council must
pay a contribution to the Combined Authority equal to the amount which it has budgeted to spend
on the functions transferred under article 8 for that financial year.

PART 3
Transport

Abolition and transfer of functions etc.

6.—(1) The Merseyside integrated transport area is dissolved and the ITA is abolished.
(2) Subject to paragraph (3), on the abolition of the ITA—

(a) its functions; and

(a) 1988c.41.

Page 11



(b) its property, rights and liabilities
are transferred to the Combined Authority.

(3) On the abolition of the ITA all rights and liabilities (including rights and liabilities in respect
of superannuation) arising under contracts of employment with the ITA are transferred to the
Executive.

Adaptation of enactments — integrated transport authority

7.—(1) This article has effect in consequence of article 6.

(2) In any enactment (whenever passed or made)—
(a) any reference to an integrated transport area; or
(b) any reference which falls to be read as a reference to such an area,

is to be treated as including a reference to the combined area.

(3) In any enactment (whenever passed or made)—
(a) any reference to an integrated transport authority; or
(b) any reference which falls to be read as a reference to such an authority,

is to be treated as including a reference to the Combined Authority.

Transfer of functions — Halton Council
8.— (1) There are transferred to the Combined Authority the functions of Halton Council under
the following enactments—
(a) Parts IV and V of the Transport Act 1985(a); and
(b) Part II of the Transport Act 2000(b).
(2) Halton Council shall—
(a) after consulting the other constituent councils; and
(b) not later that 1st April 2018,

submit to the Secretary of State proposals for the making of a scheme by the Secretary of State for
the transfer to the Combined Authority of specified property, rights and liabilities held, acquired
or incurred by the Council for the purposes any of the functions transferred under paragraph (1).

(3) After considering the proposals and any representations made on them by the other
constituent councils, the Secretary of State may, by way of a scheme made under section 115 of
the 2009 Act, make such provision for the transfer of such property, rights and liabilities (whether
or not specified in the proposals) as he thinks fit.

(4) Nothing in this Order has effect to transfer to the Combined Authority—
(a) any function of Halton Council relating to—
(1) the levying of tolls or the imposition of road user charging; or
(i1) the application of the proceeds of tolls or road user charges; or
(b) any functions, property, rights and liabilities of Halton Council relating to the Mersey
Gateway and Silver Jubilee Bridges, including their financing, delivery, operation and
maintenance, and the highway network associated with them.

Adaptation of enactments

9.—(1) This article has effect in consequence of article 8.

(a) 1985 c.67.
(b) 2000 c.38.

Page 12



(2) In relation to any function transferred under article 8, any reference in any enactment
(whenever passed or made) to a county, or to any class of area which includes a county, is to be
treated as including a reference to the combined area.

(3) In any enactment (whenever passed or made) any reference in relation to any function
transferred under article 8 to a county council, or to any class of body which includes a county
council, is to be treated as including a reference to the Combined Authority.

Passenger Transport Executive

10.—(1) The Executive is to be an executive body of the Combined Authority for the purposes
of Part 5 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and Part 6 of the 2009 Act and shall be known as
Merseytravel.

(2) In the application of section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972(a) (arrangements for the
discharge of functions) to the Combined Authority the Executive is to be treated as if it were an
officer of the Combined Authority.

Other transport functions

11.—(1) There are delegated to the Combined Authority the functions of the constituent
councils under section 2 of the Road Traffic Reduction Act 1997 (duty of principal councils to
make reports).

(2) Sections 237A to 237E of the Local Government Act 1972(b) (fixed penalty notices) shall
apply in relation to the Combined Authority so far as those provisions relate to the Mersey Tunnel
Byelaws 2003(c).

(3) The Combined Authority has power to enter into agreements as if it were a highway
authority under section 8 of the Highways Act 1980(d) and also a traffic authority under the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984(e) and a street authority under section 49 of the New Roads and
Street Works Act 1991.

(4) The costs incurred by the Combined Authority in discharging the functions exercisable by it
by virtue of this article shall, except so far as the constituent councils agree otherwise, be defrayed
by the Combined Authority.

(5) The costs so defrayed shall, for the purposes of section 74(10) of the Local Government
Finance Act 1988, fall to be treated as expenses attributable to the exercise of the Combined
Authority’s functions relating to transport.

(6) The functions delegated by paragraph (1) are not exercisable by the constituent councils
either concurrently or instead of the Combined Authority, except so far as the Combined Authority
sub-delegates any such functions back to a constituent council.

(7) In the application of section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 (arrangements for the
discharge of functions) to the Combined Authority the functions delegated to the Combined
Authority by paragraph (1) are to be treated as if they were functions of the Combined Authority.

Continuity

12.—(1) Nothing in this Part of the Order affects the validity of anything done by or in relation
to the ITA or Halton Council in relation to the functions transferred under this Part before 1st
April 2014.

(a) 1972 ¢.70.

(b) Section 237A was inserted by the Local Government and Public health Involvement Act 2007 (2007 c. 28) section 130.

(¢) The Mersey Tunnel Byelaws were made by the Merseyside Passenger Transport Authority under Section 102 of the County
of Merseyside Act 1980 (1980 c. x) as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Order 1986 (S.I. 1986/297).

(d) 1980 c. 66.

(e) 1984 c. 27; the definition of “traffic authority” is in section 121A which was inserted by the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991 (c. 22) Schedule 8, paragraph 70 and amended by the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (c. 29) section 271(1),
Q).

Page 13



(2) There may be continued by or in relation to the Combined Authority anything (including
legal proceedings) which—

(a) relates to any of the functions, property, rights or liabilities transferred to the Combined
Authority; and

(b) 1is in process of being done by or in relation to the ITA, or Halton Council in relation to
the functions transferred under this Part, immediately before 1st April 2014.

(3) Anything which—

(a) was made or done by or in relation to the ITA or to Halton Council for the purposes of or
otherwise in connection with any of the functions, property, rights or liabilities
transferred; and

(b) is in effect immediately before the transfer takes effect,
has effect as if made or done by or in relation to the Combined Authority.

(4) The Combined Authority shall be substituted for the ITA in any instruments, contracts or
legal proceedings which—

(a) relate to any of the functions, property, rights or liabilities transferred; and
(b) are made or commenced before the transfer takes effect.

(5) A reference in this article to anything made or done by or in relation to the ITA includes a
reference to anything which by virtue of any enactment is to be treated as having been made or
done by or in relation to the ITA.

PART 4

Additional functions

Economic development and regeneration functions

13.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils set out in Schedule 2 are exercisable by the
Combined Authority in relation to its area.

(2) The functions are exercisable concurrently with the constituent councils.

(3) Any requirement in any enactment for a constituent council to exercise such a function may
be fulfilled by the exercise of that function by the Combined Authority.

Incidental provisions

14. The following provisions shall have effect as if the Combined Authority were a local
authority for the purposes of these provisions—

(a) section 142(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 (the power to arrange for publication
of information etc relating to the functions of the authority); and

(b) section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972 (the power to prosecute and defend legal
proceedings).

15.—(1) The Combined Authority shall have the power to exercise any of the functions
described in subsection (1)(a) and (b) of section 88 of the Local Government Act 1985(a)
(research and collection of information) whether or not a scheme is made under that section.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1) of this article, paragraphs (a) and (b) of section 88(1) of
the Local Government Act 1985 shall have effect as if a reference to “that area” were a reference
to the combined area.

(a) 1985c.51.

Page 14



16. Section 13 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989(a) (voting rights of members of
certain committees) shall have effect as if—

(a) in subsection (4) after paragraph (h) there were inserted—

“(i) subject to subsection (4A), a committee appointed by the Halton, Knowsley,
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority;”; and

(b) after subsection (4) there were inserted—

“(4A) A person who is a member of a committee falling within paragraph (i) of
subsection (4) or a sub-committee appointed by such a committee shall for all purposes be
treated as a non-voting member of that committee or sub-committee unless that person is a
member of one of the constituent councils as defined by article 2 of the Halton, Knowsley,
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority Order 2014(b).”.

17. Regulation 64 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013(c) (special
circumstances where revised actuarial valuations and certificates must be obtained) shall have
effect as if after paragraph (8) there were inserted—

“(8A) Paragraph (8B) applies where the exiting employer is the Merseyside Integrated
Transport Authority (“the ITA”) and the liabilities of the fund in respect of benefits due to
the ITA’s current and former employees (or those of any predecessor authority) have been
or are to be transferred to the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral
Combined Authority as a result of the establishment of the combined authority by article
3(1) of the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority
Order 2014(d).

(8B) Where this paragraph applies, no exit payment is due under paragraph (1) and
paragraph (2) does not apply.”.

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government

Name
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State
Date Department for Communities and Local Government

SCHEDULE 1 Article 4

Constitution

Membership

1.—(1) Each constituent council shall appoint one of its elected members as a member of the
Combined Authority.

(2) Each constituent council shall appoint another elected member as a member of the
Combined Authority in the absence of the member appointed under sub-paragraph (1) (“the
substitute member”).

(3) The Local Enterprise Partnership shall nominate one of its members to be a member of the
Combined Authority (“Local Enterprise Partnership Member™).

(4) The Local Enterprise Partnership shall nominate another of its members to act as a member
of the Combined Authority in the absence of the member appointed under sub-paragraph (5) (“the
substitute member”).

(a) 1989 c.42.

(b) S.I. 2014/XXXX.

(¢) S.I. 2013/2356; there are no relevant amendments.
(d) S.I. 2014/XXXX.

Page 15



(5) The Combined Authority shall appoint a member nominated by the Local Enterprise
Partnership as a member of the Combined Authority (“Local Enterprise Partnership Member”).

(6) The Combined Authority shall appoint another member nominated by the Local Enterprise
Partnership to act as a member of the Combined Authority in the absence of the member
appointed under sub-paragraph (5) (“the substitute member”).

(7) For the purposes of this Schedule any reference to a member is to be treated as including a
reference to the Local Enterprise Partnership Member.

(8) A person ceases to be a member or substitute member of the Combined Authority if they
cease to be—

(a) amember of the constituent council that appointed them; or
(b) a member of the Local Enterprise Partnership that nominated them.

(9) A person may resign as a member or substitute member of the Combined Authority by
written notice served on the proper officer of the Council or the Chair or Vice Chair of the Local
Enterprise Partnership (as the case may be) of—

(a) the constituent council that appointed them; or
(b) the Local Enterprise Partnership that nominated them

and the resignation shall take effect on receipt of the notice by the proper officer of the Council or
Chair or Vice Chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (as the case may be).

(10) Where a member or substitute member’s appointment ceases by virtue of sub-paragraph (8)
or (9)—

(a) the constituent council that made the appointment must, as soon as practicable, give
written notice of that fact to the Combined Authority and appoint another of its elected
members in that person’s place;

(b) the Local Enterprise Partnership must, as soon as practicable, give written notice of that
fact to the Combined Authority and nominate another of its members in that person’s
place.

(11) The Combined Authority shall appoint a member nominated under sub-paragraph (10)(b) at
the next meeting of the Combined Authority.

(12) A constituent council may at any time terminate the appointment of a member or substitute
member appointed by it to the Combined Authority and appoint another of its elected members in
that person’s place.

(13) Where a constituent council exercises its power under sub-paragraph (12), it must give
written notice of the new appointment and the termination of the previous appointment to the
Combined Authority and the new appointment shall take effect and the previous appointment
terminate at the end of one week from the date on which the notice is given or such longer period
not exceeding one month as is specified in the notice.

(14) The Local Enterprise Partnership may at any time terminate the appointment of a member
or substitute member nominated by it to the Combined Authority and nominate another of its
members in that person’s place.

(15) Where the Local Enterprise Partnership exercises its power under sub-paragraph (14), it
must give written notice of the new nomination and the termination of the previous appointment to
the Combined Authority.

(16) The Combined Authority shall appoint a member nominated under sub-paragraph (15) and
the new appointment shall take effect and the previous appointment terminate at the end of one
week from the date on which the notice is given or such longer period not exceeding one month as
is specified in the notice.

(17) For the purposes of this paragraph an elected mayor of a constituent council is to be treated
as a member of the constituent council.

Page 16



Chairman and vice-chairman

2.—(1) The Combined Authority must in each year appoint a chairman and a vice-chairman
from among its members and the appointments are to be the first business transacted after the
appointment of members at the first meeting of the Combined Authority and, in subsequent years,
at the annual meeting of the Combined Authority.

(2) A person ceases to be chairman or vice-chairman of the Combined Authority if they cease to
be a member of the Combined Authority.

(3) If a vacancy arises in the office of chairman or vice-chairman, an appointment to fill the
vacancy is to be made at the next ordinary meeting of the Combined Authority, or, if that meeting
is to be held within 14 days of the vacancy arising, at the meeting following that meeting.

Proceedings

3.—(1) Subject to the following sub-paragraphs, any questions that are to be decided by the
Combined Authority are to be decided by a majority of the members and substitute members,
acting in place of members, present and voting on that question at a meeting of the Combined
Authority.

(2) No business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Combined Authority unless at least four
members or substitute members appointed by the constituent councils are present at that meeting.

(3) Each member, or substitute member acting in that member’s place, has one vote and no
member or substitute member has a casting vote.

(4) If a vote is tied on any matter it shall be deemed not to have been carried.

(5) Questions relating to the determination and review of any transitional arrangements on
transport require a unanimous vote in favour by all six constituent council members, or substitute
members acting in place of those members, to be carried.

(6) The amount of any levy to be issued to constituent councils is to be decided by a majority of
the members and substitute members, acting in place of members, appointed by the constituent
councils and present and voting.

(7) Members appointed from the Local Enterprise Partnership will be non-voting members of
the Combined Authority.

(8) The proceedings of the Combined Authority are not invalidated by any vacancy among its
members or substitute members or by any defect in the appointment or qualifications of any
member or substitute member.

Committees
4.—(1) The Combined Authority shall appoint one or more committees as an overview and
scrutiny committee, or as the case may be committees, of the Combined Authority.

(2) The Combined Authority shall appoint members of each of the constituent councils to each
overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the Combined Authority.

(3) An overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the Combined Authority may not include
any member of the Combined Authority.

(4) An overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the Combined Authority shall have the
power to—

(a) invite members to attend before it to answer questions;

(b) invite other persons, including members of the public, to attend meetings of the
committee;

(c) review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Combined Authority;

(d) make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Combined Authority.

Page 17



(5) The power to review or scrutinise a decision made but not implemented under sub-paragraph
(4)(c) includes the power to recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the Combined
Authority.

(6) Where an overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the Combined Authority makes a
report or recommendation under sub-paragraph (4)(d) the committee may—

(a) publish the report or recommendations;
(b) by notice in writing require the Combined Authority to—
(i) consider the report or recommendations;

(i1) respond to the overview and scrutiny committee indicating what (if any) action the
Combined Authority proposes to take;

(iii) if the overview and scrutiny committee has published the report or recommendations
under sub-paragraph (6)(a), publish the response.

(7) A notice served under sub-paragraph (6)(b) must require the Combined Authority to comply
with it within two months beginning with the date on which the Combined Authority received the
reports or recommendations or (if later) the notice.

(8) The Combined Authority shall comply with a notice given under sub-paragraph (6)(b).

(9) Sub-paragraphs (6)(a) and (8) are subject to section 9FG of the Local Government Act 2000
and to any provision made under section 9GA(8)(a) and the Combined Authority shall be treated
as a local authority for those purposes.

Records

S5.—(1) The Combined Authority must make arrangements for the names of members and
substitute members present at any meeting to be recorded.

(2) Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Combined Authority, or any committee or
sub-committee of the Combined Authority, are to be kept in such form as the Combined Authority
may determine.

(3) Any such minutes are to be signed at the same or next suitable meeting of the Combined
Authority, the committee or sub-committee as the case may be, by the person presiding at that
meeting.

(4) Any minute purporting to be signed as mentioned in sub-paragraph (3) shall be received in
evidence without further proof.

(5) Until the contrary is proved, a meeting of the Combined Authority, committee or sub-
committee, a minute of whose proceedings has been signed in accordance with this paragraph is
deemed to have been duly convened and held, and all the members and substitute members
present at the meeting are deemed to have been duly qualified.

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3) the next suitable meeting is the next following
meeting or, where standing orders made by the Combined Authority provide for another meeting
of the authority, committee or sub-committee to be regarded as suitable, either the next following
meeting or that other meeting.

Standing orders

6. The Combined Authority may make standing orders for the regulation of its proceedings and
business and may vary or revoke any such orders.

(a) 2000 c.22. Sections 9FG and 9GA were inserted by the Localism Act 2011 (c. 20), section 21 and Schedule 2

Page 18



Remuneration

7. No remuneration is to be payable by the Combined Authority to its members, other than
allowances for travel and subsistence paid in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the
Combined Authority.

SCHEDULE 2 Article 13(1)

Economic development and regeneration functions

1. Such functions of the constituent authorities as are exercisable for the purpose of economic
development and regeneration in reliance on the general power of competence under section 1 of
the Localism Act 2011(a).

2. The power under section 144 of the Local Government Act 1972(b) (the power to encourage
visitors and provide conference and other facilities).

3. The duties under sections 15ZA, 15ZB, 15ZC, 17A, 18A(1)(b), of the Education Act 1996(c)
and the power under sections 514A and 560A of that Act (duties and powers related to the
provision of education and training for persons over compulsory school age).

4. The duty under section 69 of the 2009 Act (duty to prepare an assessment of economic
conditions).

5. The duty under section 8(1) of the Housing Act 1985(d) (duty of local housing authorities to
consider housing conditions in their district and the needs of the district with respect to the
provision of further housing accommodation).

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This order establishes the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority.

Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (“the 2009
Act”) provides for the establishment of combined authorities for the areas of two or more local
authorities in England. Combined authorities are bodies corporate which may be given power to
exercise functions relating to transport and to economic development and regeneration in their
area.

The Secretary of State may only establish a combined authority for an area where a scheme for
such an authority has been published under section 109 of the 2009 Act. This order has been made
following the publication of such a scheme on 30th September 2013 by the constituent councils
whose areas together make up the combined area of the new authority. The scheme is available at:
www.knowsley.gov.uk/governancereview.

Part 2 of the Order establishes the new authority, to be known as the Halton, Knowsley,
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority on 1st April 2014 and makes
provision for its constitution and funding.

Article 4 of and Schedule 1 to the Order make provision for the constitution of the Halton,
Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority. This is supplemental to

(a) 2011 c.20.

(b) 1972 ¢.70.
(c) 1996 c.56.
(d) 1985c.68.

Page 19



the provision that is made by Part 1A of Schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (see
paragraph (6A) of that Schedule, as amended by the 2009 Act).

Article 5 makes provision for the funding, by the constituent councils, of those costs of the Halton,
Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority that relate to the exercise
of its economic development and regeneration functions.

Part 3 concerns the transport functions of the combined authority. Article 6 dissolves the
Merseyside Passenger Transport Authority, abolishes its area and transfers its functions to the
Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority. Contracts of
employment are transferred to the Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive. Article 7 makes
general adaptations to primary and subordinate legislation, so that references to an integrated
transport authority or area are to be treated as extending to the combined authority and its area..
Article 8 transfers to the combined authority the functions of Halton council under Parts IV and V
of the Transport Act 1985 and provides for the submission of proposals for, and the making of, a
scheme for the transfer of property, rights and liabilities held, acquired or incurred by that council
for the purposes of those functions. Article 9 makes general amendments to primary and secondary
legislation affected by the transfer of functions under article 8. Article 10 makes the Merseyside
Passenger Transport Executive an executive body of the combined authority and changes its name
to Merseytravel. Article 11 provides for other transport functions to be exercisable by the
Combined Authority and Article 12 provides for continuity when functions, property, rights and
liabilities are transferred under Part 3 of this Order.

Part 4 confers additional functions on the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and
Wirral Authority. Article 13 confers functions of the constituent councils relating to economic
development and regeneration. These are set out in Schedule 2 to the Order and are to be exercised
concurrently with the constituent councils. Articles 14 to 16 make some general, incidental
provisions relating to the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority to enable it to carry out its functions more effectively.

A full regulatory impact assessment has not been prepared as this instrument will have no impact
on the costs of business and the voluntary sector.

© Crown copyright 2014

Printed and published in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo,
Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office and Queen’s Printer of Acts of Parliament.

IsBN 978-0-11-110953-3

£5.75
UK2014021011 02/2014 19585

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukdsi/2014/97801 11109533 1780111"109533

Page 20




Draft Order laid before Parliament under section 117 of the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009, for approval by resolution of each House of Parliament.

DRAFT STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

2014 No.
LOCAL GOVERNMENT, ENGLAND
TRANSPORT, ENGLAND

The Combined Authorities (Consequential Amendments) Order
2014

Made - - - - oAk
Coming into force - - Ist April 2014

This Order is made in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 114 to 116 of the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009(a).

A draft of this instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, each House of
Parliament pursuant to section 117 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009.

Accordingly the Secretary of State makes the following Order:

Citation and commencement

1. This Order may be cited as the Combined Authorities (Consequential Amendments) Order
2014 and comes into force on 1st April 2014.
Consequential amendment of the Transport Act 1968

2. The amendments to the Transport Act 1968(b) set out in the Schedule have effect as
amendments consequential upon the making of orders establishing combined authorities under
Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government

Name
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State

(a) 2009 c. 20.

(b) 1968 c. 73. Section 9 was amended by the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 (c. 65) Schedule 18, paragraph 1; by the
Transport Act 1985 (c. 67) sections 57(1), 58(2), Schedule 8; by the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994 (c. 39)
Schedule 13, paragraph 80(2); and in relation to England and Wales only by the Local Transport Act 2008 (c. 26) section
98(4), Schedule 4, paragraph 2 and Schedule 7, Part 4 and by S.I. 2011/908.

Page 21



Date Department for Communities and Local Government

Page 22



SCHEDULE Article 2
Amendments to the Transport Act 1968

1. The Transport Act 1968 is amended as follows.

2.—(1) Section 9 (areas, authorities and executives) is amended as follows.
(2) In subsection (1)(a)—

(a) in sub-paragraph (i), for “Greater Manchester” there is substituted “a metropolitan county
which is or is included in a combined authority area”;

(b) sub-paragraph (ia) is omitted.
(3) After subsection (1)(a) there is inserted—

“(aa) any reference to a “combined authority” is to an authority established under
section 103(1) of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction
Act 2009 for an area which is or includes a metropolitan county;

(ab) any reference to a “combined authority area” is to an area for which a combined
authority is established;”.

(4) In subsection (1)(b), for sub-paragraph (ia) there is substituted—
“(ia)in relation to a combined authority area, the combined authority;”.

(5) In subsections (2), (3) and (5), for “the area of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority”
there is substituted “a combined authority area”.

(6) Subsection (5A) is omitted.

3. In section 9A (general functions), in subsections (3), (5), (6)(a) and (b), (7) and (8), after
“integrated transport area” there is inserted *“, combined authority area”.

4. In section 10 (general powers of Executive), in subsections (1), (3) and (5), after “integrated
transport area” there is inserted *“, a combined authority area”.

5.1In section 10A (further powers of Executive), in subsection (1) after “integrated transport
area” there is inserted “or combined authority area”.

6. In section 12 (borrowing powers of Executive), in subsection (1), after “integrated transport
area” there is inserted *“, a combined authority area”,

7. In section 14 (accounts of Executive), in subsection (1), after “integrated transport area” there
is inserted “, a combined authority area”.

8. In section 15 (further functions of Authority), in subsections (1) and (6), after “integrated
transport area” there is inserted *“, a combined authority area”.

9. In section 16 (annual report etc), in subsection (1), after “integrated transport area” there is
inserted ““, combined authority area”.

10. In section 20 (duty relating to rail services), in subsection (2), after “integrated transport
area” there is inserted “, a combined authority area”.

11. In section 23 (consents), in subsections (1), (2) and (3), after “integrated transport area”
there is inserted “, a combined authority area”.

Page 23



EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This order makes amendments to Part 2 of the Transport Act 1968 which are consequential upon
the making of orders establishing combined authorities under Part 6 of the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

A full regulatory impact assessment has not been prepared as this instrument will have no impact
on the costs of business and the voluntary sector.

© Crown copyright 2014

Printed and published in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo,
Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office and Queen’s Printer of Acts of Parliament.

IsBN 978-0-11-110955-7

£4.00
UK2014021015 02/2014 19585
109

http://www.legislation. gov.uk/id/ukdsi/2014/9780111109557 eI780111

Page 24

55

=-J



CONSTITUTION OF THE
HALTON, KNOWSLEY, LIVERPOOL,
ST. HELENS, SEFTON AND WIRRAL

COMBINED AUTHORITY

Final Draft Version: 14 February 2014

Page 25



Part 1 — Introduction and Articles

Part 2 — Powers and Functions of the Authority

SECTION

A

O O W

mm

Transport Functions of the former ITA transferred

to the Authority pursuant to the Order

Transport Functions of the Constituent Councils

delegated to the Authority pursuant to the Order

Powers and Duties of the Authority in relation to Transport
Functions

Economic Development and Regeneration Functions to be
exercised by the Authority concurrently with the Constituent
Councils pursuant to the Order

Incidental Provisions pursuant to the Order

Functions conferred on a Combined Authority by Local
Government Legislation

PART 3 — Responsibility for Functions

SECTION

A
B

Functions reserved to the Authority
. Transport Functions of the Authority referred to
the Merseytravel Committee
Il. Transport Functions of the Authority delegated to
the Merseytravel Committee
lll. Transport Functions of the Authority delegated to Halton
Borough Council
Functions of the Authority delegated to Merseytravel
Functions of the Authority delegated to Officers

. General Principles

. General Delegations to Lead Officers
Delegations to the Head of Paid Service
Delegations to the Treasurer

Delegations to the Monitoring Officer
Delegations to the Head of the Secretariat

Page 26



PART 4 - Standards and Audit Committees

SECTION

A The Authority’s Standards Committee
B The Authority’s Audit Committee

PART 5 — Authority Meeting Procedure Rules and Scrutiny

SECTION

A Meeting Procedure Rules
B Scrutiny Arrangements for the Authority; Merseytravel
and Merseytravel Committee

PART 6 - Financial Procedures

SECTION

A Financial Procedure Rules
B Contract Procedure Rules
C Land Procedure Rules

PART 7 — Code of Conduct for Members

Page 27



Page 28



1.1.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.9

Part 1

Introduction and Articles

In this Constitution:

“the Authority” means the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens, Sefton
and Wirral Combined Authority;

‘the Combined Area” means the area consisting of the areas of the
Constituent Councils;

‘the Constituent Councils” mean the district councils for the local
government areas of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton,
St. Helens and Wirral;

“the Differential Levy” means the transport levy set by the Authority
pursuant to the Transport Levying Bodies Regulations 1992 in relation
to Halton Borough Council recognising the distinction between its
position and that of the other Constituent Councils;

“the ITA” means the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority;

“Lead Officers” means the Statutory Officers and the Chief Executives of
the Constituent Councils;

“the LEP” means the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise
Partnership;

“the Levy” means the transport levy set by the Authority pursuant to the
Transport Levying Bodies Regulations 1992;

“Merseytravel” means the Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive
for the Combined Area, which is the executive body of the Authority in
relation to its transport functions;

1.1.10 “the Merseytravel Committee” means the committee of the

Authority named as such with members co-opted from the Constituent
Councils;

1.1.11 “Mersey Tunnels” means “the tunnels” and “the approaches” as defined

in the County of Merseyside Act 1980;

1.1.12 “the Order” means The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens,

Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority Order 2014;

1.1.13 “Statutory Officers” means the Monitoring Officer, the Treasurer, the

Head of the Secretariat and the Head of Paid Service;

Page 29



1.2

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

The Constitution sets out how the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool,
Sefton, St. Helens and Wirral Combined Authority (hereafter
referred to as ‘the Authority’) operates, how decisions are made and the
procedures that are followed to ensure that it operates efficiently,
effectively and is both transparent and accountable.

Powers of the Authority

The Authority was established pursuant to the Order on 1St April 2014
as the combined authority for the Combined Area, with the aim of
improving:-

(@) the exercise of statutory functions relating to transport in the
Combined Area;

(b)  the effectiveness and efficiency of transport in the Combined
Area;

(c) the exercise of statutory functions relating to economic
development and regeneration in the Combined Area; and

(d)  economic conditions in the Combined Area.

The Authority is responsible for a range of transport, economic
development and regeneration functions across the Combined Area.
The functions of the Authority conferred or imposed upon it by the
Order and the functions of the Authority delegated to it by the Order are
set out at Part 2 of this Constitution.

The Authority will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance
with the law and this Constitution.

The Authority will agree policies and delegate responsibilities to conduct
its business.

Members of the Authority

In accordance with the Order, the Constituent Councils shall each
appoint one of its elected members or its Elected Mayor to be a
Member of the Authority.

In addition, each of the Constituent Councils shall appoint another
of its members to act as a Member of the Authority in the absence of
the member appointed under paragraph 3.1.

The LEP shall nominate one of its members to be a member of the
Authority and the Authority shall appoint that person as a member of the
Authority.

The LEP shall nominate another of its members to act as a member of
the Authority in the absence of the member referred to in 3.3 and the
Authority shall appoint that person to act in the absence of the member
referred to in 3.3.

Page 30



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

6.1

6.2

6.3

Members will:

(@) collectively be the ultimate policy makers of the Authority in respect
of those areas which are the responsibility of the Authority;

(b)  bring views of their communities into the Authority decision-
making process; and

(c)  maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

Members will at all times observe the Code of Conduct for Members
approved by the Authority.

Members will be entitled to receive travel and subsistence allowances
in accordance with the Members Allowances Scheme approved by the
Authority.

Subject to the provisions of Part 5A, paragraph 14.6 of this Constitution,
Members appointed following nomination by the LEP will be voting
members of the Authority, and Section 85(4) of the Local Transport Act
2008 shall not apply for these purposes.

Chairing the Authority

The Authority must appoint a Chair and a Vice Chair from among its
Members.

The procedure for the appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair(s) is set
out in the Meeting Procedure Rules in Part 5A of this Constitution.

Meetings and Procedure

The meetings of the Authority will be conducted in accordance with the
Meeting Procedure Rules set out in Part 5A of this Constitution.

A calendar of meetings for the municipal year will be agreed at the
Annual Meeting.

Responsibility for Functions

Only the Authority will exercise the functions set out in Part 3A of
this Constitution.

The Authority has the power to delegate the discharge of the
Authority’s functions which are not reserved to the Authority to
Committees, Sub-Committees, Officers, Joint Committees or other
local authorities, pursuant to Section 101 of the Local Government Act
1972.

The Authority has delegated responsibility for the discharge of
some of the Authority’s functions which are not reserved to the
Authority to Merseytravel, Committees and Officers in accordance with
Part 3 of this Constitution. Page 31



7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Merseytravel

Pursuant to the Order, Merseytravel is to be an executive body of the
Authority for the purposes of Part 5 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and
Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 (LDEDCA 2009).

In the application of the Local Government Act 1972 (arrangements for
the discharge of functions) to the Authority, Merseytravel is to be
treated as if it were an officer of the Authority.

Where arrangements are in force for the discharge of functions of a
Constituent Council by the Authority by virtue of —

(@)  section 101(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972; or

(b)  section 9EA of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local
Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions)
(England) Regulations 2012,

Merseytravel is to be treated as if it were an officer of the Authority for
the purposes of Section 101 of the Local Government Act
1972 and for the purposes of those Regulations.

Merseytravel has power to discharge any function which is the subject
of arrangements entered into with it by virtue of paragraphs 7.2 and
7.3 above.

Committees of the Authority

The Authority will establish a Merseytravel Committee and refer or
delegate such transport functions of the Authority to the Merseytravel
Committee, as set out in Part 3B of this Constitution.

The Authority shall determine how many members from each
Constituent Council it will co-opt onto the Merseytravel Committee and
will determine the terms of reference of such Committee.

The Authority having determined the number of members to be co-
opted to the Merseytravel Committee, the Constituent Councils shall be
requested to identify their elected member nominees and the Authority
shall consider the co-option of those nominated. The Constituent
Councils may change their nominations at any time and submit the
names of replacement nominees for consideration, but shall not
nominate members of the Authority.

If any co-opted member resigns from the Merseytravel Committee, the
relevant Constituent Council shall nominate a replacement as soon as
practicable.

Those members of the Merseytravel Committee who are elected
members shall have votinﬁ’lﬁi@e ®Pthose matters referred or



8.6

9.1

9.2

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

11.

delegated to it.
The Authority may establish such other Committees, including a

Standards Committee, an Audit Committee and a Scrutiny Panel, on
such terms as it thinks fit.

Joint Arrangements
The Authority has power pursuant to Section 101(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972 to make arrangements with other local

authorities to discharge their functions jointly.

Such arrangements may involve the discharge of those functions by a
joint committee of such authorities or by an officer of one of them.

Officers
The Authority shall appoint the Lead Officers, whose

responsibilities and delegations are as set out in legislation and as
agreed by the Authority.

The Authority may delegate such powers to the Lead Officers as the
Authority deems appropriate.

Unless otherwise provided, for the purposes of any enactment, the
Proper Officer of the Authority is the Head of Paid Service.

Decision-Making
Decisions of the Authority, its Committees, Sub-Committees and its
Lead Officers will be taken in accordance with the responsibilities set

out in Part 3 and in accordance with the following principles:

(@)  Proportionality (meaning the action must be proportionate to the
results to be achieved);

(b)  Due consultation (including the taking of relevant professional
advice);

(c) Respect for human rights;
(d)  Presumption in favour of openness;

(e)  Clarity of aims and desired outcomes; and

(f) Due consideration will be given to alternative options.

Page 33



12

121

12.2

12.3

12.4

13.

13.1

13.2

Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
Financial management

The management of the Authority’s financial affairs will be conducted
in accordance with the Financial Procedures set out in Part 6 of this
Constitution.

Legal proceedings

The Monitoring Officer is authorised to institute, defend or participate in
any legal proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to
give effect to decisions of the Authority or in any case where the
Monitoring Officer considers that such action is necessary to protect
the Authority’s interests.

Authentication of documents

(@)  Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or
proceedings on behalf of the Authority, it will be signed by the
Monitoring Officer or some other person duly authorised by the
Authority or the Monitoring Officer, unless any enactment
otherwise authorises or requires.

(b)  Contracts will be entered into in accordance with the Authority’s
Contract Procedure Rules set out in Part 6 of the Constitution,
unless the Authority has delegated the function to a Constituent
Council or Merseytravel, in which case the Contract Procedure
Rules of such body shall be adhered to.

(c) Land transactions will be entered into in accordance with the
Authority’s Land Procedure Rules set out in Part 6 of the
Constitution, unless the Authority has delegated the function to a
Constituent Council or Merseytravel, in which case the Land
Procedure Rules of such body shall be adhered to.

Common Seal of the Authority

The Common Seal of the Authority will be kept in a safe place in the
custody of the Monitoring Officer. A decision of the Authority, or any
part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document
necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be
affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Monitoring
Officer should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal will be
attested by the Monitoring Officer or some other person authorised by
the Monitoring Officer.

Review and Revision of the Constitution

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the
Constitution.

Changes to the Constitutpag@l 8dly be approved by the Authority



after consideration of the proposal by the Monitoring Officer and in
accordance with the Meeting Procedure Rules set out in Part 5A of
this Constitution and where those members present and voting approve
the changes unanimously.

Page 35



A.

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

Part 2

Powers and Functions conferred on the Authority pursuant to the

Order

Transport Functions of the ITA transferred to the Authority

Pursuant to the Order the following functions of the ITA are transferred
to the Authority:-

(@) the discharge of all the functions, duties and responsibilities of
the ITA;

(b)  without prejudice to the generality of sub-paragraph 1.1(a), the
discharge of all the functions of the ITA that are provided for
within the Transport Acts 1968, 1983, 1985 and 2000, the
Local Government Act 1972, the Transport and Works Act 1992
and the Local Transport Act 2008; and

(c) the appointment of members to Merseytravel in
accordance with article 16 of the Merseyside Passenger
Transport Area (Designation) Order 1969.

Transport Functions of the Constituent Councils delegated to the
Authority

Pursuant to the Order, the functions of the Constituent Councils under
Section 2 of the Road Traffic Reduction Act 1997 (duty of principal
councils to make reports) are delegated to the Authority.

Pursuant to the Order, the functions of Halton Council under the
following enactments are transferred to the Authority:

(@) Parts IV and V of the Transport Act 1985; and

(b) Part Il of the Transport Act 2000

Powers and Duties of the Authority in relation to Transport
Functions

Pursuant to the Order, the following are functions of the Authority:

(@) the power to issue fixed penalty notices in respect of offences in

breach of the Mersey Tunnels Byelaws 2003 or any revision
thereof pursuant to Section 237A of the Local Government Act

1972;
Page 36



1.2

1.3

1.1

(b) the powers and duties of a Local Transport Authority pursuant to
the Local Transport Act 2008; and

(c) the power to enter into individual agreements with local highway
authorities pursuant to Section 8 of the Highways Act 1980 and
for such purposes to be designated

(i) as a Local Highway Authority pursuant to the said Section
8;

(i) as a Traffic Authority pursuant to Section 121A of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984; and

(i)  as a Street Authority pursuant to Section 49 of the New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991.

In relation to the powers set out in 1.1(c) , these powers will be subject
to written agreements entered into by the Authority and the Constituent
Council(s) in relation to specific highways or parts of highways so that
the rights and liabilities of the relevant Highway Authority, Traffic
Authority or Street Authority are clearly set out.

In the event that the power in 1.1(c) is to be exercised, the Authority will,
prior to such exercise, approve a Protocol regarding its use.

Economic Development and Regeneration Functions to be
exercised by the Authority concurrently with the Constituent
Councils

Pursuant to the Order, the following economic development and
regeneration functions of the Constituent Councils are to be exercised
by the Authority concurrently with the Constituent Councils:-

(@) the power under Section 144 of the Local Government Act 1972
(the power to encourage visitors and provide conference and
other facilities);

(b)  the duty under Section 8(1) of the Housing Act 1985 (duty of
local housing authorities to consider housing conditions in their
district and the needs of the district with respect to the provision
of further housing accommodation);

(c)  the duties under Sections 15ZA, 15ZB, 15ZC, 17A, 18A(1)(b), of
the Education Act 1996 and the power under Sections 514A and
560A of that Act (duties and powers related to the provision of
education and training for persons over compulsory school age);

(d)  the duty under Section 69 of the 2009 Act (duty to prepare
an assessment of economic conditions); and

(e)  such functions of the Constituent Councils as are exercisable for
the purposes of econpﬁg@egﬂbpment and regeneration in



1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.1

1.2

1.1

reliance on the general power of competence under section 1 of
the Localism Act 2011.

Any requirement in any enactment for a Constituent Council to exercise
any of the functions set out in paragraph 1.1 above may be fulfilled by
the exercise of that function by the Authority.

The Authority and the Constituent Councils will draw up and agree
detailed Protocols in relation to the discharge of the economic
development and regeneration functions set out at paragraph 1.1
above.

The Authority and the Constituent Councils will keep the Protocols
referred to at paragraph 1.3 above under regular review and may
revise them from time to time, such revisions to be agreed by the Chief
Executives of the Constituent Councils and the Head of Paid Service of
the Authority.

Protocols drawn up, agreed, or revised under paragraphs 1.3 and 1.4
above will not in themselves constitute arrangements for the discharge
of functions made in accordance with Section 101 of the Local
Government Act 1972 and the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the
Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012.

By virtue of Section 91(5) of the LDEDCA 2009, the Authority
must exercise the functions in paragraph 1.1 above with a view to
promoting the economic development and regeneration of the area.

Incidental Provisions

Pursuant to the Order, the following provisions have effect as if the
Authority were a local authority for the purposes of these provisions:-

(a) Section 142(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 (the power to
arrange for publication of information etc. relating to the functions
of the authority); and

(b)  Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972 (the power to
instigate and defend legal proceedings).

The Authority shall have the power to exercise any of the functions
described in subsection 1(a) and (b) of section 88 of the Local
Government Act 1985 (research and collection of information) whether
or not a scheme is made under that section.

Functions conferred on the Authority by Local Government
Legislation

The Authority shall have such other powers and duties as are
conferred on a combined zpléhﬁrétyég any enactment.



1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

Without prejudice to the generality of the above, such powers and
duties include:

(a) the duty to appoint a Head of Paid Service, a Monitoring Officer
and an Officer with responsibility for the administration of the
Authority’s financial affairs (the Treasurer);

(b) the power to borrow money for a purpose relevant to its transport
functions only;

(c) the power to appoint staff and to enter into agreements with other
local authorities for the secondment of staff;

(d) the power to acquire land by agreement or compulsorily for the
purpose of any of its functions and to dispose of such land;

(e) the power to pay subscriptions to the funds of local authority
associations;

(f) the duty (without prejudice to any other obligation) to exercise
its functions with due regard to the need to prevent crime and
disorder, the misuse of drugs and alcohol or re-offending in its
area;

(g) the power under Section 99 of the Local Transport Act 2008 to
promote the economic, social and environmental well-being of its
area; and

(h) the power under Section 113A of the LDEDCA 2009 to do
anything it considers appropriate for the purpose of carrying out
any of its functions.

The Authority is a local authority for the purpose of Section 101 of
the Local Government Act 1972 (arrangements for the discharge of
functions by local authorities).

The Authority is a best value authority for the purpose of Section 1 of
the Local Government Act 1999.

The Authority is a public body for the purpose of the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations
2004.

The Authority is alocal authority for the purpose of the power of a
Minister of the Crown to pay grants.

Page 39



A.

1.

3.

Part 3
Responsibility for Functions

THE AUTHORITY

Functions Reserved to the Authority

In respect of the Constitution

(@) adopting and amending the Authority Constitution;

(b)  the acceptance of arrangements to delegate the functions of any
person to the Authority;

(c) to appoint the Statutory Officers of the Authority;

(d)  to determine the requirement for composition of and terms of
reference of any Joint Committees, Committees and Sub-
Committees;

e) determine the voting rights in respect of decisions of the Authority;

(f) to appoint the Chair and Vice Chair;

(g) determine the co-option and the terms of such co-option of any
person who is not a constituent member of the Authority;

(h)  agree the submission of an application to the Government to
expand/constrict the area of the Authority and its duties and
responsibilities;

(i) appointing representative to outside bodies;

() holding the Committees of the Authority to account;

(k) receiving reports from Statutory Officers; and

(h all other matters which must, by law, be reserved to the Authority.

In respect of strategy, policy and agreements

(@) the discharge of all statutory duties and responsibilities as
provided for by relevant legislation;

(b)  the adoption, approval, and any modification of a plan or strategy
as provided for by relevant legislation;

(c) determine general policies for the Liverpool City Region in
respect of transport;

(d)  the power to enter into individual agreements with Local Highway
Authorities pursuant to Section 8 of the Highways Act 1980 and
for such purposes to be designated:-

(i) as a Local Highway Authority pursuant to the said Section
8;
(i) as a Traffic Authority pursuant to Section 121A of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984; and
(i)  as a Street Authority pursuant to Section 49 of the New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991; and
(e)  produce and deliver a Strategic Plan for the Authority.

In respect of finance

Page 40



approval of the budget of the Authority;

setting of an appropriate transport levy and differential levy;
approval of borrowing limits of the Authority in respect of
transport functions;

approval of the treasury management and investment strategies
of the Authority;

subject to regulation 4.4 of the Financial Regulations, approving
the transport capital programme of the Authority and Merseytravel
and approving new transport schemes to be funded by the
Merseyside City Region Transport Fund;

approve the setting of the Mersey Tunnel tolls under the County
of Merseyside Act 1980 and Mersey Tunnels Act 2004;
identifying a prioritised list of transport investments for
Liverpool City Region;

making decisions on individual scheme approvals, investment
decision-making and release of funding, including scrutiny of
individual scheme business cases;

responsibility for ensuring value for money is achieved;
monitoring the progress of scheme delivery and spend, in
concert with other appropriate LCR bodies;

actively managing the devolved budget and programme to
respond to changed circumstances in collaboration with the
Authority as the Accountable Body and Merseytravel; and
determine whether to act as an accountable body in respect of
finance and/or grant funding.

4. Inrespect of Merseytravel

(@)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

(f)

(9)

make grants to Merseytravel, including grants for operation and
maintenance of Mersey Tunnels;

grant approval to Merseytravel to promote or oppose any Bill in
Parliament;

grant approval to Merseytravel to make a written request to the
Minister to purchase compulsorily any land;

to exercise the power, to cause a review to be made of the
organisation of Merseytravel;

to give to Merseytravel such directions as appear from any such
review to be requisite to ensure that Merseytravel’s undertaking is
organised in an efficient manner;

make appointments of members of the Merseyside Passenger
Transport Executive in accordance with the Merseyside
Passenger Transport Area (Designation) Order 1969; and
provide directions to Merseytravel in regard to functions being
undertaken for the Authority.

5. Inrespect of economic development and regeneration

(@)

all functions set out in the Order to be exercised concurrently with
the Constituent Councils and in accordance with agreed
protocols.

Page 41



Bl

The Merseytravel Committee

Transport Functions of the Authority referred to the Merseytravel
Commiittee

The following transport functions of the Authority are not delegated but
are referred by the Authority to the Merseytravel Committee to make
recommendations to the Authority

In respect of strategy, policy and agreements

To make recommendations, having consulted stakeholders where
appropriate, in respect of:

(@) the discharge of all statutory duties and responsibilities as
provided for by relevant legislation;

(b)  the adoption, approval and any modification of a plan or strategy
as provided for by relevant legislation; and

(c) the determination of general policies for the Liverpool City Region
in respect of transport.

In respect of finance
To make recommendations in respect of:

(@)  the budget of the Authority for transport;

(b)  the Levy and the Differential Levy pursuant to the Transport
Levying Bodies Regulations 1992;

(c)  the capital programme of the Authority and Merseytravel; and

(d)  the setting of the Mersey Tunnel tolls.

In respect of Merseytravel
To make recommendations in respect of:

(@) financial grants to Merseytravel (including grant for the operation
and maintenance of Mersey Tunnels);

(b)  the power to allow Merseytravel to promote or oppose any Bill in
Parliament;

(c) authorising Merseytravel to purchase compulsorily any land;

(d)  the need for a review to be made of the organisation of
Merseytravel,

(e)  making appointments of members of the Merseyside Passenger
Transport Executive in accordance with the Merseyside Passenger
Transport Area (Designation) Order 1969;

(f) provide directions to Merseytravel in regard to functions being
undertaken for the Authority; and

(@)  new transport schemes to be funded by the LCR Transport Fund.

Page 42



B Il

Transport Functions of the Authority delegated to the Merseytravel
Committee

The following transport functions of the Authority are delegated by the
Authority to the Merseytravel Committee, subject to the Merseytravel
Committee exercising these functions in accordance with any transport
policies of the Authority, the Local Transport Plan and the Authority’s
agreed transport budget and borrowing limits (and without prejudice to
the Authority’s right to discharge such functions itself):

In respect of strategy, policy and agreements

(@)  formulating general policies with respect to the availability and
convenience of transport Services;

(b)  considering and approving the creation and development of:-
(i) Quality Partnership Schemes;

i)  Quality Contracts Schemes;

iii)  Ticketing Schemes;

iv)  Concessionary Travel Schemes; and

V) Bus service information and publicity

(c) monitoring performance against the Local Transport Plan and
other Authority transport policies, plans and strategies; and

(d)  formulating, developing and monitoring procedures for
stakeholder consultation on the Authority’s transport policies,
including taking responsibility for the active promotion of Liverpool
City Region’s transport interests.

.~~~ A~

In respect of finance

(@)  monitoring the Authority’s transport budget and capital schemes;
and

(b) approving the level of financial support of local rail services over
and above that in the baseline franchise specification agreed
between Liverpool City Region and the Department for Transport.

In respect of Merseytravel

(@)  monitoring and overseeing the activities and performance of
Merseytravel,

(b)  ensuring that Merseytravel secures the provision of appropriate
transport and associated services;

(c) ensuring that Merseytravel implements those actions delegated to
it for promoting the economic, social and environmental well-being
of the Liverpool City Region;

(d)  determining variations in charges for transport services or facilities
provided by Merseytravel;

(e)  determining issues arising from the rail franchising process and/or
the MEL Rail Concession that are not the legal responsibility of
Merseytravel,

(f) considering issues arising from the implementation by
Merseytravel of transpprpggBen@s on behalf of the Authority;



B III.

(9) determine the operation, performance, contract management and
development of the transport network and monitoring the operation
and performance of bus and local rail services and influencing
such;

(h)  to give to Merseytravel such directions as appear from any such
review to be requisite to ensure that Merseytravel’s undertaking is
organised in an efficient manner;

(i) approval of any transactions of Merseytravel which require
approval under Section 10(1) of the Transport Act 1968; and

() exercise any delegation from the Authority as required.

Transport Functions of the Authority delegated to Halton Borough

Council (““Halton’’)

The Authority may delegate any of its transport functions to Halton insofar
as this is necessary to discharge the functions of the Authority within the
area of Halton.

Any such delegation will be by way of separate agreement between the
Authority and Halton and shall make appropriate provision for the
delegation of such resources required to discharge those functions.

Page 44



Merseytravel

Functions of the Authority delegated to Merseytravel

(@)

to provide advice to the Authority and Merseytravel Committee to
enable development of policies for the promotion and
encouragement of safe, integrated, efficient and economic
transport to, from and within the Liverpool City Region;
toprepare the Local Transport Plan (LTP) and advise the
Authority and Merseytravel Committee upon proposals for the
implementation of the LTP;

where the Authority has provided financial assistance to other
persons or bodies (including the Constituent Councils), to
implement the Authority’s transport policies or the LTP and to
monitor and secure compliance with any terms and conditions of
such financial assistance;

to secure the implementation of the Authority’s transport policies
and the LTP;

to implement decisions taken by the Authority and Merseytravel
Committee in a transport context to promote and improve the
economic, social and environmental well-being of the Liverpool
City Region;

to implement any legal agreements entered into by the Authority
relating to transport, as required by the Authority;

gathering data from relevant stakeholders in relation to transport
matters as required by the Authority;

to maintain any databases/models for the Liverpool City Region
databases as required by the Authority;

to institute, conduct, prosecute or defend any legal proceedings
relating to its transport functions on behalf of the Authority;

to do anything incidental to or calculated to facilitate the discharge
of those responsibilities;

to appoint officers to act as law enforcement officers in respect of
the Mersey Tunnels as provided for by the County of Merseyside
Act 1980;

to enforce the County of Merseyside Act 1980 and the Mersey
Tunnels Bylaws 2003;

to provide and operate the concessionary travel scheme as
determined by the Authority;

to provide travel information as determined by the Authority;

to maintain proper records as required by the Authority, and
pursuant to legislation, in connection with any transport functions
delegated to Merseytravel,

to recover and account for tolls revenue on behalf of the Authority;
to operate and maintain the Mersey Tunnels as required by the
Authority;

to issue fixed penalty notices in respect of offences under the
Mersey Tunnel Byelaws 2003;

approving its transport capital programme and releases for capital
transport within the agreed budget; and

to exercise any delegaf_&par.w gaé Qf%wded by the Authority.



D. Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Lead Officers

General Principles

1. The Authority may choose to delegate any of its functions to officers of
the Authority.
2. Powers delegated to Lead Officers may be exercised by other officers if

the relevant Lead Officer has further delegated that power, but this must
be properly recorded and capable of being evidenced.

3. The exercise of delegated powers by officers shall be in accordance with
the principles of decision-making which the Authority follows and in
accordance with the requirements of the Constitution.

4 Lead Officers are not obliged to exercise delegated powers if they believe
circumstances are such that the powers should more appropriately be
exercised by the Authority or one of its Committees.

5. Where delegated powers are exercised, Lead Officers should ensure that
the decisions taken are appropriately recorded.

General Delegations to Lead Officers

1. The day-to-day routine, management, supervision and control of services
provided on behalf of the Authority relating only to the functions for which
they are responsible.

2. Within the scope of their delegations, the exercise of powers in relation to
Low Value Procurements as set out in the Contract Procedure Rules,
subject to compliance with any guidance issued by the Treasurer.

3. Within the scope of their delegations, the acceptance of tenders in
accordance with the provisions of the Contract Procedure Rules.

4. Within the scope of their delegations, the power to set up Boards on an
informal basis for the purpose of promoting economic development and
regeneration in the Liverpool City Region. The Lead Officer in respect of
any Board will determine its membership. In particular, the Lead Officer
will have the power to co-ordinate the work of the relevant Board with a
view to furthering the aims and ambitions of the Authority. Any Board
established under this power will not itself have decision-making powers
and the Lead Officer will be responsible for ensuring that the work of the
Board is, in appropriate circumstances, referred to the Authority for
consideration and approval.

Delegated Powers of the Head of Paid Service

1. The functions of the Head of Paid Service as set out in the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989.

Page 46



The discharge of any function not reserved to the Authority or delegated
to any Committee or officer.

The discharge of any function delegated to another officer where that
officer is absent or otherwise unable to act.

The taking of any action which is required as a matter of urgency or
which cannot reasonably await consideration at the next scheduled
meeting of the Authority where such action is necessary in the view of the
Head of Paid Service to protect the interests of the Authority and where
practicable the Head of Paid Service has consulted with the Chair of the
Authority.

To make such arrangements as are necessary for the organisation of
meetings of the Merseytravel Committee and its Sub-Committees,
including determining requests to record or film such meetings.

To exercise the responsibilities assigned to the Head of Paid Service
which are set out in the Constitution.

Delegations to the Treasurer

1.

To effect the proper administration of the Authority’s financial affairs,
particularly in relation to financial advice, procedures, records and
accounting systems, internal audit and financial control generally.

The taking of all action required on borrowing, investment and financing,
subject to the submission to the Authority of an annual report of the
Treasurer on treasury management activities and at 6-monthly intervals
in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management
& Prudential Codes.

To effect all insurance cover required in connection with the business of
the Authority and to settle claims under such insurances, where this is
appropriate, for the benefit of the Authority.

To accept grant offers on behalf of the Authority, subject to all the terms
and conditions set out by the grant awarding body.

The submission of all claims for grant to the UK Government or the
European Community (EC) or any other third party.

To make all necessary banking arrangements on behalf of the Authority
to sign all cheques drawn on behalf of the Authority or make
arrangements for cheques to be signed by other officers or to arrange for
such cheques to bear the facsimile signature of the Treasurer.

To monitor capital spending and submit a report to the Authority at not

more than quarterly intervals. This report will separately identify the
capital expenditure relating to schemes promoted by Merseytravel.

Page 47



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

In relation to revenue expenditure under the control of Lead Officers, to
consider reports of officers on any likely overspending, and to approve
transfers between expenditure heads up to a maximum of £25,000.

The approval of contracts and agreements proposed to be entered into
by the Authority provided that, subject to any other requirement of this
Constitution, the Treasurer may give a general consent to Lead Officers
to enter into contracts or agreements, the value of which does not exceed
£250,000.

The collection of all money due to the Authority and the writing-off of bad
debts in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules.

To supervise procedures for the invitation, receipt and acceptance of
tenders.

To administer the Members’ Allowance Scheme.

To discharge the functions of the ‘responsible financial officer’ under the
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, including the
requirement under Regulation 8(2) to sign and date the statement of
accounts, and certify that it presents a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Authority at the end of the year to which it relates and of
the Authority’s income and expenditure for that year.

To discharge the functions of the Authority under the Accounts and Audit
(England) Regulations 2011 (with the exception of regulations 4(3), 6(4)
and 8(3)).

To be the officer nominated, or to nominate in writing another officer, as
the person to receive disclosures of suspicious transactions for the
purposes of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and any regulations made
thereunder.

To determine an amount (not exceeding £5,000) being the maximum sum
which the Authority will receive in cash without the express written
consent of the Treasurer.

To exercise the responsibilities assigned to the Treasurer which are set
out in the Constitution.

Delegations to the Monitoring Officer

1.

The functions of the Monitoring Officer set out in the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989.

To receive complaints that any member has failed to comply with the
Code of Conduct for Members.

To determine whether to reject, informally resolve or investigate any
complaint received, referred to in 2 above, and to take such action as is
necessary to implement that determination.

Page 48



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

To prepare and maintain the Authority’s Register of Members’ Interests
and have it available for inspection as required by the Localism Act 2011.

To determine requests from Members for dispensations pursuant to the
provisions of the Localism Act 2011, subject to the right of appeal by a
member to the Standards Committee in the case of a refusal.

To institute, conduct, prosecute and defend or settle any legal
proceedings on behalf of the Authority as may be necessary to protect
and promote the interests of the Authority, subject to consultation with the
Chair, in any case where the matter is of significance to the Authority’s
reputation.

To settle any threatened legal proceedings where it is in the Authority’s
interests to do so.

To instruct Counsel and professional advisers as appropriate.
To provide undertakings on behalf of the Authority.

To supervise the preparation and completion of legal documents and
processes necessary to give effect to the decisions of the Authority.

To determine whether exemptions should be applied to requests made
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental
Information Regulations 2004.

To accept service on behalf of the Authority.

To sign certificates under the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997.

To exercise the responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer which are set out
in the Constitution.

Delegations to the Head of the Secretariat

1.

The provision of a response to any Government consultation, subject to
consultation with the Chair and Head of Paid Service of the Authority.

The co-ordination of public relations for the Authority, including the
approval of press releases on behalf of the Authority.

To make such arrangements as are necessary for the organisation of
meetings of the Authority, its Scrutiny Panel, its Standards Committee
and its Audit Committee, including determining requests to record or film
such meetings.

To exercise the responsibilities assigned to the Head of the Secretariat,
which are set out in the Constitution.

Page 49



4.1

4.2

4.3

PART 4

Standards Committee

Standards Committee

The Authority will establish a Standards Committee, which shall be
convened from time to time at the request of the Monitoring Officer.

Composition

(@)

()

Membership

The Standards Committee will be composed of a pool of six
members or Substitute Members of the Authority, of whom three
will form a Committee.

Chairing the Committee

The Authority will appoint the Chair of the Committee. In the
absence of the appointed Chair, the Committee will be chaired
as determined by the Committee.

Quorum

The quorum for the Standards Committee shall be three.

Role and Function

The Authority has delegated to the Standards Committee the following
powers to deal with matters of conduct and ethical standards, and the
Authority’s Standards Committee has the following role and functions:

(@)

(b)

to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Authority
Members;

to assist Authority Members to observe the Authority’s Code of
Conduct for Members;

to advise the Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement
of the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and the
Authority’s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that
Authority Members have failed to comply with the Authority’s
Code of Conduct for Members (“the Authority’s Arrangements”);

to monitor the operﬁtigagfgﬁ Authority’s Code of Conduct for



4.4

4.5

()

(h)

Members and the Authority‘s Arrangements;

to advise, train or arrange to train Authority Members to observe
the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members;

to determine, or to delegate to a Standards Sub-Committee, to
determine, in accordance with the Authority’s Arrangements,
whether an Authority Member has failed to comply with the
Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and, if so, to
determine, or to delegate to a Standards Sub-Committee, to
determine, what action (if any) to take in respect of the Authority
Member, such actions to include:—

. publication of the findings of the Authority’s Standards
Committee in respect of the Subject Member’'s conduct;

. reporting the findings of the Authority’s Standards
Committee to the Authority for information;

. recommendation to the Authority that the Subject Member
should be censured;

. instructing the Authority’s Monitoring Officer to arrange
training for the Subject Member; or

. recommendation to the Authority that the Subject Member

should be removed from all appointments to which the
Subject Member has been appointed or nominated by the
Authority

to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer’s decision on
the grant of dispensations; and

to consider the Authority’s Code of Corporate Governance and
the Annual Governance Statement;

Audit Committee

The Authority will establish an Audit Committee.

Composition

(@)

(b)

Membership

The number of members of the Committee shall be six. The
members of the Committee shall include members of the
Authority, the Merseytravel Committee and the Scrutiny Panel in
such proportion as the Authority shall determine.

Chairing the Committee

(i)  The Chair of the Committee shall not be a member of the
Authority.

(i)  The Chair of the Committee shall not have a casting vote.

Page 51



4.6

(c)

The quorum for the Audit Committee shall be three.

Role and Function

The Authority has delegated to the Audit Committee the following roles
in order to advise the Authority:

(@)

to receive the Authority’s statement of accounts in accordance
with The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 and to
advise the Authority in relation to its approval;

to consider the External Auditor’'s Annual Audit and Inspection
Letter in accordance with The Accounts and Audit (England)
Regulations 2011 and to monitor the Authority’s response to
individual issues of concern identified;

to consider and advise the Authority on the findings of the
Authority’s review of the effectiveness of its system of internal
control and on the Annual Governance Statement;

to consider and advise the Authority on the findings of the review
of the effectiveness of its internal audit;

to oversee the effectiveness of the Authority’s and the
Merseytravel Committee’s risk management arrangements, the
control environment and associated anti-fraud and anti-corruption
arrangements;

to challenge the Authority’s performance management
arrangements;

to oversee and review the Authority’s relevant strategies, policies
and codes;

to engage with the External Auditor and external inspection
agencies and other relevant bodies to ensure that there are
effective relationships between external and internal audit;

to make recommendations to the Treasurer and Monitoring
Officer in respect of Part 6 of the Authority’s Constitution;

to ensure effective scrutiny of the Treasury Management
Strategy and Policies; and

to consider and advise the Authority on its Code of Corporate
Governance.

Page 52



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

Part 5

Meeting Procedure Rules and Scrutiny

Section A — Meeting Procedure Rules

Interpretation, Suspension and Chair’s Ruling

These Rules apply to meetings of the Authority and, where appropriate,
to meetings of Committees and Sub-Committees of the Authority. Any
reference to Authority in these rules also refers to Committees and Sub-
Committees, provided that in respect of the Merseytravel Committee
and its Sub-Committees, references to the Head of the Secretariat shall
be replaced by Head of Paid Service.

References in these Rules to the “Chair” mean the Member of the
Authority for the time being presiding at the meeting of the Authority
and a meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Authority.

These Rules should be read in conjunction with other parts of the
Authority’s Constitution.

**These Rules are subject to any statute or other enactment whether
passed before or after these Rules came into effect.

The ruling of the Chair on the interpretation of these Rules in relation to
all questions of order and matters arising in debate shall be final.

Suspension and Revocation of the Meeting Procedure Rules

**With the exception of the Rules marked by an asterisk (**) any Rule
may be suspended at a meeting of the Authority either by a motion
included on the agenda or by a motion put to the meeting without notice
and passed by a majority of those present and voting. A motion to
suspend any Rules will not be moved without notice unless at least 4
Members of the Authority are present.

Rules may be changed by the Authority either at the Annual Meeting or
by a motion on notice made at a meeting of the Authority.

Membership of the Authority

**Each Constituent Council will be represented by one of its elected
members or its elected Mayor.

**Each Constituent Council Plab@)%‘lt another of its elected



3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

4.1

4.2

4.3

members to act as a Member of the Authority in the absence of the
Member appointed under sub-paragraph 3.1 above (“the Substitute
Member”).

**A person shall cease to be a Member or a Substitute Member of the
Authority if they cease to be a member of the Constituent Council that
appointed them.

**A person may resign as a Member or Substitute Member of the
Authority by written notice served on the proper officer of the
Constituent Council that appointed them (who for the purposes of this
sub-paragraph 3.4 shall be the Monitoring Officer of the Constituent
Council that appointed them) and the resignation shall take effect on
receipt of the notice by the proper officer.

**Where a Member or Substitute Member of the Authority’s appointment
ceases by virtue of sub-paragraph 3.3 or 3.4, the Constituent Council
that made the appointment must, as soon as practicable, give written
notice of that fact to the Head of the Secretariat and appoint another of
its elected members in that person’s place.

**A Constituent Council may at any time terminate the appointment of a
Member or Substitute Member appointed by it to the Authority and
appoint another of its elected members in that person’s place.

**Where a Constituent Council exercises its power under sub-
paragraph 3.6, it must give written notice of the new appointment and
the termination of the previous appointment to the Head of the
Secretariat and the new appointment shall take effect and the previous
appointment terminate at the end of one week from the date on which
the notice is given (or such longer period not exceeding one month, as
is specified in the notice).

**For the purposes of this paragraph 3, an elected mayor of a
Constituent Council shall be treated as a member of the Constituent
Council.

Chair and Vice Chair

**A Chair and a Vice Chair will be appointed annually by the Authority
from among Members of the Constituent Councils and will, unless they
resign, cease to be members of the Authority or become disqualified,
act until their successors become entitled to act as Chair or Vice Chair.

In the case of an equality of votes in respect of the appointment of a
Chair, the appointment for that meeting only will be determined by the
drawing of lots on such basis as the Monitoring Officer shall determine.
The matter will then be considered at the next meeting of the Authority
when, in the case of an equality of votes, the same process shall apply.

**The appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair shall be the first
business transacted at the Annual Meeting of the Authority.

Page 54



4.4

4.5

4.6

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

6.1

**On a vacancy arising in the office of Chair or Vice Chair for whatever
reason, the Authority shall make an appointment to fill the vacancy at
the next ordinary meeting of the Authority held after the date on which
the vacancy occurs, or, if that meeting is held within 14 days after that
date, then not later than the next following meeting. The Member
appointed shall hold such office for the remainder of the year in which
such vacancy occurred.

**Subject to these Rules, anything authorised or required to be done by,
or in relation to, the Chair, may be done by, or in relation to, the Vice
Chair.

The Chair (or the Vice Chair or any other Member acting in the absence
of the Chair) shall not have a casting vote on any issue.

Meetings

**The Annual Meeting of the Authority shall be held in June on a date
and at a time determined by the Authority.

**Ordinary meetings of the Authority for the transaction of general
business shall be held on such dates and at such times as the Authority
shall determine at its Annual Meeting.

**An Extraordinary Meeting of the Authority may be called at any time
by the Chair.

Admission of Public

All meetings of the Authority, its Committees and Sub-Committees shall
be open to the public (including the press) except to the extent that they
are excluded whether during the whole or part of the proceedings
either:

(@) In accordance with Section 100A(2) of the Local Government
Act 1972; or

(b) By resolution passed to exclude the public on the grounds that it
is likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings, that if members
of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information as defined in Section 101 of the Local
Government Act 1972. Any such Resolution shall identify the
proceedings or the part of the proceedings to which it applies
and state the description, in terms of Schedule12A to the Local
Government Act 1972 of the exempt information giving rise to the
exclusion of the public.

Notice of Meetings
At least five clear working days before a meeting of the Authority:

(@) notice of the time and place of intended meeting shall be
age



6.2

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

published by the Head of the Secretariat and posted on the
Authority’s website;

(b) asummons to attend the meeting, specifying an agenda for the
meeting, shall be sent to all Members of the Authority by
electronic mail.

**Lack of service on a Member of the Authority of the summons shall
not affect the validity of a meeting of the Authority.

Meeting Agendas

The Chair of the Authority will decide upon the agenda for the meetings
of the Authority. The Chair may put on the agenda of any meeting any
matter which the Chair wishes.

**Any Member of the Authority may require the Head of the Secretariat
to ensure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available
meeting of the Authority for consideration.

Any item proposed to be included on the agenda for any meeting of the
Authority in accordance with sub-paragraph 7.2 above, which is not
submitted in writing before 7 working days of the meeting, shall not be
included on the agenda for that meeting unless it is agreed by the
Chair. In this case the amended agenda for the meeting will state the
reason for the late acceptance of any such item.

The Head of the Secretariat shall set out in the agenda for each
meeting of the Authority the items of business requested by Members (if
any) in the order in which they have been received, unless the Member
concerned has given prior written notice to the Head of the Secretariat
prior to the issue of the agenda for the meeting, for it to be withdrawn. If
the Member concerned is not present at the meeting when an item of
which they have given notice comes up for discussion, this item shall,
unless the Authority decides otherwise, be treated as withdrawn.

(@) A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting
of the Authority within the previous six months cannot be moved
unless notice of the motion is signed by at least three members.

(b) A motion or amendment in similar terms to one which has been
rejected by the Authority in the previous six months cannot be
moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at
least three members.

**Except in the case of business required by these Rules to be
transacted at a meeting of the Authority, and other business brought
before the meeting as a matter of urgency (and of which the Head of
the Secretariat shall have prior notice and which the Chair considers
should be discussed at the meeting), no business shall be transacted at
a meeting of the Authority other than that specified in the agenda for the

meeting. Page 56



8. Chair of Meeting
8.1 **At each meeting of the Authority the Chair, if present, shall preside.

8.2  **If the Chair is absent from a meeting of the Authority, the Vice Chair, if
present, shall preside.

8.3  *If both the Chair and Vice Chair of the Authority are absent from a
meeting of the Authority, the Head of the Secretariat shall invite the
Members present to elect a Member to preside for the duration of the
meeting or until such time as the Chair (or Vice Chair) joins the
meeting.

8.4  Any power or function of the Chair in relation to the conduct of a
meeting shall be exercised by the person presiding at the meeting.

9. Quorum

9.1 No business shall be transacted at any meeting of the Authority unless
at least 4 of the Members are present.

9.2 If at the time for which a meeting is called, and for 15 minutes
thereafter, a quorum is not present, then no meeting shall take place.

9.3 If during any meeting of the Authority the Chair, after counting the
number of Members present, declares that there is not a quorum
present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to a time fixed by the Chair.
If there is no quorum and the Chair does not fix a time for the
reconvened meeting, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the next
ordinary meeting of the Authority.

10. Order of Business

10.1 At every meeting of the Authority the order of business shall be to
select a person to preside if the Chair or Vice-Chair are absent and
thereafter shall be in accordance with the order specified in the agenda
for the meeting, except that such order may be varied -

(@) by the Chair at his/her discretion; or
(b) on arequest agreed to by the Authority.

10.2 The Chair may bring before the Authority at their discretion any matter
that they consider appropriate to bring before the Authority as a matter
of urgency.

11. Committees

11.1. The Authority shall appoint such committees as it thinks fit.

11.2 The rules of political balance will ap(% to appointments to Committees,
unless no member of the AUf@ %acts to any alternative



12.

12.1

12.2

13.

13.1

13.2

13.3.

13.4

13.5

arrangement.

Submission of Merseytravel Committee Proceedings and
Proceedings of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Authority

Except where the Merseytravel Committee or any Committee or
Sub-Committee of the Authority is acting under delegated authority, the
Minutes of the proceedings of Merseytravel Committee, and the
Minutes of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Authority, shall be
submitted to the Authority for confirmation. Confirmation by the
Authority of those Minutes shall constitute approval of the proceedings
of Merseytravel Committee and any Committee or Sub-Committee of
the Authority.

Where the Merseytravel Committee or any Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Authority is acting under delegated authority, the
Minutes of the proceedings of Merseytravel Committee, and the
Minutes of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Authority, shall be
submitted to the Authority for information.

Rules of Debate

A Motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been
proposed and seconded.

A Member shall address the Chair and direct any speech to the
question under discussion. If two or more Members indicate they wish
to speak, the Chair shall call on one to speak first.

An amendment shall be relevant to the Motion and shall be either:-

(@) toleave out words from the Motion;

(b)  to leave out words from, and insert or add others to, the Motion;
and

(c) toinsert words in, or add words to, the Motion

but such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not have the
effect of introducing a new proposal into or negating the original Motion
before the Authority.

A Member shall not speak for longer than five minutes on any matter
without the consent of the Chair.

A Member may claim to speak on a point of order or in personal
explanation, and shall be entitled to be heard immediately. A point of
order shall relate only to an alleged breach of a specified statutory
provision or the Constitution and the way in which the Member raising it
considers that it has been broken. A personal explanation shall be
confined to some material part of a former speech by the Member in the
current debate which may appear to have been misunderstood. The
ruling of the Chair on a point of order, or on the admissibility of a
personal explanation, shall not be open to discussion.

Page 58



13.6

13.7

13.8

13.9

13.10

13.11

14.

14.1

If an amendment is rejected, other amendments may be moved on the
original Motion. If an amendment is carried, the Motion as amended
shall take the place of the original Motion and shall become the
substantive Motion upon which any further amendment may be moved.

A further amendment shall not be moved until the Authority has
disposed of every amendment previously moved, provided that the
Chair shall have discretion to allow debate to take place on two or more
amendments.

A Member at the conclusion of a speech of another Member may move
without comment:

that the question/motion be now put;

that the debate/motion be adjourned;

that the Authority proceed to the next business; and
that this meeting of the Authority be adjourned.

If such a Motion is seconded, the Chair shall, subject to the mover’s
right to reply, put the Motion to the vote, and if it is carried:-

(i) in case (a), the Motion then before the Authority shall, subject to
the right to reply, be put to the vote; or

(i) in case (b), the debate on the Motion then before the Authority
shall stand adjourned until the next ordinary meeting of the
Authority; or

(i)  in case (c), the Motion then before the Authority shall be
regarded as lost and the Authority shall proceed to the next item
on the Agenda, if any; or

(iv)  in case (d), the meeting shall stand adjourned.

If the Chair is of the opinion that the matter before the Authority has
been sufficiently discussed the Chair may put the Motion that the
question now be put.

The Chair shall decide all questions of order and any ruling by the Chair
upon such questions and the interpretation of these Rules of Procedure
and upon matters rising in debate shall be final and shall not be open to
discussion.

A Motion to exclude the press and public in accordance with Section
100A of the Local Government Act, 1972 may be moved, without
notice, at any meeting of the Authority during an item of business
whenever it is likely that if members of the public were present during
that item there would be disclosure to them of confidential or exempt
information as defined in Section 100A of the 1972 Act.

Voting

Subject to sub-paragraphs 14.5 and 14.6, any questions that are to be
decided by the Authority are to be decided by a majority of the
Members or Substitute Menﬁag,@@iﬁg in place of Members, present



14.2

14.3

14.4

14.5

14.6

14.7

15.

15.1

and voting on that question at a meeting of the Authority.

Each Member of the Authority, or Substitute Member acting in that
Member’s place, is to have one vote and no Member of the Authority or
Substitute Member is to have a casting vote.

Whenever a vote is taken at meetings of the Authority it shall be by a
show of hands. On the requisition of any member of the Authority,
supported by one other Member who signifies their support by rising in
their places, and before the vote is taken, the voting on any question
shall be recorded so as to show whether each Member present gave
their vote for or against that question or abstained from voting.

**A Member of the Authority, or Substitute Member acting in that
Member’s place may demand that his/her vote be recorded in the
Minutes of the meeting.

**Decisions that are to be made by the Authority relating to the following
matters require the unanimous approval of those present and voting:

(@) the co-option of additional voting and non-voting members onto
the Authority;

(b) amendments to the Constitution; and

(c) the determination and review of any transitional arrangements on
transport.

The member of the Authority representing the LEP (or their substitute)
shall not be entitled to vote on the following matters, but shall otherwise
be entitled to vote on matters before the Authority for decision:

(@) the setting of any Levy or Differential Levy;

(b) the appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair of the Authority;
(c) amendments to the Constitution;

(d) approval of borrowing limits;

(e) approval of treasury management and investment strategies;
(

f) financial matters which may have implications on the budgets of
the Constituent Councils;

(9) approval of the setting of the Mersey Tunnel tolls;

(h) approval of the grant to Merseytravel; and

(i) such other matters as the members of the Authority (or their
substitutes) who are members of the Constituent Councils, shall
determine.

The proceedings of the Authority are not invalidated by any vacancy
among its Members or Substitute Members or by any defect in the
appointment or qualifications of any Member or Substitute Member.

Conduct of Members

If the Chair is of the opinion that at a meeting any Member of the
Authority, or Substitute Member acting in that Member’s place, has
misconducted, or is misconducting him or herself by persistently

disregarding the ruling of %@I@G@r by behaving irregularly,



15.2

16.

16.1

17.

18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

18.5

improperly or offensively, or by willfully obstructing the business of the
Authority, the Chair may notify the meeting of that opinion and may take
any of the following actions either separately or in sequence:

(@)  the Chair may direct the Member to refrain from speaking during
all or part of the remainder of the meeting of the Authority;

(b)  the Chair may direct the Member to withdraw from all or part of
the remainder of the meeting of the Authority;

(c)  the Chair may order the Member to be removed from the
meeting of the Authority; and

(d)  the Chair may adjourn the meeting of the Authority for such
period as they consider expedient.

In the event of general disturbance, which in the opinion of the Chair,
renders the due and orderly dispatch of business impossible the Chair,
in addition to any other power vested in the Chair may, without question
put, adjourn the meeting of the Authority for such period as the Chair
considers expedient.

Disturbance by Members of the Public

If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting of
the Authority the Chair shall warn him or her. If they continue the
interruption the Chair shall order his or her removal from the room. In
the case of general disturbance in any part of the room open to the
public the Chair shall order that part to be cleared.

Notification and Declaration of Interests

Members of the Authority shall comply with the Code of Conduct for
Members contained in Part 7 of the Constitution.

Records

The Head of the Secretariat shall ensure that the names of the
Members of the Authority present at any meeting of the Authority, and
any Substitute Member acting in a Member’s place, shall be recorded in
the Minutes of the meeting concerned.

The Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Authority are to be
kept in such form as the Authority may from time to time determine.

The Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Authority shall be
signed at the next suitable meeting of the Authority.

Any minute purporting to be signed as mentioned in sub-paragraph 18.3
shall be received in evidence for the purposes of any legal proceedings
without further proof.

Until the contrary is proved, a meeting of the Authority, a Minute of
whose proceedings has been signed in accordance with this paragraph
18 is deemed to have been ﬁyg Cor‘gﬁned and held, and all the

ge



18.6

19.

19.1

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5

20.

20.1

Members of the Authority present at the meeting, and any Substitute
Member acting in a Member’s place, are deemed to have been duly
qualified.

For the purposes of sub-paragraph 18.3, the next suitable meeting of
the Authority is the next following meeting of the Authority.

Access to Information Procedure Rules

Except as otherwise indicated, these rules apply to all meetings of the
Authority and its Committees.

The Rules in paragraph 19 do not affect any more specific rights to
information contained elsewhere in these Rules of Procedure or the
law.

The Authority and its Committees will supply copies of:

(a) any Agenda and reports that are open to public inspection; and
(b) any further statements or particulars, if any, as are necessary to
indicate the nature of the items in the Agenda

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs
(if applicable).

The Authority and its Committees and Sub-Committees will make
available copies of the following for six years after a meeting:

(@)  the Minutes of the meeting, excluding any part of the Minutes of
proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or
which disclose exempt or confidential information;

b) the Agenda for the meeting; and

c) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the
public.

(
(

The relevant Lead Officer will set out in every report a list of those
documents (called background papers) relating to the subject matter of
the report that in his/her opinion:

(@) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important
part of the report is based; and

(b)  which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the
report but does not include published works or those which
disclose exempt or confidential information.

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings
(@) Confidential information — requirement to exclude public

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view
of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the
proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed.

(b) Meaning of confidﬁl‘a'geirﬁgrmation



20.2 Confidential information means information given to the Authority, its
Committees and Sub-Committees by a Government department on
terms that forbid its public disclosure or information that cannot be
publicly disclosed by reason of a Court Order or any enactment.

20.3

20.4

(c)

Meaning of exempt information

Exempt information means information falling within the following
categories (subject to any qualifications):

(i)
(ii)
(iif)

(vi)

(vii)

(d)

information relating to any individual;
information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual;

information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that
information);

information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations in connection with
any labour relations matter arising between the Authority, its
Committees or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or
office holders under, the Authority and its Committees;

information in respect of which a claim to legal professional
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings;

information which reveals that the Authority and its Committees
propose a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by
virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or b) to
make an order or direction under any enactment;

information relating to any action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

Exclusion of access by the public to reports

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Authority and its Committees may
exclude access by the public to reports which in his/her opinion relate to
items during which the meeting is likely not to be open to the public.
Such reports will be marked “Not for Publication” together with the
category of information likely to be disclosed.

Page 63



1.

1.1

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Section B — Scrutiny Arrangements for the Authority,
Merseytravel Committee and Merseytravel

Introduction

The Authority is to be supported by a scrutiny model in order to scrutinise
decisions made at the sub-regional level.

Function of Scrutiny at a City Region Level

Scrutiny exists to achieve greater public accountability over decisions
made and services delivered to the whole Liverpool City Region in
respect of those functions under the remit of the Combined Authority.

The principal ways in which the Combined Authority will be 'held to
account ' via Scrutiny are:-

(i) ‘Critical Friend’ role

(i) Pre-decision scrutiny

(i) Monitoring the delivery of the Combined Authority Strategic Plan
Pre-decision scrutiny would need to be used selectively otherwise the
scrutiny system would, by spreading its energies too thinly, be likely to
have little impact.

The role of Scrutiny in these three key function areas will be:-

a. To provide a ‘critical friend’ to policy and strateqy development

The main priority for scrutiny should be to help the Authority to:-

Develop policies to deal with new issues

Reviewing existing policies which are felt to be in need of review
Contributing to the formulation of the annual budget

Reviewing policies or actions of agencies external to the local
authorities which may be impacting adversely on the quality of life
of local people

b. To undertake scrutiny reviews into areas of strategic importance for the
people of the Liverpool City Region

The Authority’s Scrutiny Panel should aim to investigate matters of
strategic significance for the Liverpool City Region area and review
should focus on sub-regional issues that are directly linked to the work of
the Combined Authority and its sub-structure.

The Panel would take a similar approach to a Parliamentary Select
Committee. Panel members will collect evidence through a variety of

sources, including — Page 64



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Questioning expert ‘witnesses’
Receiving reports and other literature
Undertaking consultation
Communication with stakeholders

The Panel will work with this information to make suggestions for
improvement, acknowledge good practice and make recommendations.
It will not deal with individual issues or queries that are more suitably
dealt with by a local authority or specific organisation. The findings of
each review will be submitted to the Authority for consideration.

There are two potential sources for identifying in-depth studies to be
carried out by scrutiny; the Scrutiny Panel itself and the Authority. The
Authority may require scrutiny of a particular policy before agreeing a
policy or taking a decision.

c. To monitor the delivery of the Authority’s Strateqic Plan

The Scrutiny Panel will review the outcomes of the Authority’s Strategic
Plans.

Any involvement of scrutiny in this activity would need to demonstrate
that it could add value and not just replicate what the Authority, its
Boards or Committees were doing. Scrutiny would again need to be
highly selective acting only when it was concerned about evidence of
poor performance and it was not satisfied by the Authority’s response to
it.

Operation of Scrutiny Arrangements

The Scrutiny Panel will comprise of Members from each of the
Constituent Councils. Membership will be agreed at the Annual
General Meeting. Nominations to the Scrutiny Panel must not be
members of the Authority (including substitute members) or the
Merseytravel Committee.

Nominations to the Scrutiny Panel by the Constituent Councils will be
made in accordance with the principles of political balance set out in
Section 15(5) of the LGHA 1989.

Any elected member appointed to the Scrutiny Panel by the Authority
under these scrutiny arrangements who is also appointed to any
Committee of the Authority, cannot participate in the operation of the
scrutiny arrangements on any issues which were taken at any meeting
of the Authority or any Committee of the Authority at which they were
present.

The term of office for members of the Scrutiny Panel will be one year

from the date of the annual council meeting of the Constituent Council
that nominates them to the Scrutiny Panel, unless:-

Page 65



3.5

41

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

(@) they cease to be an elected member of the Constituent Council
that appointed them;

(b)  they wish to no longer participate in these arrangements; or

(c) the Head of the Secretariat is advised by any of the Constituent
Councils that it wishes to change one or more of its nominees to
the Scrutiny Panel.

Non-voting members may be co-opted to participate in these
arrangements from other organisations as the Scrutiny Panel members
may decide.

Meetings of Scrutiny Panel

The members appointed by the Authority to the Scrutiny Panel will hold
at least one annual meeting and may convene additional meetings in
accordance with these arrangements.

The Scrutiny Panel members will:
(@) elect a Chair and Vice Chair;

(b)  determine the areas of review and scrutiny that they wish to
pursue during the ensuing12 months;

(c) agree to establish Scrutiny Working Groups from amongst their
number in order to carry out agreed areas of review and scrutiny.

The quorum for the annual meeting and any other meetings is 6, and
must include representatives of at least 4 of the Constituent Councils.

The principle of decision-making at any such meeting shall be that,
wherever possible, decisions will be made by agreement, without the
need for a vote. If a vote is necessary it will be a simple majority of
those present and the Chair will not have a casting vote.

The venue for each annual meeting and the usual venue for any other
meetings will be the offices of Merseytravel, save that the Scrutiny
Panel may choose to hold meetings other than the annual meeting in
other venues if this is deemed to assist the scrutiny process.

Notice of the annual meeting and any other meetings will be sent to
each Scrutiny Panel member in accordance with the requirements of
the Local Government Act 1972.

The Chair will approve the agenda for each annual meeting and any
other meetings; however, any member of the Scrutiny Panel will be
entitled to require an item to be placed on the agenda for the meeting.

Subject to paragraphs 4.1 to 4.7, meetings will proceed in accordance
with the Rules of Procedure.

Page 66



5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

9.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

Key Principles for the Operation of the Scrutiny Arrangements

The Constituent Councils will work together to maximise the exchange
of information and views, to minimise bureaucracy and make best use
of the time of members and officers of other bodies or agencies.

Members of the Scrutiny Panel will, when considering reviews,
determine whether the issue is more appropriately dealt with by one of
the Constituent Councils or elsewhere and will not duplicate the work of
existing bodies or agencies.

Subject to prior consultation, the Constituent Councils will respond
positively to requests for information, or for the attendance of a member
or officer at any meetings set up under these arrangements.

While it is ultimately for each Constituent Council to decide who it
considers the most appropriate person(s) to speak on its behalf at any
meetings set up under these arrangements, consideration will be given
to meeting specific requests.

Dates and times for officer and member attendance at any meetings set
up under these arrangements should be by agreement.

Members appointed under these arrangements may request the
attendance of officers employed by the Constituent Councils to answer
questions and give evidence at any meetings set up under these
arrangements. All such requests must be made via the Chief Executive
of the relevant Constituent Council. If any request is declined by the
Chief Executive, he/she must state the reasons for so doing.

The Scrutiny Panel may

(@) invite members to attend before it to answer questions;

(b) invite other persons to attend meetings of the Panel;

(c) review or scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in
connection with the discharge of any functions of the Authority;

(d) make reports or recommendations to the Authority with respect to
the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the
Authority.

The power to review or scrutinise a decision made, but not
implemented under sub-paragraph 5.7(c), includes the power to
recommend that the decision be re-considered, but is subject to the
following provisions:

(a) this shall not apply where, in the view of the decision-making body
stated when the decision is made, any delay in implementing the
decision would prejudice the interests of the Authority or the
interests of the public;

(b) (i) inrelation to decﬁ)s&gevﬁ%h may be subject to



5.9

5.10

5.11

5.12

reconsideration, each decision shall be available where
possible by electronic means within two working days of
being made. Members of the Scrutiny Panel will be
provided with a copy of the decision which will bear the date
published and indicate it will come into effect on the expiry
of three working days after publication;

(i)  if two-thirds of the membership of the Scrutiny Panel notify
the Head of the Secretariat that they wish the Scrutiny
Panel to consider the decision, then the Head of the
Secretariat will arrange for a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel
to be convened at the first available opportunity and in any
event within seven working days of the request being
notified to him. No action will be taken in the meantime to
implement the decision which is subject to the request;

(iii) the Scrutiny Panel will consider the matter and if it chooses
to, may resolve to request that the decision-maker
reconsiders the decision. The Scrutiny Panel must set out
the basis upon which reconsideration is requested;

(iv) the decision-making body will reconsider the decision and
that reconsideration shall take place within seven working
days of the Scrutiny Panel’s request;

(v) no further requests for reconsideration may be made in
cases where decisions have been reconsidered and the
decision has been affirmed;

(c) decisions which have been subject to pre-decision scrutiny
cannot be recommended for reconsideration unless the decision
taken is, in the view of the Head of the Secretariat, significantly
different from the proposal under contemplation at the pre-
decision scrutiny stage;

Where the Scrutiny Panel makes a report or recommendation under
5.7(d), it may:

(@)  publish the report or recommendations;

(b) by notice in writing, require the Authority to
(i)  consider the report or recommendation;
(i)  provide a response to the Scrutiny Panel indicating what
action (if any) it proposes to take;
(i) where the Scrutiny Panel has published the report or
recommendations, publish the response;

A notice under 5.9(b) will require the Authority to comply with it within two
months, beginning with the date on which the Authority receives the
report or recommendations or (if later) the notice.

The Authority will comply with a notice given under 5.9(b).

The requirements or power to publish contained in 5.9(a) and 5.11, shall
not apply where the reportdag@irbdempt or confidential information.



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.1

Scrutiny Working Groups

The annual meeting of members of the Scrutiny Panel may establish
Scrutiny Working Groups to undertake agreed scrutiny reviews.

Scrutiny Working Groups shall include representatives from at least 4 of
the Constituent Councils.

Scrutiny Working Groups established under this Protocol must be
appointed to carry out specific scrutiny tasks and be time limited. Their
continuation will be subject to confirmation at each annual meeting of
the Scrutiny Panel members.

The Authority may also, if they choose, request that a Scrutiny Working
Group be appointed to examine a specific issue in more detail and
report back its findings to the Authority as appropriate.

Scrutiny Working Groups will have no delegated powers and will refer
the outcome of their investigations to the Scrutiny Panel for
consideration and decision.

Reviews and Recommendations

The process of scrutiny will be an open and transparent process
designed to engage the Constituent Councils, their residents and other
stakeholders.

Meetings will be held in public unless the meeting decides to convene
in private in order to discuss confidential or exempt information, in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the LGA 1972 or LGA 2000.

The terms of reference, timescale and outline of any review will be
agreed by Scrutiny Panel members appointed at their annual meeting.

Different approaches to scrutiny reviews may be taken in each case,
but members will seek to act in an inclusive manner and will take
evidence from a wide range of opinion.

The primary objective of any Scrutiny Working Group established under
these arrangements will be to reach consensus on its
recommendations, but where a minimum number of 2 members
express an alternative to the majority view, they will be permitted to
produce a minority report.

Budget and Administration

The scrutiny leads from each Constituent Council will provide guidance
to the Scrutiny Panel on its work programme, advice on the scoping of
reviews (at different levels) and ensuring the appropriate information
and advice is made available during the reviews, where appropriate,

through the use of expert wi}ggﬁgsﬁg



8.2

9.1

9.2

9.3

The decisions and recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel will be
communicated to the Authority and/or Merseytravel as appropriate, as
soon as practicable.

Support and Advice to Scrutiny Arrangements

The Scrutiny Panel may ask individuals or groups to assist it on a
review by review basis and may ask independent professionals for
advice during the course of reviews. Such individuals or groups will not
be able to vote.

The Scrutiny Officer of each Constituent Council will ensure that the
work programmes and minutes relating to the work carried out by the
Scrutiny Panel in scrutinising the Authority and the Merseytravel
Committee, are circulated appropriately within their own Constituent
Council’s scrutiny arrangements.

Each Constituent Council will nominate one of the 2 members of that
Constituent Council who have been appointed to the Scrutiny Panel to
act as that Constituent Council’s “Authority Scrutiny Link”. The Authority
Scrutiny Link will be responsible for reporting back to their own
Constituent Council on the scrutiny work carried out by the Scrutiny
Panel and will also be responsible for reporting to the Scrutiny Panel
any issues identified locally by their own Constituent Council which may
warrant scrutiny at a sub-regional level. The nomination of an Authority
Scrutiny Link and the way in which this role will be performed will be
determined by each Constituent Council.

Page 70



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.3

Part 6

Financial Procedure Rules

Financial Procedure Rules

General

These Financial Procedure Rules have been prepared in accordance with
the Authority’s Constitution.

The Authority is responsible for:

(a) adopting the Authority’s Constitution, including these Financial
Procedure Rules;

(b) setting policy and approving the Authority budget;

(c) approving procedures for the recording and reporting of its
decisions taken; and

(d)  the determination of the Levy to be issued to the Constituent
Authorities.

The Treasurer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of
Financial Procedure Rules and submitting any changes necessary to the
Authority for approval. The Treasurer is also responsible for reporting,
where appropriate, breaches to the Financial Procedure Rules to the
Authority.

Lead Officers are responsible for compliance with these Financial
Procedure Rules. Lead Officers with delegated authority may only
delegate to other officers who have the skills and knowledge appropriate
to the task. Officers shall be informed by his/her Lead Officer of the
extent of any sub-delegation. Lead Officers shall supply the Treasurer
with a list of sub-delegations which have been made and shall review and
update this list on a regular basis.

Where Lead Officers or their nominated officers require further guidance
on the interpretation and application of these Financial Procedure Rules,
this should be obtained from the Treasurer.

The Role of the Treasurer

The Treasurer is the responsible officer for the proper administration of
the Authority’s financial affairs. The Treasurer will also fulfil all relevant
statutory responsibilities, including those set out in Part VIII of the Local
Government Finance Act 1988.

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to
running the Authority, including the policy framework and budget.

The Treasurer will determine Ighgégnfl?rds of financial management to



3.2

3.3

4.2

4.3

5.2

5.3

5.4

be observed by Lead Officers and will monitor compliance with them.
The Role of Lead Officers

Lead Officers shall promote the financial management standards set by
the Treasurer and shall monitor adherence to the standards and
practices.

It is the responsibility of Lead Officers to consult with the Treasurer and
seek advice on any matter likely to have a material effect on the
Authority’s finances, before any decisions are made.

If any Lead Officer or officer acting on behalf of the Authority is aware of
any contravention of these Financial Procedure Rules, they must
immediately notify the Treasurer who shall determine appropriate action.

Managing Expenditure

All revenue and capital expenditure must be incurred in accordance with
the Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules or Land
Procedure Rules of the Authority, Merseytravel or the appropriate
Constituent Council, unless otherwise determined by the Treasurer.

Lead Officers are expected to plan and manage their expenditure to
ensure:

(@) that resources are used in the most efficient, effective and
economic way;

(b)  that expenditure does not exceed the overall budget allocated; and

(c) that future commitments for the Authority are not made for which
they have not identified future resources.

Lead Officers shall inform the Treasurer as soon as possible of all
contracts, agreements, awards or other instruments involving the
payment or receipt of money on behalf of the Authority. A record shall be
maintained of all such transactions in a form to be determined by the
Treasurer.

Accounting Policies Records and Returns

The Treasurer will determine the Authority’s required accounting policies
and procedures taking into account prevailing national and international
accounting requirements.

Lead Officers and their officers will adhere to the accounting policies and
procedures as determined by the Treasurer.

All the principal accounting and costing records of the Authority shall be
determined by the Treasurer and compiled under the Treasurer’s
direction.

The Treasurer shall exercise overall supervision and control over the
form and standard of all financial records, financial statements and
accounts kept by the Authority and its Lead Officers, and will determine
the period for which such documents shall be kept.

Page 72



5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

6.1

6.2

6.3

As soon as possible after the end of Authority’s financial year in each
year, each Lead Officer shall, in line with the guidance of the Treasurer,
account for all income due to the Authority for works goods and services
supplied in the previous financial year (debtors), and all payments due for
works goods and services received in the previous financial year
(creditors).

The Treasurer is responsible for preparation of the Authority's annual
statement of accounts in accordance with the Authority’s accounting
policies. The Treasurer will:-

(a) draw up the timetable for final accounts preparation;

(b)  make proper arrangements for the completion of the Authority's
accounts;

(c) make proper arrangements for the audit of the Authority's
accounts; and

(d)  publish the audited accounts in accordance with the statutory
timetable.

Lead Officers must maintain appropriate reconciliations and working
papers to support the production of the annual statement of accounts in
accordance with guidance issued by the Treasurer.

The Authority’s Audit Committee is responsible for the scrutiny and
approval of the annual statement of accounts prior to their certification by
the external auditor.

Financial Management
Budget Monitoring and Control — Revenue and Capital

Lead Officers are responsible for monitoring their income and
expenditure against the revenue and capital budgets approved by the
Authority.

The Treasurer will establish an appropriate framework of financial
management and control for the Authority which ensures that:-

(@) budget management is exercised within approved Authority
revenue and capital budgets;

(b)  expenditure and income is monitored using information held on the
Authority’s corporate financial information system; and

(c) timely and sufficient information on receipts and payments on each
budget is available to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary
responsibilities.

Unless otherwise determined by the Treasurer, each Lead Officer shall
make appropriate arrangements for compliance with the Authority’s
Financial Procedure Rules for the proper management and monitoring of
revenue and capital income and expenditure.

Page 73



6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

Lead Officers must personally ensure that any information which
suggests a potentially significant variation against their approved budget
(both overspends and underspends) is notified at the earliest opportunity
to the Treasurer. Where appropriate, the Treasurer shall prepare a
specific report for the Authority to consider the proposed approach to
mitigate the effects of such variation.

In respect of a forecast overspend that cannot be contained within the
relevant approved budget, the Lead Officer should seek to identify
proposed corrective action or alternative funding options. The Treasurer
will work with Lead Officers to consider these options. Wherever
possible, action should be taken by the Lead Officer to reduce planned
levels of expenditure.

Where additional revenue or capital resources become available, or are
forecast to become available, the Lead Officer must notify the Treasurer
at the earliest opportunity. If deemed appropriate, the Treasurer shall
prepare a specific report for the Authority to consider the allocation of the
additional available resources.

At the end of each financial year, the Treasurer will report to the Authority
on the treatment of any residual overspending or underspending against
the Authority’s revenue and capital budgets.

Reporting of Budget Monitoring

The Treasurer will prepare revenue and capital budget monitoring reports
in conjunction with Lead Officers for presentation to the Authority on a
regular basis. The frequency and content of these reports shall be
determined by the Treasurer, in consultation with the Authority.

Approval for Capital Expenditure

Where Lead Officers wish to propose new capital schemes or blocks for
inclusion in the Authority’s capital programme, they must first consult the
Treasurer who will determine the approach to be taken for approval of the
proposal.

The Capital Programme

The Capital Programme will be reported to the Authority at regular
intervals as determined by the Treasurer.

Lead Officers must ensure that capital expenditure plans are phased as
accurately as possible, and as soon as possible. These should be based
on estimates if there is uncertainty regarding confirmation of funding
sources or scheme details.

Any proposal to re-phase (i.e. delay or bring forward) programmed capital
expenditure should be notified by the Lead Officer to the Treasurer at the
earliest opportunity. If deemed appropriate, the Treasurer shall prepare a
report for the Authority to consider the proposal.

Page 74



71

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.2

8.3

8.4

9.2

9.3

Financial Planning
Budget Preparation

The Authority is required to establish an annual budget in line with its
strategic plan. The Treasurer shall determine the appropriate timetable
for the preparation of the annual budget that conforms to the statutory
deadlines, including those in relation to setting the Levy for Constituent
Councils.

The annual budget must take proper account of available resources and
financial risk.

Each financial year, as part of the Authority’s ongoing Medium Term
Financial Strategy, Lead Officers will develop annual revenue and capital
budget proposals in consultation with the Treasurer for consideration by
the Authority.

Lead Officers shall also prepare a rolling three-year programme of capital
expenditure, identifying realistic phasing of all approved schemes.

The Treasurer will advise the Authority on the robustness of budget
proposals and the adequacy of reserves in accordance with his/her
responsibilities under these Financial Procedure Rules.

Maintenance of Reserves and Balances

All revenue reserves held by the Authority will be kept under review by
the Treasurer with a view to ensuring that they are spent on their
specified purposes and that planned expenditure is properly phased.

The Treasurer will advise the Authority on prudent levels of reserves and
general balances for the Authority.

The Authority will determine a reserves strategy as part of its Medium
Term Financial Strategy on advice provided by the Treasurer.

In establishing its reserves strategy, the Authority must consider all
known financial risks and future liabilities of the Authority.

Treasury Management

The Authority’s treasury management activities shall be defined as the
management of its investments and cash flows, its banking, money
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance
consistent with those risks.

All treasury management activity shall be undertaken in full compliance
with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of
Practice: Treasury Management in Public Services (revised 2011) as may
be revised from time to time or such other practices and procedures as
may be approved by the Authority.

All investments and borrowings shall be made in the name of the
Authority. age 75



9.4

9.5

9.6

10
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

11

111

11.2

11.3

11.4

11.5

All of the Authority’s funds shall be aggregated for the purposes of the
treasury management and shall be under the control of the Treasurer.

Lead Officers shall ensure that loans are not made to third parties and
that interests are not acquired in companies, joint ventures or other
enterprises without the prior approval of the Treasurer and the Authority.

Credit arrangements, such as finance leases, operating leases, and
borrowing cannot be entered into without the approval of the Treasurer.

Banking Arrangements and Cheque Security

No officer other than the Treasurer may open any bank account in the
name of the Authority.

The Authority’s banking terms and overdraft arrangements shall be
agreed by the Treasurer.

All arrangements for the ordering and issuing of cheques shall be made
by the Treasurer, who shall make proper arrangements for their custody.

All cheques drawn on behalf of the Authority shall be signed by the
Treasurer.

Arrangements with External Organisations
Partnerships

The Treasurer must be consulted prior to the establishment of any
financial arrangements as part of partnerships or joint arrangements with
external companies, other public organisations and community and
voluntary groups. No partnership or joint arrangements shall be entered
into without the approval of the Authority.

Lead Officers must confirm whether any arrangement requires the
Authority to be designated an ‘Accountable Body’. Where this is the
case, the Treasurer must be consulted and approval of the Authority must
be obtained prior to the arrangement becoming operational.

The financial arrangements of all partnerships where the Authority is the
Accountable Body should meet the requirements of the Authority’s
Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules.

Lead Officers must ensure that the accounting and monitoring
arrangements to be adopted relating to partnerships and joint
arrangements are in accordance with the requirements of the Treasurer.

External Funding

The Treasurer must be consulted on all submissions to central
government and external agencies for funding. Prior to making any
submission in relation to external funding, Lead Officers must ensure
that:

(@) an exit strategy is identified to manage the ultimate cessation of
the funding stream with no adverse impact on the Authority;

(b)  any match-funding r%@@nw}s are given due consideration prior



11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

11.10

11.11

12

121

12.2
12.3

12.4

12.5

to entering into long-term agreements and that future revenue
budgets reflect these requirements; and

(c) they are able to comply with the terms and conditions of a grant
scheme, including auditor certification requirements, before
accepting them.

Lead Officers must seek approval from the Treasurer before accepting
any offer of funding from external bodies.

Lead Officers must ensure that all funding from external bodies is
recorded, monitored and accounted for in accordance with Financial
Procedure Rules and also the requirements of the funding body.

Lead Officers are responsible for ensuring that all expenditure to be
funded by grant is properly incurred in accordance with the requirements
and conditions of the funding body, and is supported by adequate
evidence.

Lead Officers are responsible for ensuring the completion and
submission of grant claims. Lead Officers must also ensure that grant
claims comply with the requirements and grant conditions of the funding
body, and are submitted promptly and supported by adequate evidence.
The Treasurer will provide guidance and advice on compliance with
general and specific grant conditions and the requirements for
submission.

Lead Officers must ensure that all income and expenditure relating to
external funding approvals is properly budgeted for. These budgets
should be monitored as part of the budget monitoring arrangements set
out in these Financial Procedure Rules.

The Treasurer will maintain a register of bids submitted to external bodies
together with a register of all grant arrangements entered into with
external bodies. Lead Officers are responsible for ensuring that the
information held on these registers is accurate and up to date in
accordance with the Authority’s External Funding Strategy.

Income

All monies received on behalf of the Authority shall be paid in full into the
Authority’s bank account or, where approved by the Treasurer,
Merseytravel or the relevant Constituent Council’s bank account.

Any Value Added Tax should be accounted for separately.

The write off of unrecoverable debt should be in accordance with the
Treasurer’s write off criteria (see Financial Procedure Rule 19 below).

Fees and Charges (including Tunnel Tolls)

Any proposal to introduce new charges or make changes in existing
charges for the provision of services by the Authority must be in line with
the guidance of the Treasurer and must be agreed by the Authority.

A schedule of all fees and charges for the provision of services will be
presented by the Treasurer cha;gEOVaT by the Authority on an annual



13

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

14

14.1

14.2

15

15.1

15.2

15.3

basis.

Ordering of and Payments for Works Goods and Services
General Ordering Procedures

All orders for works goods and services must be made in accordance
with the Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure
Rules.

Contract Payments and Variations

Payments to contractors on account of contracts must be made in
accordance with the requirements of the Authority’s Financial Procedure
Rules and Contract Procedure Rules.

Where a breach of contract occurs, the Lead Officer concerned shall
seek appropriate legal advice and, in consultation with the Treasurer,
shall prepare a statement of any liquidated and ascertained damages, or
such other penalties stipulated in the contract. Any breach that may lead
to termination of the contract shall be reported to the Monitoring Officer.

Any variation in the amount of a contract must be notified to the
Treasurer. Where appropriate the Treasurer may require the matter to be
reported to the Authority.

Payment of Expenses and Allowances

No remuneration shall be payable by the Authority to its members other
than the reimbursement for allowable travel and subsistence. Such
claims must be made in accordance with the Authority’s guidance.

Any remuneration or reimbursement for travel and subsistence of co-
opted members to the Authority shall only be payable in accordance with
the terms agreed by the Authority.

Insurance

The Treasurer, in consultation with Lead Officers, shall be responsible for
ensuring that all insurable risks of the Authority are adequately covered,
for maintaining the necessary records and for making all claims on behalf
of the Authority.

Lead Officers shall notify the Treasurer promptly of all risks, liabilities,
properties or vehicles which are required to be insured, and of any
alterations affecting risk or insurances indicating the amount of cover
required.

Lead Officers shall immediately notify the Treasurer of any fire, loss,

accident or other event that may give rise to a claim against the
Authority's insurers.

Page 78



16

16.1

16.2

16.3

16.4

17
171

17.2

18

18.1

18.2

18.3

Internal Audit

The Treasurer shall be responsible for maintaining an internal audit of all
accounts and financial transactions of the Authority, and shall satisfy
himself/herself as to security arrangements for the custody and
safeguarding of the Authority's assets as laid down in any legislation
applicable to the Authority and any relevant codes of practice adopted by
the Authority.

The Treasurer, or nominated individuals undertaking internal audit
functions, shall have authority to visit all establishments of the Authority,
shall have access to all relevant records of any Service, and shall be
entitled to require the production of all cash, stores and other property
and to obtain information or explanations with regard to any matters
under examination.

Lead Officers shall notify the Treasurer immediately of any circumstances
which may suggest the possibility of irregularity or loss affecting cash,
stores, property or transactions of the Authority. Where the Treasurer
considers that an irregularity may have occurred, action shall be taken by
way of an investigation and report.

Lead officers shall consider and respond promptly to recommendations in
audit reports and ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit
recommendations are implemented in a timely manner.

External Audit

The Treasurer will ensure that external auditors are given reasonable
access to premises, personnel, documentation and assets considered
necessary for the purposes of their work and to ensure effective liaison
with the Authority’s internal audit function.

Lead Officers shall ensure all records and systems are up to date and
available for inspection by the external auditor.

Inventories/Asset Registers

Lead Officers shall ensure that an inventory is prepared and maintained
in @ manner agreed with the Treasurer.

Write off of any assets should be in accordance with the Treasurer’s write
off criteria (see Financial Procedure Rule 19 below).

The disposal of surplus, obsolete, or redundant equipment shall be
effected in accordance with the procedures laid down by the Treasurer.

Page 79



19

191

Write-Off Criteria

Any write offs shall be in accordance with the following write off criteria:

Value of Individual

Item to be Written
off

Authorisation Required

Up to and including
£50,000

Appropriate Lead Officer and the Treasurer
(unless considered by the appropriate Lead
Officer and/or the Treasurer that the item
should be referred to the Authority)

Above £50,000

Appropriate Lead Officer and the Treasurer
in consultation with the Chair of the Authority
(unless considered by the appropriate Lead
Officer and/or the Treasurer that the item
should be referred to the Authority).

Page 80




1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Contract Procedure Rules

The need for Contract Procedure Rules

Every contract entered into by the Authority shall be entered into
pursuant to or in connection with the Authority’s functions and shall
comply with:

(a) all relevant statutory provisions;

(b)  the relevant European procurement rules (i.e. the EC Treaty, the
general principles of EU law and the EU public procurement
directives implemented by the EU Regulations);

(c) the Authority’s Constitution including these Contract Procedure
Rules, the Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules and the
Authority’s Scheme of Delegation; and

(d)  the Authority’s Procurement Strategy and policies.

These Contract Procedure Rules are intended to ensure that all Authority
contracts are entered into following a transparent and fair procurement
process and provide best value for the Authority.

The highest standards of probity are required of all officers and Members
involved in the procurement, award, and management of Authority
contracts. Members shall comply with the Code of Conduct for Members.

At all times during the contract award procedure, the Authority, through
its Members and officers, shall consider and implement the principles of
non-discrimination, equal treatment, and transparency.

The procurement guidance issued by the Treasurer assists with ensuring
the consistency of approach to procurement across the Authority. Lead
Officers shall have regard to the procurement guidance when undertaking
procurement.

It is recognised, however, that through the normal course of its business,
contracts will be entered into and expenditure incurred on behalf of the
Combined Authority by its Constituent Councils and its Accountable
Body.

Where expenditure is incurred or contracts entered into by Constituent
Councils using Authority resources, it shall be that body’s own Contract
Procurement Rules that will be relevant in determining thresholds for the
purposes of delegated authority to spend.

The Authority, through its Treasurer, shall maintain an up-to-date record
of each Constituent Council’s contract procurement rules for the
purposes of assurance.

The Contract Procurement Rules contained within this document relate
solely to contracts entered into and expenditure incurred directly by the

Authority. Page 81



3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

Commissioning and Procurement plans

Prior to the start of each financial year, each Lead Officer shall prepare a
commissioning and procurement plan setting out the Authority’s contracts
within the scope of their delegation to be procured during that financial
year and where possible for forthcoming years. A copy shall be supplied
to the Treasurer. The Treasurer shall, from the individual service
procurement plans, prepare the annual commissioning and procurement
plan for the Authority.

Who has authority to carry out procurement on behalf of the
Authority?

Any procurement carried out on behalf of the Authority may only be
undertaken by officers within the scope of their delegated authority under
the Authority’s Constitution. Officers with delegated authority may only
sub-delegate to other officers who have the skills and knowledge
appropriate to the task. Officers shall be informed by his/her Lead Officer
of the extent of any delegated authority and any applicable financial
thresholds for each procurement. Lead Officers shall supply the
Treasurer with a list of the sub-delegations which have been made and
shall review and update this list on a regular basis.

Lead Officers may authorise their officers to place orders against
framework agreements which have been entered into by the Authority or
which the Authority has the benefit of using the provisions of Contract
Procedure Rule 33.

What contracts do not require compliance with the Authority’s
Contract Procedure Rules?

These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to the seeking of offers in
relation to a public contract, framework agreement or dynamic purchasing
system which is exempt under the provisions of the EU Regulations
including the following:

(@) employment or other contracts of service; and

(b)  for the disposal (see Land Procedure Rules) or acquisition of an
interest in land (including buildings or other immovable property or
concerning rights thereon).

Contracts procured by Merseytravel or Constituent Councils on behalf of

the Authority under delegated powers, do not require compliance with the

Authority’s Contract Procedure Rules. In such circumstances, the

Contract Procedure Rules of Merseytravel or the Constituent Council (as

appropriate) shall be complied with.

What is the pre-procurement procedure?

Before commencing a procurement exercise, it is essential that the Lead
Officer leading the procurement has identified the need and fully
assessed any options for meeting those needs and, where proportionate
to the value and risks of the procurement, the Lead Officer shall complete
a procurement approach & initiation document and a risk assessment.
The risk assessment shall qrea,@éagg at regular intervals both during the



5.2

5.3

6.2

8.2

8.3

procurement phase and also after contract award. Consideration shall be
given to the Authority’s Procurement Strategy, procurement plans, and
the duty to consider social, economic, and environmental well-being
under the terms of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

Before undertaking a procurement exercise the Lead Officer shall:

(@)  consider all other means of satisfying the need (including recycling
and reuse where appropriate);

(b)  consider whether there is an appropriate standing list (see
Contract Procedure Rule 31 below) or a framework agreement
(see Contract Procedure Rule 33 below) that should be used;

(c) ensure that resources have been identified to fund the potential
cost of the procurement; and,

(d)  establish a business case for the procurement.

The Treasurer shall maintain a full list of framework agreements for use
by Lead Officers. Any appropriate framework agreements in place shall
be used by Lead Officers regardless of the potential value of a contract.

How does the Authority estimate the contract value?

The Authority should make the best use of its purchasing power by
aggregating purchases wherever possible. Particular supplies, services,
or works shall not be split in an attempt to avoid the applicability of these
Contract Procedure Rules or the EU Regulations.

The choice of method used to calculate the estimated value of a contract
may not be made with the intention of excluding it from the scope of the
EU Regulations.

Low value procurements

Procurements that are valued below £10,000 shall be classed as low
value. The Treasurer shall issue guidance to Lead Officers
recommending the preferred method of procurement required in order to
demonstrate the Most Economically Advantageous Offer for the
Authority.

Intermediate and high value procurements

Procurements that are valued between £10,000 and the prevailing EU
threshold for supplies and services, or between £10,000 and £1,000,000
in respect of works, shall be classed as intermediate value procurements.

These procurements shall be conducted by the Treasurer with a
minimum of three quotations invited via the Authority’s electronic
quotation and tendering system.

Procurements that are valued above the prevailing EU threshold for
supplies and services, or above £1,000,000 in respect of works, or which
may involve a transfer of staff, shall be classed as high value
procurements, and shall be conducted by the Treasurer in accordance
with one of the four contract eﬁyard eprggedures set out in Contract

ag



10.
10.1

10.2

10.3

Procedure Rules 13, 14, 15, and 16 as appropriate for the particular
procurement, i.e. open, restricted, negotiated, or competitive dialogue.

Joint procurement

These Contract Procedure Rules shall apply to any procurement where
tenders are invited by the Authority on behalf of any partnership,
consortium, association or similar body of which the Authority is a
member, unless such tenders are invited in accordance with the method
prescribed by such consortium, association or body and where necessary
with the requirements of the EU Regulations.

Contract terms and conditions

Contracts at or above £50,000 shall be entered into on the Authority’s
terms and conditions, which shall be included with each purchase order
and Invitation to Tender, Invitation to Negotiate or Invitation to take part in
Competitive Dialogue. For framework agreements (see Contract
Procedure Rule 33), contracts shall be entered into on the terms and
conditions of the central government agency, other local authority, or
other public body that procured the framework. Exceptions to this rule
must be approved in advance by the Treasurer.

Where contracts are subject to the EU Regulations, the rules relating to
technical specifications shall be followed and any reference to a technical
standard, make or type shall be prefaced with the words “or equivalent”.
This requirement applies to both Part A and Part B Services.

Every formal contract in writing within the meaning of Contract Procedure
Rule 10 shall specify or contain (as a minimum):

(@) the services, supplies, or works to be provided;

(b)  the price to be paid, with a statement of discounts or other
deductions;

(c) the time or times within which the contract is to be performed;

(d) that all relevant health and safety legislation and codes of practice
must be complied with and that any specific health and safety
requirements set out in the Invitation to Tender or Invitation to
Negotiate required prior to contract award have been satisfied;

(e) aclause to secure that, should the Supplier fail to deliver the
services, supplies or works within the time or times specified in the
contract, the Authority shall be entitled to terminate the contract
either wholly or in part and recover from the Supplier any
additional costs arising from the obtaining of any suitable
replacement;

() a clause empowering the Authority to cancel the contract and
recover from the Supplier the amount of any loss resulting from
such cancellation, if the Supplier or any person acting on their
behalf, in relation to the obtaining or execution of the contract or
any other contract with the Authority, have committed any offence
under the Bribery Act 2010, or shall have given any fee or reward
the receipt of which I8 @@6ff84¢ke under Section 117(2) and (3) of



10.4

10.5

11.
111

11.2

11.3

12.
12.1

the Local Government Act 1972;

(g)  aclause requiring the Supplier to provide information to the
Authority in order for the Authority to fulfil its obligations under the
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and/or the Environmental
Information Regulations 2004; and

(h)  how, in respect of a service contract to which the Public Services
(Social Value) Act 2012 applies, the Authority’s social value duty
will be achieved by the Supplier.

Contracts for the execution of construction, maintenance and repair work
which exceed £50,000 (excluding VAT) in value or amount shall, except
where otherwise agreed by the Treasurer, provide for liquidated damages
to be paid to the Authority in case the terms of the contract are not duly
performed.

Where an appropriate British Standard Specification or British Standard
Code of Practice issued by the British Standards Institution or an
equivalent European or International Standard is current at the date of
the tender, every contract shall require that services supplies or works
used or supplied and all workmanship shall be of a standard at least in
accordance with the standard, or such higher standard as may be
specified in the contract.

Bonds, guarantees and insurance

For high value procurements, the Lead Officer, in consultation with the
Treasurer, shall consider, as part of its pre-qualification assessment and
evaluation process, whether security, and if so of what form, shall be
required from the preferred Supplier. The Lead Officer responsible for
the procurement shall consult with the Treasurer as to the acceptability of
the form of security agreed with the preferred Supplier.

The Authority shall require and take sufficient security for the due
performance of every such contract with an estimated value in excess of
£500,000 (excluding VAT), unless the Treasurer considers it is in the
interests of the Authority not to do so.

The Lead Officer shall consider the appropriate type (employee liability,
public liability, professional indemnity, product liability etc.) and level of
insurance requirements for each contract. The evaluation team shall
consult with the Treasurer when determining the appropriate levels of
insurance.

Contracts subject to the EU Regulations

Where an estimated value of a contract exceeds the current EU
threshold, the contract shall be tendered in accordance with the EU
Regulations. Under the EU Regulations, the contract may be tendered
under the open, restricted, competitive dialogue or, in exceptional
circumstances exhaustively set out in the EU Regulations, the negotiated
procedure. A contract notice in the prescribed form shall be published by
the Lead Officer in the OJEU in order to invite tenders or expressions of
interest for Part A services contracts, supplies, and works contracts
subject to the EU Regulationspggétrggs for Part B services do not need



12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

13.
13.1

13.2

14.
141

14.2

14.3

to be advertised in OJEU.

The OJEU thresholds are revised by the EU every two years. The
Treasurer will inform Lead Officers of the new OJEU thresholds when
they are revised.

The EU Regulations set out the minimum timescales for receipt of
expressions of interest and tenders (bids for the negotiated procedure).
Where the Authority has published a Prior Information Notice announcing
its forthcoming contracts for the year ahead, it may rely on reduced
timescales if appropriate.

A copy of the OJEU notice published in accordance with 12.1 above shall
be supplied to the Treasurer by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement.

The EU Regulations only partly apply to works concessions and do not
currently apply to service concessions (a concession contract is an
agreement with a contractor/supplier for the right to exploit works or
services whereby it receives some or all of the consideration from third
parties). It is proposed by the European Commission that a concessions
directive should apply to concession contracts (as at November 2013).
Specific legal advice should therefore be obtained as to the appropriate
procurement process to be followed in compliance with any applicable
legidslation and regulations in force at the time and following these
Contract Procedure Rules where appropriate and applicable to any such
process.

Open procedure

All Suppliers applying are invited to tender. If publication of a notice in
the OJEU is not required then a notice shall be published in:

(@)  the Authority’s electronic tendering system; and,

(b)  where appropriate local newspapers and/or trade journals in order
to target the appropriate market for the particular contract.

The notice shall contain details of the proposed contract and specify a
deadline within which interested parties may apply. The Invitation to
Tender shall specify the return date for tenders.

Restricted procedure

All Suppliers applying are invited to submit a pre-qualification
questionnaire. Suppliers that meet the published pre-qualification criteria
related to those matters set out in Contract Procedure Rule 17 shall be
invited to tender.

If publication of a notice in the OJEU is not required then the notice
requirements are the same as in the open procedure (see Contract

Procedure Rule 13 above) except that the notice shall state that the
restricted procedure is being used.

If the EU Regulations apply, a minimum of five Suppliers shall be invited
to tender, or, where less thgﬂé’g@%@pliers meet the selection criteria,



14.4

15.

15.1

15.2

15.3

15.4

15.5

16

16.1

16.2

16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7

16.8

such number as do meet the selection criteria.

Where the EU Regulations do not apply, a minimum of four Suppliers
shall be invited to tender, or, where less than four Suppliers meet the
selection criteria, such number as do meet the selection criteria.

Negotiated procedure

Negotiated procedures should only to be used in exceptional
circumstances. Only those Suppliers selected by the Authority are invited
to negotiate. Suppliers are selected on the basis of published pre-
qualification criteria relating to those matters set out in Contract
Procedure Rule 17.

If a publication of a notice in the OJEU is not required, the notice
requirements are the same as in the open procedure (see Contract
Procedure Rule 13 above). Any notice shall state that the negotiated
procedure is being used.

A minimum of three Suppliers should be invited to negotiate following
publication of a notice, or, where less than three Suppliers meet the
selection criteria, such number as do meet the selection criteria.

At least two officers, at least one of whom shall be the Lead Officer
responsible for the procurement or a person authorised by him/her, shall
be present at all times during the negotiations.

The Lead Officer responsible for the procurement shall keep proper
written records of all negotiations and, where appropriate, these shall be
signed and/or approved as such by all participants.

Competitive dialogue

Competitive dialogue can be used where a procurement is particularly
complex in technical terms or the project is not able to be specified
clearly or is of legal or financial complexity.

A contract notice should be placed and selection should be made of
those who will be invited to take part in the dialogue.

The dialogue may embrace all aspects of the contract for the purpose of
identifying one or more solutions to the purchasers needs before seeking
bids from those remaining in the dialogue.

A minimum of three Suppliers should be invited to the dialogue.

Competitive dialogue is used to help define the means of achieving broad
objectives and allows bidders to produce innovative solutions.

The award criteria may not be changed during the award procedure so
that all parties are treated equally.

During the dialogue the Authority shall ask participants to specify their
proposals in writing. The Authority can continue the dialogue until it can
identify the solution or solutions which are capable of meeting its needs.

At the appropriate time the Authority declares the dialogue concluded and
informs the participants. TheRﬁ@@ri&Zhen asks the participants to



17.
171

17.2

18.
18.1

submit their final tenders on the basis of the solution or solutions
presented and specified during the dialogue.

Pre-qualification

The Authority shall only invite to tender or enter into a contract with a
Supplier if it is satisfied as to the Supplier's:

(@)  personal situation/eligibility;

(b)  economic and financial standing; and,
(c) technical and/or professional ability.
Technical and/or professional ability includes:

(@) the Supplier’s performance in respect of recent contracts providing
similar works, services and supplies;

(b)  the educational and professional qualifications of the Supplier
and/or its managerial staff or those providing the services or
managing the work; and

(c) quality management systems including human resources, health
and safety, and environmental management systems, where
relevant to the performance of the contract. This is in relation to
the tools, plant or technical equipment available to the Supplier for
carrying out the contract and the proportion of the contract which
the Supplier intends possibly to sub-contract.

The Invitation to Tender or Invitation to Negotiate

The Invitation to Tender or Invitation to Negotiate shall include details of
the Authority’s requirements for the particular contract including:

(@) a description of the services, supplies, or works being procured;

(b)  the procurement timetable including the tender return date and
time, which shall allow a reasonable period for the applicants to
prepare their tenders;

(c) a specification and instructions on whether any variants are
permissible;

(d)  the Authority’s terms and conditions of contract;

(e)  the evaluation criteria including any relative or range of weightings
assigned to each;

(f) pricing mechanism and instructions for completion;

(@)  where appropriate, whether the Authority has determined that the
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations
1981 or any succeeding legislation may apply;

(h)  form and content of method statements to be provided;

(i) rules for submitting of tenders; and

Page 88



19.
19.1

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5

19.6

20.
20.1

20.2

21.

() any further information which will inform or assist tenderers in
preparing tenders.

Submission and opening of tenders

Tenders shall be submitted in accordance with requirements set out in
the Invitation to Tender or Invitation to Negotiate, and via the Authority’s
electronic tendering system in accordance with Contract Procedure Rule
20. The deadline for the return of tenders is to be a Friday at 9.30am
unless otherwise agreed by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement and the Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall be notified by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement immediately tenders are invited of:

(@) the time and date (or of any revision thereof) by which tenders
should be received by the Treasurer; and

(b)  the names of the persons invited to tender where tenders have
been invited following public notice pursuant to Contract
Procedure Rule 14 or from a standing list pursuant to Contract
Procedure Rule 31.

Tenders shall be opened in the presence of the Treasurer, the Lead
Officer responsible for the procurement or their respective designated
representatives. Such opening shall commence at 9.30 am on the Friday
morning immediately following the expiration of the time for receipt of
tenders, or such other time as may be determined by the Treasurer.

The Treasurer, or his/her designated representative, shall unlock the
secure system for the receipt of electronic tenders and record them on a
form provided for the purpose.

The Lead Officer responsible for the procurement and the Treasurer, or
their respective designated representatives, will verify that the tenders
are opened and recorded correctly.

No tender shall be opened which is received after the deadline for that
contract or which in any way contravenes the requirements of Contract
Procedure Rule 19.1. Any such tender which is not considered will
remain unopened. This will remain unopened by the Lead Officer
responsible for the procurement until a tender is accepted, subject only to
the preparation of any formal contract. The Lead Officer responsible for
the procurement shall then inform the sender accordingly.

Electronic tendering and quotations

All documents required for procurement under these Contract Procedure
Rules including Invitation for Quotation, Invitations to Tender/Negotiate
shall be made available on the Authority’s electronic tendering system.

Responses to an Invitation for Quotation, an Invitation to Tender or an
Invitation to Negotiate shall be submitted onto the Authority’s electronic
tendering system, recorded, kept securely, and not opened until the
deadline has passed for receipt of the quotation or tender.

Tender evaluation and the @agée&@tronic auctions



21.1

21.2

Tenders subject to the EU Regulations shall be evaluated in accordance
with the relevant regulations and the evaluation criteria set out in the
Invitation to Tender or Invitation to Negotiate. All other tenders shall be
evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria notified to tenderers
in the contract notice and/or Invitation to Tender or Invitation to Negotiate.
All contracts, except where lowest price was predetermined to be the
appropriate contract award criterion, shall be awarded on the basis of the
offer which represents the most economically advantageous offer to the
Authority. The evaluation criteria shall be predetermined and listed in the
Invitation to Tender or Invitation to Negotiate. In addition, the evaluation
criteria shall be strictly observed at all times throughout the contract
award procedure by any person involved in the tender evaluation.

It may be appropriate to evaluate tenders by use of an electronic auction
provided that:

(@) where the EU Regulations apply, the Lead Officer responsible for
the procurement shall comply with the requirements set out those
regulations;

(b)  the means and procedures for carrying out the electronic auction
have been agreed in advance of the issuing of the notice required
by Contract Procedure Rule 13;

(c) before proceeding with an electronic auction, the Lead Officer
responsible for the procurement shall make a full initial evaluation
of the tenders in accordance with the agreed contract award
criterion/evaluation criteria and with the weighting fixed for them to
determine which are admissible tenders;

(d)  all tenderers who submit admissible tenders shall be invited
simultaneously by electronic means to offer new prices and/or new
values;

(e) the invitation shall contain all relevant information concerning
individual connection to the system being used, stating the date
and time of the start of the electronic auction. The electronic
auction may take place in a number of successive phases. The
electronic auction may not start sooner than two working days
after the date on which invitations are sent out;

(f) when the contract is to be awarded on the basis of the Most
Economically Advantageous Offer, the invitation shall be
accompanied by the outcome of a full evaluation of the relevant
tenderer, carried out in accordance with Contract Procedure Rule
21.2.(c);

(g) theinvitation shall also state the mathematical formula to be used
in the electronic auction to determine automatic re-rankings on the
basis of the new prices and/or new values submitted. That formula
shall incorporate the weighting of all the evaluation criteria fixed to
determine the Most Economically Advantageous Offer, as
indicated in the contract notice or in the tender documents;

(h)  the invitation shall specify the manner in which the electronic
auction is to close; aR@ge 90



22.
22.1

23.
23.1

24,
241

24.2

24.3

24.4

(i) after closing an electronic auction the Lead Officer responsible for
the procurement shall award the contract on the basis of the
results of the electronic auction.

Post-tender negotiation

Where procurement is conducted using either the open or restricted
procedures, no post tender negotiations are permitted. However, to
avoid confusion, the Authority is entitled to seek clarification from
Suppliers where appropriate.

Evaluation team

For each high value procurement, the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement undertaking the procurement shall form an evaluation team
with responsibility for evaluating tenders with representation from other
services as s/he considers appropriate in the circumstances.

Awarding contracts

Subject to Contract Procedure Rule 24.2, the Authority shall only award a
contract where at the time of contract award this represents the Most
Economically Advantageous Offer or is the lowest price depending on
contract award criterion chosen by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement.

This Contract Procedure Rule sets out the procedures that shall apply to
the acceptance of tenders and quotations. The Lead Officer responsible
for the procurement shall have authority to accept (as appropriate):

(@) the lowest tender if payment is to be made by the Authority;
(b)  the highest tender if payment is to be received by the Authority; or

(c) the tender which represents the Most Economically Advantageous
Offer to the Authority

This is provided that the amount of the tender does not exceed or fall
short as the case may be of an estimate approved by the Authority, or
Treasurer as the case may be, in accordance with the procedure set out
in Contract Procedure Rule 6.

Where the value of the tender selected by the Lead Officer responsible
for the procurement exceeds or falls short of the approved estimate by no
more than 5% or £50,000 (excluding VAT) (whichever is the lower), the
Lead Officer responsible for the procurement, in consultation with the
Treasurer, shall have authority to accept the selected tender following a
report submitted to Treasurer, which identifies and addresses the
financial implications.

Where the value of the tender selected by the Lead Officer responsible
for the procurement exceeds or falls short of the approved estimate by
more than 5% or £50,000 (excluding VAT) (whichever is the lower), a
report must be submitted by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement to the Treasurer, which addresses the financial implications
arising from approving the selected tender. The Lead Officer responsible
for the procurement shall onI;Pageagmority to accept the selected



24.5

25.
25.1

26.

26.1

26.2

27.
27 .1

27.2

28.
28.1
28.2

tender if approval is given by the Treasurer.

Any significant error made by a tenderer in arithmetic, pricing or other
matter relating to the performance of the proposed contract, discovered in
a tender or accompanying documents before a contract has been
executed, shall be reported by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement concerned to the Treasurer. The Lead Officer responsible
for the procurement in consultation with the Treasurer, shall then decide
whether or not the tenderer shall be given the opportunity of confirming
his offer/tender or of amending it to take account of any such error before
any tender for the contract is unconditionally accepted.

Debriefing

The Lead Officer responsible for the procurement shall provide a
debriefing to tenderers.

Contract award notice

Where a contract has been tendered pursuant to the EU Regulations, the
Lead Officer responsible for the procurement shall publish a contract
award notice in the OJEU no later than 48 days after the date of award of
the contract. Contract award notices are required for Part B Services. In
addition, notice of the contract award shall be given by the Lead Officer
responsible for the procurement undertaking the procurement via the
Contracts Register on the Authority’s website.

Where the EU Regulations do not apply, in respect of any high value
procurement, notice of the contract award shall be given by the Lead
Officer responsible for the procurement undertaking the procurement via
the Contracts Register on the Authority’s website.

Execution of contracts

Any contracts valued at or above £50,000 shall be formal, made in writing
and executed as a deed by the affixing of the Authority’s common seal or
signed by the Monitoring Officer or other person duly authorised in this
regard (as considered appropriate). The exception is where the
Monitoring Officer and the Lead Officer responsible for the procurement
agree beforehand that such a formal contract can be dispensed with. All
other contracts may be signed by the Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement.

All payments and or variations shall be made in accordance with the
terms of the executed contract and also the requirements of the Financial
Procedure Rules.

Contract extension
Any contract may be extended in accordance with its terms.

Where the terms do not expressly provide for extension, and in
exceptional circumstances and where it is necessary in order to comply
with these Contract Procedure Rules, the Lead Officer, with approval of
the Treasurer, may extend the contract for such period and on such
terms as shall be agreed wﬁ'?ﬂ@@ﬁgplier provided that the Lead Officer



28.3

29.
29.1

30.
30.1
30.2

30.3

31.
31.1

31.2

31.3

shall always be satisfied that any extension will achieve value for money
for the Authority and is reasonable in all the relevant circumstances.

No extension shall be entered into by a Lead Officer with the specific
intention of avoiding the application of the EU Regulations to the
procurement or where such extension would be in contravention of the
EU Regulations. The Lead Officer shall take legal advice before entering
into any extension under Contract Procedure Rule 28.2.

Termination of contract

For any contract resulting from high value procurement, termination shall
be approved by the Lead Officer with approval of the Treasurer.
Contracts of a lesser value may be terminated early by agreement prior
to the expiry date or in accordance with the termination provisions set out
in the contract. Legal advice should be sought as appropriate.

Records of tenders and contracts
The Treasurer shall maintain a list of all tenders received.

A Contracts Register of all contracts awarded, of whatever value, shall be
maintained by Lead Officers in conjunction with the Treasurer.
Information contained in the Contracts Register will be available publicly
on the internet.

For every individual contract, of whatever value, a contracts file shall be
maintained by the appropriate Lead Officer responsible for the
procurement.

Standing lists of contractors

The Authority may maintain standing lists of Suppliers that meet its pre-
qualification requirements. Lead Officers may use such standing list or a
nationally procured and recognised alternative list. Quotations and
tenders for contracts that are not subject to the EU Regulations may be
invited from Suppliers included on such standing list or a nationally
procured and recognised alternative list.

Each standing list shall:
(@) be compiled and maintained by the relevant Lead Officer;

(b)  contain the names of all Suppliers who wish to be included in it
and who after appropriate enquiries have been made by the Lead
Officer concerned and the Treasurer, are approved by the
Authority or Lead Officer as provided for in the Scheme of
Delegation; and,

(c) indicate whether a Supplier whose name is included in it is
approved for contracts for all, or only some, of the specified values
or amounts or categories.

At least four weeks before each standing list is first compiled, notice
inviting applications for inclusion on it shall be published in accordance
with Contract Procedure Rule 13 if a notice in OJEU is not required.

Page 93



31.4

31.5

31.6

32.

32.1

33.
33.1

Each standing list shall be amended as required from time to time to
include new applications for inclusion and to delete any Suppliers no
longer thought fit to be included. Each standing list shall be formally
reviewed in the manner set out below by the appropriate Lead Officer in
consultation with the Treasurer at intervals not exceeding three years. At
least four weeks before each review, each Supplier whose name appears
in the standing list shall be asked whether it wishes its name to remain
there. Notices inviting applications for inclusion in the list shall be
published in the manner provided by Contract Procedure Rule 31.3
above.

Where an invitation to tender for a contract is limited to Suppliers named
on the standing list maintained under this Contract Procedure Rule, an
invitation to tender for that contract shall be sent to at least four of the
Suppliers on the list. These Suppliers will be approved for a contract for
that value or amount or of that category, or, if there are fewer than four
such Suppliers, to all such Suppliers. If there are more than four
Suppliers, the Lead Officer responsible for the procurement in
consultation with the Treasurer, will select the Suppliers who will receive
invitations, and the manner in which they are sent. This will be either
generally or in relation to a particular contract or to a category of
contracts provided that the manner of selection shall include a system of
rotation from Suppliers appearing on the standing list.

Where the Lead Officer responsible for the procurement invites tenders
from a nationally procured and recognised alternative list of Suppliers,
s/he shall comply with any terms requiring a mini competition between
those Suppliers specified by the organisation who procured the list. In
the absence of such terms, so far as is reasonably possible, the Lead
Officer responsible for the procurement shall comply with Contract
Procedure Rule 31.5 above.

Nominated and named sub-contractors

If a sub-contractor, Supplier or sub-consultant is to be nominated or
named to a main contractor, quotations or tenders must be invited in
accordance with these Contract Procedure Rules and the terms of the
invitation shall be compatible with the main contract.

Framework agreements and dynamic purchasing systems

Framework agreements are used where the Authority wishes to contract
for the supply of supplies, services or works without conducting a new
procurement exercise. However, the framework agreement may include
within its terms a requirement for a mini competitive exercise between
those Suppliers who are parties to the framework agreements. Any
framework agreement shall be tendered in accordance with these
Contract Procedure Rules. Where the Authority has entered into a
framework agreement through procurement or is able to place orders
from existing framework agreements procured by central government
agencies, other local authorities, or other public bodies, then the Authority
may benefit from using those contracts without entering into a separate
procurement. A framework agreement shall not last for more than four
years. Legal advice should be sought before considering the award of a
contract using a frameworkpgrger@4t not procured directly by the



33.2

33.3

33.4

34.
34.1

34.2

35.
35.1

Authority.

A dynamic purchasing system shall be tendered in accordance with
Contract Procedure Rule 13 for an open procedure. Where a dynamic
purchasing system is established, the Authority must offer unrestricted,
direct and full access to the specification and to any additional documents
by electronic means from the date of publication of the contract notice to
the date when the dynamic purchasing system ceases. A dynamic
purchasing system shall not last for more than four years.

Any Supplier interested in joining a dynamic purchasing system, and
which meets the selection criteria, can submit an indicative tender setting
out terms for supplying the requirements. The Treasurer shall evaluate
the indicative tender within 15 days of the date of its submission and
must admit to the dynamic purchasing system any Supplier if the
indicative tender complies with the specification and any additional
documents. Once admitted to the dynamic purchasing system a Supplier
may improve an indicative tender at any time.

Any appropriate framework agreements or dynamic purchasing systems
in place shall be used regardless of value.

Letters of intent

Letters of intent shall only be used in exceptional circumstances as
follows:

(@)  where a Supplier is required to provide services, supplies, or
works prior to formal written acceptance by the Authority; or

(b)  where the Authority’s form of tender does not include a statement
that until such time as a formal contract is executed, the
Authority’s written acceptance of a tender or quotation shall bind
the parties into a contractual relationship.

Any such letters of intent shall be issued by the Treasurer, which may
allow a start upon the works or the ordering of services or supplies but
shall not permit any payments to be made thereunder except where such
payment shall not exceed a sum of £10,000 and that such payment shall
only be payable if the formal contract is not entered into. Where the
formal contract is entered into any such payment made under the letter of
intent shall be treated as a payment made under the formal contract.

Appointment and Role of consultants

Any consultants used by the Authority shall be appointed in accordance
with these Contract Procedure Rules. Where the Authority uses
consultants to act on its behalf in relation to any procurement, then the
Lead Officer responsible for the procurement shall ensure that the
consultants carry out any procurement in accordance with these Contract
Procedure Rules. No consultant shall make any decision on whether to
award a contract or who a contract should be awarded to. A consultant
may however form part of the Authority’s evaluation team and may score
tenders and/or quotations as if s/he were an officer of the Authority. The
Lead Officer responsible for tﬁ%ge:@ément shall ensure that the



36.
36.1

36.2

37.
37.1

38.
38.1

38.2

38.3

39.
39.1

40.
40.1

consultant’s performance is monitored and appropriate records are kept.
Statistical returns

The Authority shall make any statistical returns to government
departments for onward transmission to the European Commission
concerning the contracts awarded during the year under the EU
Regulations.

The Treasurer is responsible for these statistical returns and will make
the necessary arrangements for information to be collected annually.
Lead Officers shall provide all information which the Treasurer requires in
order to make such statistical return.

Damage to Authority property

In the event of Authority property being damaged by fire or other insured
peril and it is expedient in the Authority's interests not to proceed to effect
reinstatement of the property using normal procedures under these
Contract Procedure Rules, then upon the approval of the loss adjuster
acting for the Authority's insurers, the appropriate Lead Officer, in
consultation with the Treasurer, shall be authorised to accept the tender
of a person, being one of at least four persons who have been invited to
tender from the standing list of approved contractors under Contract
Procedure Rule 31.

Emergency procedures

In the event of circumstances rendering emergency measures necessary
which cannot expediently be approved through normal Authority
procedures, the appropriate Lead Officer and the Treasurer are
authorised, notwithstanding anything contained in the Authority's Contract
Procedure Rules or Financial Procedure Rules, to carry out or contract
for the immediate carrying out any necessary works or do anything else
necessary on behalf of the Authority.

In a continuing emergency any action taken or contract entered into shall
be reported to a Special Authority Meeting which shall take such action
as necessary to deal with the situation.

Prior to reference to the Authority, such exercise of emergency measures
shall be subject to a total limit of expenditure of £100,000 (excluding
VAT).

Waivers of Contract Procedure Rules

Waivers of any of these Contract Procedure Rules shall only be given in
exceptional circumstances. Waivers may not be made retrospectively. A
Lead Officer empowered to let a particular contract shall consult with the
Treasurer upon any proposal to waive these Contract Procedure Rules.
Waivers shall be reported in writing by the Lead Officer to the Treasurer
and the written report shall specify why the waiver was justified. A waiver
of these Contract Procedure Rules shall be approved by the Treasurer.

Non compliance and ratification

If it comes to notice of a Le%@f@c@ﬁhat there has been non compliance



40.2

with these Contract Procedure Rules in respect of any contract for which
s/he is responsible as the Lead Officer with responsibility for the
procurement, s/he shall without delay notify the Treasurer, who shall take
such action as s/he deems necessary.

Where these Contract Procedure Rules have not been complied with, the
decision to award a contract may be ratified by the Treasurer. Requests
for ratification shall be reported in writing by the Lead Officer to the
Treasurer and the report shall specify the circumstances relating to the
non compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules and why ratification
is requested. The Authority’s auditor shall be supplied with a copy of any
report seeking ratification.

Page 97



Definitions
“Annual Procurement Plan”

A plan identifying procurements (see Contract Procedure Rule 8.1) and other
major projects proposed by the Authority so that appropriate resources can be
identified and procured. It also provides a basis for Prior Information Notices and
other information provided to suppliers to give advance notice of bidding
opportunities.

“Contracts Register”

A register held and maintained by the Treasurer containing details of contracts
entered into by the Authority of whatever value.

“Dynamic Purchasing System”

A dynamic purchasing system is a completely electronic process for making
commonly used purchases, the characteristics of which are generally available
on the market and meet the requirements of the Authority. They are limited in
duration to four years. Throughout its validity it is open to any Supplier which
satisfies the selection criteria and has submitted an indicative tender that
complies with the specification.

“Electronic Auction”

A process involving an online auction presenting new prices, revised
downwards, and/or new values concerning certain elements of tenders, which
occur after an initial full evaluation of the tenders, enabling them to be ranked
using automatic evaluation methods.

“EU Regulations”

The UK regulations implementing the EU public procurement directives from
time to time.

“Framework Agreement”

An agreement which allows the Authority to place orders with a Supplier to
provide supplies, services, or works in accordance with the terms of the
agreement. The framework agreement itself usually constitutes a non-binding
offer with no obligations on the Authority to place orders with the Supplier. If the
Authority places an order with the Supplier a binding contract comes into being.
A framework agreement can be a binding agreement where it is executed as a
deed.

“Most Economically Advantageous Offer”

From the Authority’s perspective the most economically advantageous offer
from a Supplier assessed by reference to relevant evaluation criteria linked to
the subject matter of the contract in question for example, quality, price,
technical merit, aesthetic and functional characteristics, running costs, cost
effectiveness, after sales service and technical assistance, delivery date and
delivery period or period of completion, and social value.

“Supplier” Page 98



Any person or body of persons providing, or seeking to provide, supplies,
services, or works to the Authority.

Page 99



1.1

1.2

2.1

Land Procedure Rules

Application
These Land Procedure Rules apply where there is a land transaction.

The terms used within these rules, along with their meanings, are listed
below:-

(@) “land transaction” means the acquisition, disposal of, or other
dealing with land, whether or not buildings, plant and equipment,
fixtures and fittings or other assets are included in that transaction.
A transaction concerning only plant and equipment, fixtures and
fittings or other assets is not a land transaction;

(b)  “major disposal’ means a land transaction which consists of either
a disposal of the freehold where the consideration exceeds
£250,000 or the grant of a lease or licence where the rent exceeds
£50,000 per annum or where the premium exceeds £250,000;

(c) “the property procedures” means the procedures adopted by the
Authority from time to time (if any) in respect of the Authority’s
property; and

(d)  “best consideration” means the obligation to achieve a
consideration which is the best that can reasonably be obtained.

The Authority’s codes and protocols, and Contract Procedure Rules, shall
continue to apply to major disposals unless otherwise stated in, or
inconsistent with, the Land Procedure Rules. In these circumstances, the
Land Procedure Rules shall prevail. The Contract Procedure Rules are:

Rule 10 (Contracts Terms and Conditions)

Rule 11 (Bonds, Guarantees and Insurance)

Rule 19 (Submission and Opening of Tenders)

Rule 20 (Electronic Tendering and Quotations)

Rule 21 (Tender Evaluation and the Use of Electronic Auctions)
Rule 23 (Evaluation Team)

Rule 25 (Debriefing)

Rule 27 (Execution of Contracts)

Rule 30 (Records of Tenders and Contracts)

Rule 40 (Non-Compliance and Ratification)

Approval of Major Disposals

The principle and method of each major disposal must be approved by
the Authority, except that in the case of land held for transport functions,
the principle and method shall be approved by Merseytravel Committee.
When determining such matters, the Authority or Merseytravel Committee
(as appropriate) shall consider a report which:-

(@)  specifies the land @aggsn)())s@d of;



2.2

3.1

3.2

4.1

(b)  confirms whether the land has been declared surplus to the
Authority’s requirements;

(c) advises upon the proposed method of disposal, and provides the
reasons for selecting that method;

(d)  confirms whether or not the proposed method of disposal is likely
to achieve best consideration and, where other than open
competition is recommended, describes how this will be
satisfied/evidence; and

(e) in matters where it is proposed that the disposal should be for less
than best consideration, gives reasons for and against seeking
best consideration and specifies the relevant legal powers of the
Authority to accept less than best consideration.

In major disposals, where the approved method of disposal is the inviting
of formal tenders or informal offers, the disposal must be advertised in at
least one local newspaper circulating in the district and on the Authority’s
website. For major disposals, where the value of the land is estimated to
be greater than £500,000, it must also be advertised in at least one

specialist journal or publication circulating among people who are likely to
be interested in acquiring that land, as determined by the Authority.

Alteration to/errors in or late Formal Tenders and Informal Offers
Where
(@) there are alterations/errors in a tender; or

(b)  where a tender or offer is received late, or otherwise fails to
comply with the procedural requirements of these Land Procedure
Rules; and

(c) the Treasurer believes it is in the Authority’s best interests to
recommend acceptance of such alterations/errors, or to consider a
tender or offer which is received late or otherwise fails to comply
with the procedural requirements of these Land Procedure Rules,
and where in the opinion of the Treasurer it is possible that other
tenderers/offerors will otherwise be prejudiced,

then all tenderers/offerors shall be given the opportunity to re-submit their
tenders/offers within a timescale specified by the Treasurer.

Where, in accordance with Rule 3.1 above, the decision is made to ask
tenderers/offerors to re-submit their tenders/offers, the Treasurer shall
explain why the decision was made, supplying such additional
information as may be necessary (if any) to assist tenderers/offerors with
their re-submission.

Approval of Land Transactions other than Major Disposals

The principal terms of land transactions other than major disposals
(except where the approved method of disposal is by formal tender or
auction), must be approved by the Treasurer. When determining such
matters, the Treasurer shall confirm either that the consideration agreed
represents best consideration‘,:) @@afﬂ {d reasons for accepting less than



4.2

best consideration and the relevant legal powers of the Authority to do so.

The Treasurer may:

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

negotiate rent reviews for leases of land/premises and take
appropriate action to protect the Authority’s interest;

terminate licences, leases or tenancies of land or property taken
by the Authority which are no longer required;

consent to Land and Tenant protected renewals, the assignment,
underletting or change of use requests of leases granted by the
Authority and accept surrenders thereof;

appoint specialist valuers, where necessary, as provided within the
budget, provided that the total expenditure does not exceed
£50,000 in total,

grant or approve the entering into of any licences, tenancies and
leases provided that the term is not in excess of seven years less
one day duration and provided that no statutory protection
attaches;

grant appropriate licences to commercial advertisers for the
display of advertisements on the Authority properties;

accept display copy in accordance with the approved code of
advertising practice;

grant easements of a minor nature over Authority land;

serve notice of termination of tenancy under Part Il of the Landlord
and Tenant Act 1954 (as amended by the Law of Property Act
1969) and to apply to the County Court under Section 24(A) of the
1954 Act, in those cases where the Authority is prepared to grant a
new tenancy or lease and the service of such notice will expedite
negotiations; and

grant wayleaves for the laying of services under, on or through
land and premises owned by the Authority up to a maximum
premium of £50,000

Application of the Property Procedures

All land transactions must be conducted in accordance with the property
procedures.

The Treasurer shall keep a record of all land and buildings owned by the
Authority and shall be responsible for the safekeeping and retention of all
property deeds.

In relation to land and buildings, the Treasurer shall

Page 102



(d)

(e)
(f)

ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of the
Authority land are not allowed to take possession or enter the land
until a lease or agreement, in a form approved by the Monitoring
Officer, has been established as appropriate;

ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under
their control and take the appropriate action in any case where
security is thought to be defective or where it is considered that
special security arrangements may be needed;

identify land or buildings which are surplus to requirements;

ensure that no Authority-owned land or building is subject to
personal use or any other use other than in pursuance of approved
service delivery without proper authority and, where appropriate,
documentation identifying terms, responsibilities and duration of
use;

arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes; and

not dispose of any land or property without the involvement of the
Monitoring Officer.

Contractual Formalities

All contracts and other documentation for land transactions shall be in
writing, signed or sealed, as appropriate, as determined by the Authority.

Page 103



PART 7

Code of Conduct for Members

Part 1 General provisions

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

Introduction and interpretation

This Code applies to you as a Member of the Combined Authority (“the
Authority”).

It is your responsibility to comply with this Code. Failure to do so may
result in a sanction being applied by the Authority. Failure to take
appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest may result
in a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and /or disqualification
from office for a period of up to 5 years. In this Code - “meeting” means
any meeting of:

(@) the Authority; and

(b) any of the Authority’s Committees or Sub-Committees, Joint
Committees or Joint Sub-Committees;

“‘Member” includes a Member and a Substitute Member of the Authority
and a Co-opted Member.

Scope
Subject to sub-paragraphs 2.2 and 2.3, you must comply with this Code
whenever you are acting as a Member of the Authority and references to

your official capacity are construed accordingly.

This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than
where it is in your official capacity.

Where you act as a representative of the Authority on any other body,

you must, when acting for that other body, comply with this Code, except

and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that
other body may be subject.

General obligations

You must not:

(a) do anything which may knowingly cause the Authority to breach the
Equality Act 2010;

(b) bully or be abusive to any person;

(c) intimidate or attempﬂagﬁﬂiaﬂe any person who is or is likely to be:



(i) acomplainant,
(i) a witness, or
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings,

in relation to an allegation that a Member (including yourself) has
failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct; or

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Authority.

You must not:

(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to
be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where:

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;

(ii) you are required by law to do so;

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of
obtaining professional advice provided that the third party agrees
not to disclose the information to any other person; or

(iv) the disclosure is:

(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and

(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable
requirements of the Authority; or

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which
that person is entitled by law.

You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be
regarded as bringing your office or the Authority into disrepute.

You:

(@) must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly
to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage
or disadvantage; and

(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of
the Authority:

(i) act in accordance with the Authority’s reasonable requirements;
and

(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political
purposes (including party political purposes); and

Page 105



(c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity
made under the Local Government Act 1986

7. (1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any
relevant advice provided to you by

(a) The Authority’s Treasurer; or
(b) The Authority’s Monitoring Officer

where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her personal statutory
duties

(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any
statutory requirements and any reasonable additional requirements
imposed by the Authority.

Part 2 - Disclosable pecuniary interests
8. Notification of disclosable pecuniary interests

8.1  Within 28 days of becoming a Member of the Authority, you must notify
the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’.

8.2 A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your
partner if youare aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions
set out in the table below.

8.3  "Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are
living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are
civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, trade, | Any employment, office, trade, profession
profession or vocation or vocation carried on for profit or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the
Authority) made or provided within the
12 month period prior to notification of the
interest in respect of any expenses
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a
Member, or towards your election
expenses. This includes any payment or
financial benefit from a trade union within
the meaning of the Trade Union and
Labour Relations (Consolidation Act)
1992 (a)

Contracts Any contract which is made between you
or your partner (or a body in which you or
your partner has a beneficial interest) and

DA waority _
ma

vy 1TUv




8.4

Subject Description

(a) under which goods or services are to
be provided or works are to be executed;
and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is
within the area of the Authority

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to
occupy land in the area of the Authority
for a month or longer

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -
(a) the landlord is the Authority; and

(b) the tenant is a body in which you or
your partner has a beneficial interest

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a
body where —

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a
place of business or land in the area of
the Authority; and

(b) either —

(i) the total nominal value of the
securities exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

(i) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that class

For the purpose of the above —

(a) “a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest”
means a firm in which you or your partner is a partner or a body
corporate of which you or your partner is a director, or in the
securities of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest;

(b) "director" includes a member of the committee of management of
an industrial and provident society;

Page 107




9.1

10

10.1

"land" excludes an easement, interest or right in or over land
which does not carry with it a right for you or your partner (alone or
jointly) to occupy the land or receive income; and

"securities" means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan
stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the
meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and
other securities of any description, other than money deposited
with a building society.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

If you are present at a meeting of the Authority, or any Committee or
Sub-Committee of the Authority, and you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered or being considered at
the meeting,

1.

You must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the
meeting.

2. You must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the
meeting.

3. If the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest
to the meeting.

4. If the interest is registered you are also required by Authority
Procedure Rule 17 to disclose the interest to the meeting.

5. If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending
notification, you must notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of
the interest within 28 days.

6. You are also required by Authority Procedure Rule 17.4 to
withdraw from the room of the meeting while the matter is being
considered.

Offences

It is a criminal offence to

Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable
pecuniary interest within 28 days of appointment as a Member of
the Authority;

Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is
not on the Authority’s Register;

Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer within 28 days of
a disclosable pecuniary interest that is not on the Authority
Register that you have disclosed to a meeting;

Participate in any ﬁjacdési(mgr vote on a matter in which you



have a disclosable pecuniary interest;

Knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or
misleading in notifying the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of a
disclosable pecuniary interest or in disclosing such interest to a
meeting.

10.2 The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not
exceeding level 5 on the standard scale and disqualification from being
a councillor for up to 5 years.

Part 3 - Other interests

11

11.1

11.2

12

12.1

Notification of personal interests

In addition to the disclosable pecuniary interests notifiable under the
Localism Act 2011, you must -

(@)

within 2 months of your appointment as a Member of the
Authority (where that is later), notify the Authority’s Monitoring
Officer in writing of the details of your other personal interests,
where they fall within the categories set out in paragraph 11(2)
below for inclusion in the register of interests.

You have a personal interest in any business of the Authority
where it relates to or is likely to affect -

(@)

()

any body of which you are in a position of general control or
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by
the Authority;

any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;

(i)  directed to charitable purposes; or

(i)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of
public opinion or policy (including any political party or
trade union), of which you are a member or in a position of
general control or management;

the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift
or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £100.

Disclosure of interests

Subject to paragraphs 12.4 to 12.7, where you have a personal interest
described in paragraph 11.2 above or in paragraph 12.2 below in any
business of the LCRCA, and where you are aware or ought
reasonably to be aware of the existence of the personal interest, and
you attend a meeting of the Authority at which the business is
considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature
of that interest at the commw&a&eqb@ that consideration, or when



12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

12.6

12.7

13

13.1

the interest becomes apparent.

You also have a personal interest in any business of the Authority
where a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be
regarded as affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-
being or financial position of a relevant person to a greater extent than
the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of
the electoral ward(s) affected by the decision.

In paragraph 12.2, a relevant person is -

(@) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a
close association;

(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons,
any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they
are directors;

(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial
interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of
£25,000; or

(d) any body of a type described in paragraph 11.2(a) or (b).

Where you have a personal interest in any business of the
Authority which relates, to or is likely to affect, a body described in
paragraph 11.2(a) or 11.2(b)(i), you need only disclose to the meeting
the existence and nature of that interest when you address the meeting
on that business.

Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Authority
of the type mentioned in paragraph 11.2(c) (gifts and hospitality),
you need not disclose the nature or existence of that interest to the
meeting if the interest was registered more than three years before the
date of the meeting.

Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 16,
sensitive information relating to it is not registered in the Authority’s
Register of Members’ Interests, you must indicate to the meeting that
you have a personal interest, but need not disclose the sensitive
information to the meeting.

Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority
and you have made an executive decision in relation to that business,

you must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the
existence and nature of that interest.

Non participation in case of prejudicial interest

Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Authority
you also have a prejudi?;aéé{gerlefbin that business where the



13.2

13.3

13.4

interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the
relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is
likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where that
business —

(a) affects your financial position or the financial position of a person
or body described in paragraph 12.3; or

(b) relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence,
permission or registration in relation to you or any person or body
described in paragraph 12.3.

Subject to paragraphs 13.3 and 13.4, where you have a prejudicial
interest in any business of the Authority —

(@) You must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the
meeting.

(b) You must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the
meeting.

(c) If the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to
the meeting.

(d) If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending
notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest
within 28 days.

(e) You are also required by Authority Procedure Rule 17.4 to
withdraw from the room of the meeting while the matter is being
considered.

Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of the
Authority, you may attend a meeting but only for the purpose of
making representations, answering questions or giving evidence
relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to
attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory
right or otherwise and you leave the room where the meeting is held
immediately after making representations, answering questions or
giving evidence.

Subject to you disclosing the interest at the meeting, you may attend a
meeting and vote on a matter where you have a prejudicial interest that
relates to the functions of the Authority in respect of -

(a) school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a parent
or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent
governor of a school, unless it relates particularly to the school
which the child attends;

(b) statutory sick pay under Part Xl of the Social Security
Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt

of, or are entitled to thqjaﬁéotﬂ fuch pay; and



14

(c) any ceremonial honour given to Members.
Interests arising in relation to Scrutiny Panel

In any business before the Scrutiny Panel of the
Authority where —

(@) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or
not) or action taken by the Authority or another of the Authority’s
Committees or Sub-Committees; and

(b) atthe time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a
Member of the Authority, Committee or Sub-Committee
mentioned in paragraph (a) and you were present when that
decision was made or action was taken,

you may attend the meeting of the Scrutiny Panel for the purpose of
explaining the reasons for the decision, or answering questions or
giving evidence relating to the business, but you cannot participate
otherwise in the discussion or in any vote on the matter.

Part 4 - General Matters relating to Parts 2 and 3

15

16

17

Register of interests

Subject to paragraph 16 any disclosable pecuniary interests or
personal interests notified to the Authority’s Monitoring Officer will be
included in the Authority’s Register of interests. A copy of the
Register will be available for public inspection.

Sensitive interests

This paragraph applies where you consider that disclosure of the details
of a disclosable pecuniary interest could lead to you, or a person
connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the
Authority Monitoring Officer agrees. In these circumstances, if the
interest is entered on the Authority’s Register of interests, copies of the
Register that are made available for inspection and any published
version of the Register will exclude details of the interest, but may state
that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, the details of which are
withheld under Section 32(2) of the Localism Act 2011.

Dispensations
The Authority may grant you a dispensation to enable you to
participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable

pecuniary interest or a prejudicial interest. Any requests for a
dispensation must be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer.

Page 112



GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY GUIDANCE FOR MEMBERS

General Introduction

The Code of Conduct requires Members to notify the Monitoring Officer in
writing of any gift or hospitality he/she receives which may be to the value of
one hundred pounds or more (Part 3 11(c)). It is also a breach of the Code to
act in such a way as to bring the Authority into disrepute or for a member to
use his/her position as a member of the Authority improperly to confer on or
secure for him/herself or any other person advantage or disadvantage.

The following guidance aims to assist Members in complying with the Code of
Conduct for Members but it also goes beyond these basic provisions and
seeks to provide wider guidance so Members can avoid any situation where
their integrity may be brought into question as a result of gifts and hospitality.

Legal position

The Bribery Act 2010 provides that it is a criminal offence for a Member to
request, agree to receive, promise, offer or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or
advantage for doing anything or showing favour or disfavour to any person in
their official capacity. It is for the Member to demonstrate that any such
rewards have not been corruptly obtained.

Gifts and hospitality

Members are advised to treat with extreme caution any offer or gift, favour or
hospitality that is made personally to them. The person or organisation
making the offer may be doing business or seeking to do business with the
Authority or may be applying to the Authority for some sort of decision in
respect of which it is imperative that the member’s independence should not
be compromised.

The following rules should be applied:

A Member should refuse any gift offered to them or to an immediate relative of
the Member, by any person who has or may seek to have dealings with the
Authority. It is recommended that Members should notify the Monitoring
Officer of all such refusals as soon as reasonably practicable regardless of the
value of the offered gift (unless the gift falls within | or Il below). The
Monitoring Officer will maintain the register for this purpose.

The exceptions where it may be appropriate to accept a gift are set out below.
Members should note that the Code of Conduct for Members requires all gifts
and hospitality of one hundred pounds or more to be notified to the Monitoring
Officer, who will maintain a register for this purpose.

Page 113



The qift is of purely token, advertising value given to a wide range of
people, e.g. pens, key rings and other promotional items. As such
promotional gifts will usually be less than one hundred pounds in value
generally there will be no need to register but in cases of doubt Members
should err on the side of caution and register the gift.

Il. A small gift where refusal would cause needless offence and the giver is not
currently seeking a decision or business from the Authority. Again because
such gifts would be of a small value generally there will be no need to
register but in cases of doubt members should err on the side of caution and
register the gift.

Cash or monetary gifts should always be refused without exception and the refusal
notified to the Monitoring Officer as set out above.

Gifts given as prizes at exhibitions, conferences, seminars etc. as part of a free
raffle or draw may be accepted but they belong to the Authority and should be
registered with the Monitoring Officer as soon as reasonably practicable
(notwithstanding that their value may be less than the one hundred pounds
specified in the Code). The Monitoring Officer will determine whether it is
appropriate to retain the gift in question.

Whilst it may be acceptable to accept a token or small gift on one occasion
members should refuse repeated gifts, even if these are individually not of a
significant value.

Hospitality

It is increasingly the case that private companies offer hospitality e.g. free
drinks, tickets to shows or hotel accommodation to persons with whom they do
business or with whom they hope to do business in the future. Such hospitality
could convey the impression that Members’ judgment would be influenced. It
would however be too rigid to say that no hospitality can be accepted. Members
are reminded that any hospitality of one hundred pounds or more is required by the
Code of Conduct to be registered. However Members may wish to notify the
Monitoring Officer of hospitality offered but refused and hospitality which is less
than the one hundred pounds limit specified in the Code.

Some examples of hospitality which may be acceptable follow but much may
depend on the particular circumstances, for example who is providing the
hospitality, why the Member is there and the nature of the dealings between the
Authority, the Member and the provider of the hospitality:

. A working meal provided to allow parties to discuss or continue to
discuss business.

. An invitation to attend a dinner or function of a Society, Institute or
other non commercial body with whom the Authority has contact.

. Invitations to attend functions where the member represents the Authority

(opening ceremonies, public speaking events, conferences).

Page 114



Unacceptable hospitality

The following are examples of unacceptable hospitality:

. Holidays, including accommodation and travel arrangements.
. Offers of theatre tickets for the Member and his family or free travel.
. Personal invitations for evenings out with representatives from a company or

firm who have dealings with the Authority or who are likely to have dealings
in the future.

Members are again urged to err on the side of caution and if in any doubt as to the
integrity of the offer/invite, the Member should consult the Monitoring Officer or
refuse.

Notifications

Notifications of gifts and hospitality should be sent to the Monitoring Officer. A
form for this purpose is available from the Monitoring Officer.

The Register

The Register referred to in this protocol will be subject to scrutiny by the Standards
Committee and regular inspection by the Monitoring Officer. The Register of Gifts
and Hospitality of one hundred pounds or more should be available for public
inspection. For consistency, registrations as regards gifts and hospitality offered
and refused, or gifts and hospitality of a value less than one hundred pounds, will
also be available for public inspection.

Gifts which cannot be retained

Where the Monitoring Officer determines that it would not be appropriate for a
Member to retain a gift, that gift will be returned, utilised by the Authority or
otherwise donated to an appropriate charitable organisation as determined
appropriate by the Monitoring Officer.

Conclusion

Members are advised to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer in cases where
their position is unclear. Breaches of this guidance may result in a breach of the
Code of Conduct for Members. Breaches of this guidance which do not result in
a breach of the Code of Conduct will be reported by the Monitoring Officer to the
Standards Committee.

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 116



Operating Agreement

This Agreement is made on the day of April 2014 between:

(1)

2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
(0]

N N N~ o~

The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority (“the Authority”)

Halton Borough Council

Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council

Liverpool City Council

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council

St. Helens Borough Council

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council

collectively referred to as “the Constituent Councils”)

Recitals

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

On 1 April 2014 the Authority was established as a Combined Authority for the
area of the Constituent Councils and MITA was abolished.

The functions of the Authority are those functions conferred on it by the
Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority Order 2014 (“the Order”) or by any other enactment, including all the
functions of the MITA which transferred to the Authority on the abolition of the
MITA.

The functions of the Authority include those economic development and
regeneration functions set out in Schedule 2 of the Order, which are to be
exercised concurrently with the Constituent Councils.

The Constituent Councils were established as local authorities by statute with
all the functions of metropolitan or unitary district councils and in particular
they are, and continue to be, the local highway authority, local traffic and
street authority for their area.

The Parties wish to co-operate with each other in the exercise of their
functions and in particular their transport, economic development and
regeneration functions.

It is now agreed as follows:

1.

1.1

Definitions
In this Agreement:-

“the Authority” means the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens, Sefton and
Wirral Combined Authority;

Page 117



1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.1

1.12

1.13

1.14

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

“the Constituent Councils” mean the metropolitan district councils of Knowsley
Liverpool Sefton St. Helens and Wirral and the unitary district council of
Halton;

“the Order” means the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens, Sefton and
Wirral Combined Authority Order 2014;

“‘MITA” means the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority;
“the Constitution” means the constitution of the Authority;

“the LDEDCA 2009” means the Local Democracy Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009;

“the LGA 1972” means the Local Government Act 1972;

“the LGA 2000” means the Local Government Act 2000;

“the LGHA 1989” means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989;
“the Parties” mean the Authority and the Constituent Councils;

“the Merseytravel Committee” means the transport committee of the Authority
comprising co-opted members of the Constituent Councils;

“Merseytravel” means the Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive,which
is the executive body of the Authority pursuant to the Order for the purposes
of Part 5 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and Part 6 of the LDEDCA 2009;

“Protocols” mean the protocols to be entered into by the Parties as outlined in
this Agreement;

“the LEP” means the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership.
Interpretation

Clause, Schedule and paragraph headings shall not affect the interpretation of
this Agreement.

The Schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have effect as if set out
in full in the body of this Agreement. Any reference to this Agreement
includes the Schedules.

Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the
plural and in the plural shall include the singular.

A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended,
extended or re-enacted from time to time.

Page 118



2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all subordinate
legislation made from time to time.

A reference to “this Agreement” or to any other agreement or document
referred to in this Agreement is a reference to this Agreement orsuch other
document or agreement as varied from time to time.

References to Clauses and schedules are to the Clauses and Schedules of
this Agreementand references to paragraphs are to paragraphs of the relevant
Schedule.

No person other than a party to this Agreement shall have any rights to
enforce any term of this Agreement.

This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of, or in connection with,
it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the law of England and Wales.

If any court or competent authority finds that any provision of this Agreement
(or part of any provision) is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that provision or
part-provision shall, to the extent required, be deemed to be deleted, and the
validity and enforceability of the other provisions of this Agreement shall not

be affected.

The Authority

The Parties acknowledge that the legal and official title of the Authority is as
set out in 1.1 above.

The Parties agree that for public purposes the Authority shall be known as the
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.

The Parties will take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the Authority
is appropriately referred to in documentation and in any other sources of
information.

Establishment of the Merseytravel Committee

The Authority shall establish the Merseytravel Committee and for this purpose
shall co-opt a number of elected members from the Constituent Councils, for
the municipal year 2014/15, as follows:

Halton - two
Knowsley - two
Liverpool - six
Sefton - four
St. Helens - two
Wirral - four

Page 119



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

6.2

6.3

The Authority shall review the representation set out in Clause 4.1 before
30 April 2015 and the Constituent Councils shall nominate the number of
elected members as required by the Authority for subsequent municipal years.

A Constituent Council shall be entitled to remove or replace any of its
members of the Merseytravel Committee on written notification to the
Authority’s Head of Paid Service. The new appointment shall take effect and
the previous appointment shall terminate at the end of one week from the date
on which the notice is given (or such longer period not exceeding one month,
as specified in the notice).

Those Constituent Councils which appoint three or more elected members to
the Merseytravel Committee shall make those appointments in accordance
with the principles of political balance set out in the LGHA 1989.

Members of the Authority may not be members of the Merseytravel
Committee.

For the avoidance of doubt, the elected members co-opted onto the
Merseytravel Committee are not members of the Authority.

Terms of Reference of the Merseytravel Committee

The Authority shall determine the terms of reference of the Merseytravel
Committee in discharging any transport functions and shall set these out in
the Constitution.

The transport functions of the Authority comprise:

5.2.1 all the functions of MITA transferred to the Authority by the Order;

5.2.2 any function relating to transport conferred or imposed upon a
combined authority or the Authority specifically by any enactment;

5.2.3 the transport functions of Halton as set out in Article 8 of the Order.

In respect of those functions not delegated to the Merseytravel Committee or
Merseytravel, either body may make recommendations to the Authority.

The Merseytravel Committee — Other Provisions

The Merseytravel Committee may establish Sub-Committees with such
membership, terms of reference and delegations as it sees fit.

Appointments to Sub-Committees will be made in accordance with the
principles of political balance set out in Section 15(5) of the LGHA 1989.

The Merseytravel Committee (and its Sub-Committees) will transact its
business and discharge its functions in accordance with the Constitution.

Page 120



6.4

6.5

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.1

The Merseytravel Committee and any of its Sub-Committees may, in respect
of a function delegated to it by the Authority under Clause 5, arrange for its
discharge by an officer of one of the Constituent Councils or by Merseytravel.

The costs and liabilities incurred by the Merseytravel Committee shall be
defrayed by the Authority.

Protocols

The Parties have drawn up and agreed the Protocols set out in the Schedule
to this Agreement in relation to the discharge of the following functions of the
Authority:

Economic Development

Transport Strategy (to include the transitional arrangements in relation to
the transport functions of Halton)

Employment and Skills
Housing Strategy
European Programme
Accountable Body

The Protocols have also been agreed with the LEP as setting out appropriate
working arrangements by which those functions will be progressed for the
benefit of the Liverpool City Region and the Parties have authorised their
respective Chief Executive or Head of Paid Service to execute the Protocols
as agreements.

The Parties will keep the Protocols under regular review and may revise them
from time to time, such revisions to be agreed by the Chief Executives of the
Constituent Councils, the Head of Paid Service of the Authority.

Additional Protocols which are deemed appropriate to improve and enhance
the transport, economic development and regeneration functions may also be
agreed between the Parties by their respective Chief Executive or Head of
Paid Service who is authorised to execute such additional Protocols, unless
agreement is otherwise reserved to the Authority.

Protocols drawn up, agreed or revised under this clause shall not override
anything provided for or required under this Agreement.

Scrutiny Arrangements
The Authority will establish scrutiny arrangements to enable the Constituent

Councils to exercise an overview and scrutiny role in relation to the decisions
and activities of —

Page 121



8.2

9.1

9.2

9.3

10.

10.1

11.

11.1

12.

12.1

(@)  the Authority
(b)  the Merseytravel Committee
(c) Merseytravel

The scrutiny arrangements are set out in the Constitution and the Constituent
Councils will nominate the requisite number of elected members to give effect
to those arrangements.

Review of Arrangements

The parties will undertake, pursuant to Section 111 of the LDEDCA 2009, a
joint review of the matters set out in Clause 9.2 to be commenced, whichever
is the earlier of —

(a)  the fifth anniversary of the date of this Agreement; or

(b)  immediately after notice is given by a Constituent Council requesting a
joint review, provided that such notice is not given before the third
anniversary of the date of this Agreement.

The matters are —

(@) amatterin respect of which an order may be made under any of
sections 104 to 107 of the LDEDCA 2009

(b) a matter concerning the Authority which the authority has power to
determine

(c) any other matter contained in this Agreement

The provisions of this Clause are without prejudice to statutory rights of one or
more of the Parties to undertake their own review at any time.

Amendments to this Agreement

This Agreement may be amended following a resolution approved by all the
parties.

Dispute Resolution

Any dispute between the Parties arising out of this Agreement which cannot
be settled shall be referred to the Head of Paid Service of the parties to the
dispute, who will negotiate to resolve the matter in good faith.

Notices

Any notice, demand or other communication required to be served on the
Authority under this Agreement shall be sufficiently served if delivered
personally to, or sent by pre-paid first class recorded delivery post, or e-mail
transmission to the Authority’s Head of Paid Service. If so sent, any such
notice, demand or other communication shall, subject to proof to the contrary,
be deemed to have been received by the Head of Paid Service at the time of

Page 122



personal delivery or on the second working day after the date of posting or
transmission, as the case may be.

12.2 Any notice, demand or other communication required to be served on one or
more of the Constituent Councils under this Agreement shall be sufficiently
served if delivered personally to, or sent by pre-paid first class recorded
delivery post, or e-mail to the Monitoring Officer(s) of the Constituent
Council(s) concerned. If so sent, any such notice, demand or other
communication shall, subject to proof to the contrary, be deemed to have
been received by the Constituent Council(s) concerned at the time of personal
delivery or on the second working day after the date of posting or
transmission, as the case may be.

Page 123



The Schedule

The Protocols

Economic Development
Transport Strategy
Employment and Skills
Housing Strategy
European Programme

Accountable Body

Page 124



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROTOCOL

This Economic Development Protocol has been made on 2014
between:

1.0

2.0

(1) The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined

Authority (‘the CA’);

(2) The Borough Council of Halton Unitary Authority; The Metropolitan Borough

of Knowsley; The City of Liverpool; The Metropolitan Borough of Sefton;
The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens; The Metropolitan Borough of
Wirral (‘the Constituent Councils’); and

(3) The Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (‘the LEP’).

The purpose of this Protocol is to define the Economic Development functions
and set out the respective roles of the CA, the LEP and the Constituent
Councils in discharging those functions

BACKGROUND

The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
provides for the establishment of Combined Authorities with a remit around
economic development, regeneration and transport: it does not provide a
definition of economic development as this can vary in different areas
depending on local circumstances. Liverpool City Region has taken economic
development and regeneration to cover strategic activity related to business
support, inward investment, trade and export, strategic housing, and
employment and skills, in addition to the transport roles and functions being
considered.

The purpose of this Protocol is to set out the respective roles of the CA, the
LEP and the Constituent Councils in discharging the Strategic Economic
Development functional areas defined below. It is recognised however that
economic development and growth has a wider relationship with other areas
of activity of the CA. The strategic work of the CA in defining the overall
economic vision will inform the work and decision making of all areas of the
CA.

Such functions of the Constituent Councils as are exercisable for the purpose
of economic development and regeneration are exercisable in reliance on the
general power of competence under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011(b).

CURRENT ROLES OF LIVERPOOL CITY REGION LOCAL ENTERPRISE
PARTNERSHIP AND THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

Page 125



3.0

The Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) was formally
established in March 2012 as a partnership between businesses and Councils
in the City Region. A membership company exists with over 450 company
members. LEPs have been given a series of responsibilities by Government
that are economically strategic.

A series of defined working protocols will be developed between the
Constituent Councils and the LEP, in specific areas which will demonstrate
how the City Region will discharge economic functions and roles in a
complementary, non competitive way to ensure a collective approach to
economic growth and job creation.

FUNCTIONS AND ROLES OF THE CA, LEP AND CONSTITUENT
COUNCILS

The CA will be responsible for providing democratic and financial
accountability and together with the LEP, strategic leadership for economic
development within the Liverpool City Region. The LEP has been given a
series of responsibilities by Government that are economically strategic and
acts as the primary mechanism through which the private sector can influence
and support economic development in the Liverpool City Region. The CA will
support the implementation of those strategies and plans which it has
commissioned, within allocated resources. Responsibilities of the CA will
include (but not limited to):

e In partnership with the LEP, setting the strategic economic vision,
outcomes and aligning strategic priorities for the Liverpool City Region
including those relevant areas of Transport, Housing and Spatial Priorities
and Employment and Skills;

e Agreeing the Single Local Growth Plan developed by the LEP and
investment strategy to deliver the strategic economic vision and outcomes
and subsequent or related City Region wide strategies or frameworks;

e Developing and agreeing a pipeline of strategic projects/initiatives with the
LEP to attract financial and other support and be ready for new funding
calls;

¢ |n partnership with the LEP, agreeing the establishment, scope and scale
of any Single Investment Fund or Single Investment Fund approach which
the City Region is committed to achieving and which requires the
alignment of different funding streams. An element of this will be the EU
Programme funds for 2014-2020. A Protocol has been developed in
relation to the EU 2014-2020 programme which defines the European
programme functions and sets out the respective roles of the CA, the LEP
Board and Constituent Councils.

e Development of the single appraisal framework/process with regard to the
Single Investment Fund in consultation with the LEP.

e Making decisions in partnership with the LEP with regard to the Single
Investment Fund and other such funds which might be aligned with that
fund which may emerge.

Page 126



The functions to be undertaken by the LEP together with the CA are as
follows:

Develop City Region wide economic strategies in partnership with the
Constituent Councils and other partners in relation to the economic
development function, including, but not limited to, the Local Growth Plan,
2014-2020 EU Programme and Business Support Strategies;

Develop a single evidence base to support and inform strategic decision
making and the development of the City Region’s Local Growth Plan in
partnership with the Constituent Councils;

Supporting the development of the City Region’s Visitor and Conference
offer, working with key partners as appropriate;

To work with the CA to co-ordinate inward investment activity across the
Liverpool City Region subject to a Protocol between each of the
Constituent Councils in relation to the sharing of information, handling of
enquiries in particular in relation to how those relevant to their local area
should be taken forward;

To develop, with the private sector and the Constituent Councils, the
international economic strategy for the Liverpool City Region to cover
inward investment, trade and export, to particularly capture the benefits of
the International Festival of Business;

Lead the co-ordination of strategy and activity for place based marketing
across the Liverpool City Region through working collectively with the
Constituent Councils;

Working collectively with the Constituent Councils to develop a Business
Support strategy;

Working collectively with the Constituent Councils and other partners to
develop a prioritised pipeline of strategic projects for agreement by the CA,
Development of City Region wide funding bids as appropriate such as
Regional Growth Fund and any other relevant funding streams.

There are specific functions which Constituent Councils will continue to deliver
and retain authority and decision making powers including but not limited to:

Development of strategic pipeline of projects for their local areas;

Delivery of strategic and locally important sites;

Support for inward investment activity and international strategy in line with
the protocols referred to above; and

Development and delivery of Enterprise Zones as appropriate, working
with the LEP to liaise appropriately with Government.

More broadly, the role of individual Constituent Councils should include the
following:

Working with the LEP, lead local partnerships and dialogues with business
based in their area;
Support the work of the CA and LEP by:

Page 127



o Feeding back their local knowledge and needs to inform the
Liverpool City Region strategic overview and monitoring of
economic conditions of the area;

o Providing membership and expertise to the CA, the LEP and Sector
Committees.

4.0 DISCHARGING THE STRATEGIC ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUNCTION

The proposal to establish a CA sets out the added value of the CA in terms of
effectiveness and efficiencies. The joint and inclusive approach taken to include
the Chair of the LEP on the CA and the continued membership of the Mayor
and Local Authority leaders on the LEP Board, provide a unified decision
making platform which binds public and private sector together in the decision
making processes.

In order to be effective the CA must lead to greater effectiveness in the delivery
of economic development which will be shown by increased economic growth,
investment and job creation. This will be achieved through a collaborative
approach to delivery which defines the benefits at the City Region level
regardless of specific locality issues.

The Local Authority/LEP partnership approach to economic development will
remain and will be strengthened through the new governance arrangements
and commitments to develop City Region priorities for investment and align
funding resources, appraisal and decision making.

Clarity of roles and the delivery approach in those areas where the City Region
will act together will be achieved through a series of protocols in the areas of
inward investment, business support and the international strategy. Place
based marketing has already provided a model to demonstrate how the City
Region can work together in such a joint approach.

The CA is committed to the establishment of a Single Investment Programme
made up of different funding streams. These funding streams will be aligned
and a joint approach to appraisal taken to achieve the best use of resources
across the City Region. Constituent Councils and the LEP will work
collaboratively to develop an agreed strategic pipeline of projects against a
defined investment and appraisal framework.

Page 128



TRANSPORT STRATEGY PROTOCOL

This Transport Strategy Protocol has been made on 2014
between:

1.0

2.0

(1) The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral
Combined Authority (‘the CA’);

(2) The Borough Council of Halton Unitary Authority; The Metropolitan
Borough of Knowsley; The City of Liverpool; The Metropolitan Borough
of Sefton; The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens; The Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral (‘the Constituent Councils’); and

(3) The Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (‘the LEP’).

BACKGROUND

Transport and connectivity are also essential components of the Liverpool City
Region’s objectives around economic growth, skills, housing, regeneration
and the transition to a low carbon economy. Good connectivity between
areas of new housing, schools, colleges, employment facilities and community
facilities is a long standing priority for the City Region, recognising the
entrenched problems of worklessness and deprivation in significant parts of
the City Region.

Transport barriers contribute to worklessness and social exclusion, and
conversely, improved transport and access boosts economic prosperity,
economic activity levels, health and social inclusion. Similarly, congestion
acts as a disincentive to inward investment and acts as a drain on business,
hence the importance in encouraging a shift to walking, cycling and greater
public transport use. An effective and efficient road and rail freight network is
also of critical importance to the City Region, linked to its objectives relating to
the SuperPort transformational activity, in particular.

The statutory Local Transport Plan (LTP) for Merseyside, and the aligned LTP
for Halton, seek to ensure that transport supports economic growth across the
Liverpool City Region. These plans reflect the economic ‘enabling’ nature of
transport.

Transport is a core component of the Growth Deal process, which also

identifies a list of major transport schemes, agreed originally by the Local
Transport Body in July 2013.

CURRENT ROLES OF LIVERPOOL CITY REGION TRANSPORT BODIES

Page 129



3.0

The current approach to transport governance is complex, both operationally
and contractually, with powers vested across Halton BC, the Merseyside
Integrated Transport Authority, the Merseyside Passenger Transport
Executive, the City Region Local Transport Body and the Merseyside Local
Authorities. The City Region Cabinet also has a non-statutory advisory role in
relation to transport.

This splitting of powers and functions presents a challenging landscape for co-
ordinated, long term delivery.

The principal legal powers and responsibilities vested with the existing bodies
are identified within the following background papers:-

gij fiw, =

CA Legislation v3_13 Transport embeded
08 13-DfT copy.doc file.docx

ROLES OF CA, THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS AND THE LEP

The complexities outlined in (2.0) above necessitate a staged approach in the
transition from the current arrangements to a position whereby the CA will
exercise its full range of duties and responsibilities. This will entail a process
extending beyond the CA’s commencement date of 1 April 2014.

The Schedule attached to this Protocol identifies how planning and delivery
arrangements will work within Halton BC and Merseyside during the
transitional period.

The creation of the CA involves the transfer of local transport authority powers
from Halton BC and the Integrated Transport Authority (ITA) to the CA. The
CA will be the strategic body that sets the strategic transport agenda,
allocates funding, and makes the links to other policy areas. The ITA will be
abolished and all of the ITA’s existing powers, responsibilities and assets will
also transfer to the CA.

The Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive will remain as the CA’s
executive body, and will be known as “Merseytravel”’, with a City Region wide
remit. It will maintain its existing Passenger Transport Executive powers and
other powers needed to deliver the CA’s transport agenda. Its staffing
function will largely be funded through the CA’s levy as per current
arrangements.

The CA will have a statutory responsibility for developing a Local Transport
Plan, under section 108 of the Transport Act 2000. In the immediate term, the
Local Transport Plans for Merseyside and Halton will continue to provide a
strategic monitoring and performance framework for the 2014/15 financial
year, this being the final implementation year of the current plans.

Page 130



The CA will assume all of the ITA’s current powers, responsibilities and assets
and also the Local Transport Authority powers of Halton BC. It will be
responsible for transport policy and strategy and agreeing the City Region’s
transport agenda.

Specific Halton BC powers will also transfer to the CA, such as those in
respect of the procurement of supported bus services, though in practice,
these will remain the responsibility of Halton BC during the CA’s transitional
period: the specific responsibilities in the transitional period are set out in the
schedule to this operational Protocol.

Enabling powers are contained within the Orders that could allow the CA to be
responsible for a defined strategic highway network on routes which are
economically and environmentally important for the City Region. This will be a
transitional process, with no expectation that this function would take effect
from April 2014. This power would enable the CA to act as a Highway, Traffic
and Street Authority as and when the CA Members agree. It would cover a
strategic network that would be defined and agreed by the CA. At this point in
time this would purely be an enabling provision and there is no compulsion on
any of the individual Highway Authorities to transfer any routes into a Strategic
Network.

The CA will become the levying body for transport revenue spend, in place of
the ITA. A differential levy will be introduced from the outset recognising the
different costs associated with transport provision between the Merseyside
ITA Councils and Halton BC, and the need for a levy to be phased in. From
April 2015, the CA will have responsibilities for managing formulaic transport
funding allocations from the Department for Transport in the form of the
Integrated Transport Block and Highways Maintenance allocation.

The City Region’s Local Transport Body function will pass to the CA. The
current LTB is responsible for taking decisions on major transport schemes. A
revised Assurance Framework will be required to aid the transfer of this
function. The LTB will be formally disestablished and its functions transferred
to the CA.

A Transport Committee will be established, taking the form of a Committee of
the CA. It will report to the CA and will comprise 18 Merseyside members, as
now, plus 2 additional members from Halton BC, creating a Committee of 20
members in total. It will be known as the “Merseytravel Committee”. This
arrangement will be reviewed during 2014/15.

Merseytravel, as an officer-level delivery body, will also have a scheme of
delegation from the CA to oversee specific activities and functions.

The local authority partnership approach to transport across the City Region
will remain, and will be strengthened through the new governance
arrangements, by virtue of greater scope to pool resources around agreed
priorities and objectives, irrespective of their geographic location. The
Transport Advisory Group (TAG) will support the transport agenda at an

Page 131



officer level, and will help to provide technical advice and recommendations to
the CA or to its transport committee.

Transport officials will help to make links with other thematic groups, such as
the Housing and Spatial Planning Board and the Employment and Skills
Board, to secure integration between the various policy strands.

The creation of the CA will simplify transport planning, decision-making and
delivery structures. It will also integrate transport decision-making with
decision-making around economic growth, housing and employment and
skills. It also provides an effective mechanism by which to integrate and
maximise funding sources.

Page 132



SCHEDULE

The transition of transport functions across the Liverpool City Region

Transport function /
responsibility

Approach to delivery during transitional period

From 1% April 2014

From 1° April 2015

From 1% April 2018

Develop statutory Local
Transport Plan (LTP)

Existing Halton LTP to remain in force to
guide development and investment
priorities within the borough.

The Merseyside LTP and its supporting
associated policy documents (e.g. park
and ride and school travel) would continue
to govern decisions across Merseyside.
Extant supporting policies in Halton would
prevail.

Implementation plans for both LTPs run
until end of 2014/15 financial year.

Existing Merseyside and Halton
LTPs incorporated into a single plan,
with a new LCR-wide 3 / 6 year
implementation plan, to take effect
from April 2015.

CA responsible for agreeing plans
and funding priorities, aided by the
Transport Committee (Merseytravel
Committee).

As per 2015 conventions.

Any subsequent review of the LTP would
be at an LCR-wide level.

o
Q

Q
)
W
L2

nsport policy decisions

Transport planning and other local
transport authority functions (e.g. freight,
strategic funding decisions, co-ordination
of bids) would pass to CA and the
Merseytravel Committee.

Halton BC to have two representatives on
the Merseytravel committee.

Merseytravel staff to provide support
across LCR, in addition to Merseyside.

Policy decisions affecting the Mersey
Gateway and Silver Jubilee Bridge would
remain the responsibility of Halton BC.

As per April 2014 conventions.

Transport Committee to be
reviewed, as per agreement to date
by Leaders.

As per April 2014 conventions.




Transport function /
responsibility

Approach to delivery during transitional period

From 1% April 2014

From 1 April 2015

From 1% April 2018

Set and receive the
transport levy

v ebed

No change.

No Combined Authority levy will be paid by
Halton BC for 2014/15.

Passenger transport services in Halton BC
paid from existing Halton BC revenue
budgets, as set by Halton BC before end
of 2013/14 financial year.

Informal balancing payments from Halton
BC to CA or CA to Halton if necessary

No change.

No CA levy will be paid by Halton for
2015/16.

Process of scoping transitional levy
to be at an advanced stage,
identifying service enhancements
sought and the associated costs.

Informal balancing payments from
Halton BC to CA or CA to Halton BC
if necessary

Differential levy is paid to CA, in

accordance with agreed scope, to allow
enhanced and consistent transport

services to be provided across the LCR.

Receive and allocate
Integrated Transport Block
(ITB) and Highways
Maintenance (HM) funding
from DfT

Funding for 2014/15 will be paid to Halton
BC at the following agreed levels:-

e ITB-£1,020k
e HM-£1,816k

Halton BC will manage this funding as part
of its capital programme. A contribution
will be made by Halton BC to support the
cost of shared transport monitoring and
modelling activities across the LCR.

Merseyside to receive separate funding
allocation, redistributed in accordance with
a formula agreed by the ITA in January

Expectation that CA will receive and
manage a single LCR-wide ITB and
HM funding allocation from 2015/16
onwards, and be responsible for
prioritisation and allocation of
funding.

As per 2015 conventions, unless
formulaic funding arrangements are
changed by DfT.




Transport function /
responsibility

Approach to delivery during transitional period

From 1% April 2014

From 1 April 2015

From 1% April 2018

2013.

In early spring 2014 DfT will confirm
allocations for the three year period from
2015/16 to 2017/18, with indicative
allocations for 2018/19 to 2020/21.

Manage concessionary
travel arrangements (i.e.
concessions for older and
disabled people)

Ge| ebed

No change.

Halton BC to remain part of Cheshire
concessionary travel scheme, and operate
in accordance with current scheme.

No change, though consideration to
be given to termination of Halton
BC’s membership of Cheshire
concessionary travel scheme.

Consideration given to introduction
of “top up” arrangement for Halton
BC concessionary pass holders, to
allow travel on LCR-wide rail
services in addition to (minimum
statutory) bus services. Top-up to
be funded through Halton BC
revenue support.

A new concessionary travel scheme to
be in place, to provide consistent
concessionary travel offer, on terms
agreed by the CA and funded through
the levy.

Manage and fund supported
bus services

No change.

Supported bus services in Halton procured
and funded by officers at Halton BC,
facilitated by appropriate scheme of
delegation. This will be funded from HBC
revenues.

Merseytravel would procure Merseyside
supported bus services, funded from levy.

No change from April 2014
approach.

Bus service reviews across
Merseyside and Halton BC to be
carried out jointly.

All bus services commissioned and
procured centrally by CA on behalf of the
CA and funded by the levy.

CA Supported Bus Service Policy
adopted

Review of community transport provision
and services




Transport function /
responsibility

Approach to delivery during transitional period

From 1% April 2014

From 1 April 2015

From 1% April 2018

9¢| ebed

Halton residents would continue to benefit
from Halton Community Transport (HCT)
dial-a-ride services, with Merseylink
remaining a Merseyside-only service.

New supported bus policy for Merseyside
would become the responsibility of the CA
(e.g. non-statutory home to school travel,
demand responsive transport, bus subsidy
criteria). Common Supported Bus Service
policy for the CA to be developed.

CA to commission a revised bus tendering
policy framework for the LCR. This will
include a review of the Merseylink DRT
service, which is currently Merseyside-
only.

Provide passenger

transport infrastructure (e.g.

bus shelters, bus shelter
information, real time
information, rail stations)

No change.

Halton BC would remain responsible for
existing bus shelter maintenance
contracts, bus shelter installation, bus
stations and information provision across
the borough.

Roll-out of Merseytravel standard,
branded bus shelters across Halton
BC, starting with key cross-boundary
bus routes (e.g. 82, 61 and 14
services).

To be funded from CA’s ITB
allocation.

Replacement of all Halton BC bus
shelters to Merseytravel-branded
standard, with associated timetable
displays, supported by a single LCR-
wide maintenance contract

Real time bus information equipment /
displays / compatibility would be
introduced into Halton, as part of roll-out
of emerging Merseyside RTI systems.

Widnes and Runcorn East rail stations
upgraded to ‘Merseyrail’ design and
accessibility standards, with consistent
branding and comparable staffing




Transport function /
responsibility

Approach to delivery during transitional period

From 1% April 2014

From 1 April 2015

From 1% April 2018

arrangements.

Consideration given to management and
staffing of Widnes and Runcorn bus
stations to a Merseytravel standard, with
consistent branding.

Capital works funded from CA’s ITB
allocation, with revenue support from the
levy.

Provide customer
information (e.g. Traveline
information service and bus
and rail timetables)

/€| abed

No change.

Halton to remain part of Cheshire
Traveline scheme and call centre
arrangement, with weekend and evening
calls taken by Merseytravel, as per
existing conventions.

Halton BC to maintain and publish
Runcorn and Widnes bus maps.

Merseytravel timetables to remain
Merseyside-only.

Roll-out the production of bus and
rail timetables in a ‘Merseytravel’
format across Halton. Halton travel
information made available on
Merseytravel's website.

Secure agreement for migration of
Halton Traveline calls from Cheshire
to Merseytravel call centre.

Traveline functions for Halton to migrate
from Cheshire to Merseyside, funded
from the levy.

All LCR-wide travel information available
on Merseytravel website in a consistent
format.

Administer multi modal /
multi-operator pre-paid
tickets

No change.

Halton BC has no pre-paid ticketing
scheme, other than commercial ticketing
schemes managed by individual bus
companies.

Merseytravel pre-paid ticketing to remain
Merseyside only, and not valid within
Halton.

Ensure that Merseyside ticketing
review covers the full geography of
the LCR and plans for the rollout of
Merseyside pre-paid ticketing to
Halton.

Consistent LCR-wide pre-paid multi-
modal ticketing scheme in place, linked
to Walrus or equivalent platform.




Transport function /
responsibility

Approach to delivery during transitional period

From 1% April 2014

From 1 April 2015

From 1% April 2018

Strategic highways powers

No change.

Halton BC remains responsible for all
highways across the borough, including
the Mersey Gateway and Silver Jubilee
Bridge and their defined approaches.

No change.

Halton BC remains responsible for
all highways across the borough,
including the Mersey Gateway and
Silver Jubilee Bridge and their

defined approaches.

CA and constituent authorities to agree
scope, implications and management of
strategic highway network by this date.

Halton BC remains responsible for
Mersey Gateway and Silver Jubilee
Bridge highway and their defined
approaches

Ownership of Halton
Borough Transport (bus
company)

o

No change.

Halton Borough Transport to remain an independent bus operator, partly owned by Halton BC, at arm’s length from local
authority control, as per 1985 Transport Act provisions.

| powers, duties,
sponsibilities and
obligations relating to
Mzrsey Gateway and Silver
Rilee Bridges, and their
defined approaches

No change.




EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PROTOCOL

This Employment and Skills Protocol has been made on 2014
between:

(1) The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority (‘the CA’);

(2) The Borough Council of Halton Unitary Authority; The Metropolitan Borough
of Knowsley; The City of Liverpool; The Metropolitan Borough of Sefton;

The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens; The Metropolitan Borough of
Wirral (‘the Constituent Councils’); and

(3) Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (‘the LEP’).

1.0 BACKGROUND

The Order that establishes the CA provides that the functions of the
Constituent Councils in relation to economic development and regeneration
are exercisable in reliance on the general power of competence as set out in
section one of the Localism Act 2011. It is under this general power that the
Councils undertake Employment and Skills activity and under which the CA
will discharge employment and skills functions.

In addition, the Constituent Councils have duties under sections 15ZA, 15ZB,
15ZC, 17A, 18A(1)(b), of the Education Act 1996(d) and the power under
sections 514A and 560A of that Act which will be exercised concurrently with
the CA, with the CA being able to take a wider labour market view of the issue
that individual Councils are unable to do independently of each other.

The purpose of this Protocol is to set out the respective roles of the CA and
the Constituent Councils in discharging functions around employment and
skills. This Protocol also sets out the respective roles of the CA and the
Constituent Councils in the production of the Liverpool City Region
Employment and Skills Strategy and Skills for Growth Annual Reports.

2.0 CURRENT ROLES OF LIVERPOOL CITY REGION EMPLOYMENT AND
SKILLS AND THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

Liverpool City Region has been working together formally on employment and
skills matters since 2007, with the City Employment Strategy acting as a
catalyst for this activity. This led to the establishment of the Employment and
Skills Board in March 2010 and subsequent adoption of ‘transform, compete,
thrive’, the City Region’s 10 year Employment and Skills Strategy later in
2010. The Board has been responsible for managing £70m external
investments, supporting over 10,000 people into work and many more tens of
thousands into Apprenticeships and other training programmes. The Board
has also led the advocacy for and development of new areas of

Page 139



3.0

implementation, such as the Skills for Growth Bank and the Payment by
Results for Adult Skills. The Board is supported by a range of officer groups,
which are integrated within the wider CA governance arrangements. There is
a clear sense around the strategic leadership of employment and skills
provided by the Employment and Skills Board across the City Region as a
whole, which complements the detailed Borough level work undertaken by
Constituent Councils.

The Constituent Councils have been effectively discharging their duties in
supporting young people past the compulsory school age into suitable
employment and learning opportunities and there has been informal
collaboration between them on this. The new tracking service provides the
opportunity for Constituent Councils and the CA to take a wider labour market
view of the support available for young people.

ROLES OF CA AND THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

The CA will be responsible for providing democratic accountability and
strategic leadership to the employment and skills system within the Liverpool
City Region. Responsibilities of the CA will focus on final agreement in
relation to strategy, resources and risk and will include but not limited to:

e Setting the long-term Employment and Skills Strategy and priorities for the
labour market.

There are specific functions that the CA will commission the Employment and
Skills Board to deliver, and this will include:

e Developing the long-term Employment and Skills Strategy and priorities for
the labour market;

e Securing and managing additional resources to meet the Board’s priorities;

e More effective and efficient targeting of employment and skills resources

to meet shared priorities, including the potential to align funding sources in

a Community Budget approach;

Strengthened accountability of mainstream provision;

Tackling specific shared skills challenges and barriers to employment;

Promoting lifelong learning;

Identifying specific barriers to jobs and learning then working across

delivery bodies to ensure that these are minimised;

e Developing new options for service delivery and advocating these with
national decision makers;

e Scanning the horizon to understand the future needs of businesses and
sectors and to communicate these effectively to residents, schools,
colleges, learning providers and universities;

e Working with national partners (e.g. Skills Funding Agency, Education
Funding Agency, Jobcentre Plus) to inform the strategic overview of
provision and ensure that it meets the needs of businesses and learners;

Page 140



e Co-ordinating the approach to Skills Capital to ensure that proposals are in
line with City Region priorities;

e Seeking further devolution and local control over employment and skills
programmes and investments where appropriate; and

e Working alongside Constituent Councils on the duty to record and report
the education, training and employment status of their 16-18 year old
residents.

The CA will be responsible for the future production, monitoring and updating
of the City Region’s Employment and Skills Strategy and Annual Skills for
Growth Reports. This will be delegated to the Liverpool City Region
Employment and Skills Board and co-ordinated through its supporting
governance structure.

The role of individual Constituent Councils should include the following:

e Lead local partnerships and dialogues with businesses, colleges and
providers based in their area;
e Support the work of the Employment and Skills Board by:
o Feeding back their local knowledge and needs to inform the
Liverpool City Region Employment and Skills Strategy, Skills for
Growth Agreements and monitoring of performance; and
o Providing membership and expertise to the Employment and Skills
Board and Sub-Groups where appropriate.

The role of the LEP should include:

e Providing expertise and experience from the business community to inform
the Liverpool City Region Employment and Skills Strategy and Skills for
Growth Agreements; and

e Providing membership and expertise to the Employment and Skills Board
and Sub-Groups where appropriate.

Page 141



HOUSING STRATEGY PROTOCOL

This Housing Strategy Protocol has been made on April 2014
between:

(1) The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority (‘the CA’);

(2) The Borough Council of Halton Unitary Authority; The Metropolitan Borough
of Knowsley; The City of Liverpool; The Metropolitan Borough of Sefton;
The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens; The Metropolitan Borough of
Wirral (‘the Constituent Councils’); and

(3)The Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (‘The LEP’).

1.0 BACKGROUND

The Order that establishes the CA provides that the duty under Section 8(1) of
the Housing Act 1985 (the duty of local housing authorities to consider
housing conditions in their district and the needs of the district with respect to
the provision of further housing accommodation) is to be exercised by the CA
concurrently with the Constituent Councils.

Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 (‘HA 1985’) provides that:

(1) Every local housing authority shall consider housing conditions in their
district and the needs of the district with respect to the provision of further
housing accommodation.

(2) For that purpose, the authority shall review any information that has been
brought to their notice, including, information brought to their notice as a
result of the consideration of the housing conditions in their district under
Section 3 of the Housing Act 2004.

Section 3 of the Housing Act 2004 (‘HA 2004’) provides that:

(1) A local housing authority must keep the housing conditions in their area
under review with a view to identifying any action that may need to be
taken by them under any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2).

(2) The provisions are —

(a) The following provisions of this Act
(i) This part
(ii) Part 2 (licensing of HMOs)
(iii) Part 3 (selective licensing of other houses), and
(iv) Chapters 1 and 2 of Part 4 (management orders);

(b) Part 9 of the Housing Act 1985 (demolition orders and slum clearance);

Page 142



2.0

3.0

(c) Part 7 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (renewal areas);
and

(d) Article 3 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and
Wales) Order 2002 (s.1 2002/1860)

(3) For the purpose of carrying out their duty under subsection (1) a local
housing authority and their offices must —

(a) Comply with any directions that may be given by the appropriate
national authority, and

(b) Keep such records, and supply the appropriate national authority with
such information as that authority may specify.

The purpose of this Protocol is to set out the respective roles of the CA and
the Constituent Councils in discharging the function in relation to the duty to
consider housing conditions in their district with respect to the provision of
further housing accommodation pursuant to Section 8(1) of the Housing Act
1985. This Protocol also sets out the respective roles of the CA and the
Constituent Councils in the production of the Liverpool City Region Local
Investment Plan and Strategy.

CURRENT ROLES OF LIVERPOOL CITY REGION HOUSING GROUP AND
THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

Since 2007 the Constituent Councils have produced a single Local Housing
Investment Plan, which pulls together the six district housing strategies and
identifies the sub regional priorities. Through this collaborative working the
City Region has made good progress in improving housing conditions and
providing new and affordable housing.

On 18 October 2013, the City Region Cabinet approved the Local Investment
Plan for housing and key sites, and this strategy was ratified by the LEP.

The duties set out in Section 3 of the Housing Act 2004, (information derived
from which informs both the Housing Strategies produced pursuant to Section
8 of the Housing Act 1985 by the Constituent Council), are discharged by the
individual Constituent Councils.

ROLES OF CA, THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS AND THE LIVERPOOL
CITY REGION CABINET

The CA will be responsible for the future production, monitoring and updating
of the Local Investment Plan. This will be co-ordinated through the | City
Region Housing and Spatial Planning Co-ordinating Group.

Page 143



The Local Investment Plan will be informed by information provided by the
Constituent Councils, including:

e Information brought to their notice as a result of the consideration of
the housing conditions in their district under Section 3 of the Housing
Act 2004; and

e Information regarding

- Public and private land supply.

- Affordable housing completions.

- Housing stock conditions.

- Length of social housing waiting list.
- Levels of homelessness.

The Constituent Councils will have regard for the housing conditions in each
district pursuant to Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 (‘HA 198%5’)

The Constituent Councils will continue to co-operate with the CA in providing
any information held by the Individual Council, that is required by the LCR
Housing and Spatial Planning Co-ordinating Group for the production,
delivery, monitoring and updating of the LCR Local Investment Plan.

The Constituent Councils will retain responsibility for discharging duties of
Section 3 of the Housing Act 2004.

Page 144



EUROPEAN PROGRAMME PROTOCOL

This European Programme Protocol has been made on 2014
between:

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

2.0

2.1

2.2

(1) The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined
Authority (‘the CA’);

(2) The Borough of Halton Unitary Authority; The Metropolitan Borough of
Knowsley; The City of Liverpool; The Metropolitan Borough of Sefton;
The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens; The Metropolitan Borough of
Wirral (‘the Constituent Councils’); and

(3) The Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (‘the LEP’).
The purpose of this Protocol is to define the European Programme functions

and set out the respective roles of the CA, the LEP and the Constituent
Councils in discharging those functions.

BACKGROUND

The Liverpool City Region European Programme 2014-2020 is a key
component to growing our business and supporting more people into jobs
over the next seven years.

Government has given the strategic responsibility for a large part of the new
round of European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) 2014-2020 to the
Local Enterprise Partnerships.

The CA will work in support with the LEP and Government to deliver the EU

Programme 2014-2020 and will scrutinise performance and expenditure.

FUNCTIONS AND ROLES OF THE COMBINED AUTHORITY, LEP AND
CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

The current governance structure of the Merseyside EU Programme 2007-
2013 is managed locally by a sub-committee of the regional Local
Management Committee (LMC). This Sub-Committee supports and advises
the LMC in discharging some of its responsibilities specifically in the role of
strategic development and review of the programme in the Merseyside
Phasing in area.

Arrangements are currently in place to ensure that any European resources

attributed to Halton complement the Merseyside Phasing in area/transition
area.

Page 145



3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

4.0

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

CURRENT ROLES OF LIVERPOOL CITY REGION LOCAL ENTERPRISE
PARTNERSHIP AND CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

The LEP is responsible for overseeing the delivery of the European
Programme 2014-2020 in the City Region.

The CA will fulfil any responsibilities or tasks delegated by Government in
their capacity as Managing Authority for EU Structural Funds to the CA.
These duties have yet to be determined but may include the following
responsibilities.

The commissioning criteria for projects for the European Programme will be
determined in accordance with the EU Programme Rules and Regulations.

Working with Government as they develop national arrangements, the
implementation of calls for bids processes, will be developed in line with the
Liverpool City Region strategic investment priorities.

A robust project appraisal/programme management processes will be
implemented, working with CLG as they develop national arrangements and
will report regularly on programme performance to the CA.

The City Region European Board will, subject to national arrangements,
recommend projects for approval and will defer projects for further
development and seek clarification and/or reject projects transparently.

The CA and LEP will robustly review/scrutinise the EU Programme
performance, ensuring ESIF targets and strategic objectives of the City
Region are met through the efficient delivery of EU projects, including relevant
‘Financial Instruments’.

DISCHARGING THE EUROPEAN PROGRAMME FUNCTION

The Liverpool City Region European Programme (2014-2020) has been
developed by the LEP in consultation with the Constituent Councils, Local
Business and a wide range of Local Partners.

The Programme builds on the significant assets and potential and aims to
reverse the long term underperformance of our key assets and will address
social inequality. Local Partners have prioritised our Programme on five key
areas of genuine strength and economic opportunity.

The LEP will take strategic responsibility for the EU Programme through its
City Region European Board, working with CLG as they develop national
arrangements.

The CA will act as the Intermediary Body in order to undertake tasks on behalf
of the Managing Authority, should this be required.

Page 146



4.5 The CA will have the responsibility for the Scrutiny of the performance of the
European Programme both financially and outcomes, working with CLG as
they develop national arrangements.

Page 147



ACCOUNTABLE BODY PROTOCOL

This Accountable Body Protocol has been made on 2014
between:

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

2.0

2.1

(1) The Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined

Authority (‘the CA’);

(2) The Borough Council of Halton Unitary Authority; The Metropolitan Borough

of Knowsley; The City of Liverpool; The Metropolitan Borough of Sefton;
The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens; The Metropolitan Borough of
Wirral (‘the Constituent Councils’); and

(3) Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (‘the LEP").

BACKGROUND

The Order that establishes the CA provides that the functions of the
Constituent Councils in relation to economic development and regeneration
are exercisable in reliance on the general power of competence as set out in
section one of the Localism Act 2011. It is under this general power that the
CA will discharge functions as an Accountable Body.

There is an expectation that the creation of the CA will enable the City Region
to attract additional income to support economic growth and jobs. This
funding will be granted to the City Region as a whole for use on a range of
different activities and as such an organisation would need to act as
Accountable Body for that funding. The CA would be both reactive to funding
announcements and proactive, based upon implementing the City Region’s
agreed Growth Plan.

The CA will become the presumed default Accountable Body for new City
Region level fund.

ROLE OF AN ACCOUNTABLE BODY

It is ultimately the responsibility of the Accountable Body to assure itself that
decisions are made in a robust and coherent fashion, relevant outcomes are
achieved and grant is spent in line with the relevant funding rules and
regulations. These are covered in the following sections.

Decision-making

Decision-making, involving the spending of CA will need to demonstrate this,
as well as any Boards or Committees who will be acting on the CA’s behalf.

Page 148



2.2

2.3

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

Financial management

The CA as Accountable Body will require evidence of how decisions have
been made and a clear audit trail from a decision, to the award of a contract
(for example) and payment being made. In addition, full records will need to
be kept by delivery organisations.

Performance management

The CA as Accountable Body will need to evidence that the funds distributed
have been used for the purposes for which the fund were allocated, and that
this is in line with the requirements of the funder. Regular reports will need to
be submitted to the CA as Accountable Body, with an overall view taken by
the CA of performance against the delivery of funds.

ROLES OF CA AND THE DELIVERY ORGANISATIONS

The CA will be responsible for providing democratic accountability and
strategic leadership around economic development, housing, transport and
employment and skills within the City Region. This is provided for in the
general power of competence under section 13 of the Localism Act 2011,
which amended the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act of 2009.

The CA will act as Accountable Body for a range of different funds which seek
to promote improvements in economic development, housing, transport,
employment and skills and other regeneration activity. This will primarily (but
not necessarily exclusively) be to fund activities which will have a City Region
impact. The CA may administer the funds with strategic decisions on
commissioning being made elsewhere or it may administer the funds and
commission activity itself.

The responsibilities of the CA on the administration of Accountable Body
funds will include:

e To fulfil any responsibilities for EU Structural Funds on behalf of the CA as
an intermediary body;

e Acting as Accountable Body for Single Local Growth Fund, RGF, EU
Funds and other City Region resources which may flow to the CA/LEP for
the purpose of economic development;

e Providing financial monitoring statements on a regular basis on behalf of
the CA and LEP and to provide accounting arrangements to Audit
standards;

e Ensuring that the implications of the agreements associated with the funds
are fully understood;

Page 149



3.4

3.5

Put in place processes through Financial Procedure Rules to ensure
appropriate financial and contractual administration of the funds including
compliance with procurement regulations and audit;

Entering into agreements with delivery organisations and holding them to
account for their performance; and

Regular reporting to the CA on the performance and outputs of funds.

There are specific responsibilities around making investment decisions
(through commissioning or procurement) that the CA may retain or
commission a Board or Committee to undertake. This will include:

Confirming the strategic fit of the proposed activities with the City Region’s
Growth Plan and strategic investment priorities;

Commissioning activity through a range of procurement methods;
Implementing a robust project appraisal process to ensure activity delivers
outcomes and value for money;

Implementing a robust programme management approach;

Making strategic decisions on the investment of the funds transparently;
Receiving regular updates on the activity being delivered through the
funds; and

Ensuring that there is a thorough approach to evaluation of the activity
being delivered through the funds.

The role of individual delivery organisations should include the following:

Design activity in line with the requirements of the funds which supports
the delivery of the City Region’s Growth Plan;

Deliver activity in line with contractual agreements with the CA;

Ensure that financial and commercial requirements are met; and

Maintain records of activity and expenditure in line with funding
agreements.

Page 150



Signed by Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral
Combined Authority Authorised Signatory

Dated
Signed by Constituent Councils Authorised Signatories

Signed by the Borough Council of Halton Unitary Authority:

Signed by the Metropolitan Borough of Knowsley

Signed by The City of Liverpool

Signed by The Metropolitan Borough of Sefton

Signed by The Metropolitan Borough of St Helens

Signed by The Metropolitan Borough of Wirral

Dated

Signed by the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership
Authorised Signatory

Dated

Page 151



Final Draft Version: 14 February 2014

Page 152



Agenda ltem 3

WIRRAL COUNCIL
SPECIAL CABINET

10 MARCH 2014

SUBJECT Pay Policy Statement 2014/15
WARDS AFFECTED All

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO Councillor Adrian Jones
HOLDER:

KEY DECISION Yes

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the requirements of the Council’'s Pay Policy
and for Cabinet to consider the recommendation to Council at its meeting of 10
March 2014, approval of the Council’'s Pay Policy 2014/15 as set out in Appendix
One of the report .

2. BACKGROUND

2.1The Localism Act received Royal Assent on 15 November 2011. Chapter 8 of the
Act refers to ‘Pay Accountability’ and sets out the requirements for Councils to
determine and publish annual pay policy statements. The requirements of The
Localism Act include:

e The Pay Policy statement to be approved by The Full Council, in advance of
the financial year to which it relates.
e The Pay Policy Statement to be published on the Council website.

2.2The Pay Policy Statement is required to set out the Council’s policies relating to
the following:

e Chief Officer Remuneration, including salary, allowances, and enhancements
at termination.

e Remuneration of its lowest paid employees.

e The relationship between Chief Officer Remuneration and that of other
employees.

3. THE PAY POLICY STATEMENT

3.1The Pay Policy Statement 2014/15 is attached at Appendix One for the
consideration of Full Council.

3.2The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) have made some
recommendations to revise the code on data transparency and there has been

Page 153



national consultation on this. If approved, this may mean changes to the Pay Policy
statement. In this event Council will be updated of the changes.

3.3The Pay Policy can be amended by resolution of Council. This includes in-year
amendments.

4. KEY CHANGES AND UPDATES FROM THE 2013/14 STATEMENT

4.1 The 2014/15 statement reflects key changes and updates that have occurred
within the last financial year as follows;

e Incorporation of guidance in relation to termination packages in excess of
£100,000 in total being subject to vote by full council (refer to Paragraph 8.3
of pay policy statement).

e The changes to the Living Wage from 1 November 2013 (refer to Paragraph
3.13 of pay policy statement)

e The implementation of a local Collective Agreement to change terms and
conditions of employment signed in May 2013 (refer to Paragraph 3.10 of
pay policy statement.

e The implementation of auto—enrollment of employees to the Pension
scheme (refer to Paragraph 7.2 of pay policy statement).

5. RELEVANT RISKS

5.1 The Council is required to prepare and approve its Pay Policy Statement 2014/15
before 31 March 2014. The Council will be at risk of not meeting the requirements
of The Localism Act 2011 if this is not achieved.

6. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

6.1No other options were considered as The Pay Policy Statement is a requirement of
the Localism Act 2011.

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 The Trade Unions were invited to comment on the Pay Policy Statement 2013/14
and have been consulted on the key updates and changes for the 2014/15
statement.

8. IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

8,1 None

9. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

9.1 The cost of introducing The Living Wage is £15,000 including on-costs. This will
built into departmental budgets under the provision for pay growth.

Page 154



10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Council is required to meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011.
11. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The EIA is available at:

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-
cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010/law-hr-asset-management

12. CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

12.1 Not applicable for this report.

13. PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
13.1 Not applicable for this report.

14. RECOMMENDATION/S

That Cabinet recommend to Council at its meeting of 10 March 2014 approval of
the Council’s Pay Policy 2014/15 as set out in Appendix One of the report.

15. REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

15.1 The Council is required by Section 38 of The Localism Act 2011 to prepare a Pay
Policy Statement for each financial year.

APPENDICES

Appendix One: The Pay Policy Statement 2014/15
REFERENCE MATERIAL

None

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date
Pay Policy Statement (2013/14) 5 March 2013
Pay Policy Statement (2012/13) 1 March 2012

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 156



Appendix One

WiRRAL COUNCIL
PAY POLICY STATEMENT

2014 - 2015

Hi\Corporate Services\HRManagementCabinet\2014\1 Ogafglﬁailg Zol%cy Stmt 2014-15 FV .doc 1



1.

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

Introduction and Purpose

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the council has the
“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as authority
thinks fit". The Localism Act 2011 (sections 38-43) requires local authorities in
England and Wales to publish a pay policy statement for each financial year
beginning with 2012-13. This provision of the Act does not apply to staff in
local authority schools.

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the
Council's approach to setting the pay of its employees (excluding schools
based staff) by identifying:

» The methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;

» The detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘Chief Officers’,
as defined by the relevant legislation;

« The Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service responsibility for ensuring the
provisions set out in this statement are applied consistently throughout the
Council and recommending any amendments to Full Council.

The Council will consult with the relevant Trade Unions in relation to changes

- and updates to the Pay Policy, before the Policy is considered by Fuli Council.

Once approved by Full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate
effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy
for the next financial year being approved by 31 March each year.

Council may, by resolution, amend this Pay Policy, including after the beginning
of the financial year to which it relates.

2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration

2.1.

- 2.2

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will
comply with all relevant employment legislation.

It is Council policy to ensure that there is no pay discrimination within its pay
structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the of
use job evaluation mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of
posts in grades according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of
the role. '

3. Pay Structure

3.1.

3.3.

3.4.

The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine(s) (i.e. a defined list of

salary points) as the basis for its local pay structlre, which determines the =

salaries of the large majority of its (non schools) workforce.

The Council's Collective Agreement has kept the national negotiated pay spine

for National Joint Council (NJC) employees at the rate set on 1 April 2009 as
the Council has not paid the national pay award for 2013/14 (see the Collective
Agreement).

The national negotiated pay spine is also varied at Band A and Band B through
the introduction of the Living Wage (see Living Wage).

The Council's grading structure is attached at Appendix One.

H:\Corporate Servéces\HRMana.gement\Cabinet\zmRagaw‘ilr5&y Policy Stmt 2014-15 FV _doc 2




3.5.

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

3.9.

The grading structure for Bands A to H (up to spinal column point (scp 34) was
implemented as part of the Council’s Job Evaluation process in August 2008,
using the National Joint Council for Local Government Services (NJC) Job
Evaluation Scheme. '

Where a nationally negotiated pay spine does not apply, the Council will
determine the salary rate through local negotiation and agreement.

The Council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the
establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any
agreed annual pay increases negotiated with joint trade unions, subject to any
local agreements in place (see the Collective Agreement).

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with
collective bargaining machinery.

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any
posts which fall outside the scope of the national pay bargaining arrangements,
council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the
use of public expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain
employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality
services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at
which those services are required within a fair, fransparent and equality proofed
framework.

3.10. Collective Agreement

3.10.1 The Council signed a Collective Agreement with recognised Trade Unions in

May 2013 to change some terms and conditions of employment. This
included changes to elements of pay and allowances and agreement for
Council employees to each take four days unpaid leave each year for a period
of three years from 2013/14. It also included the national pay award not being
paid for all employees for 2013/14, subject to aliernative savings being
identified.

3.11. Variations to pay grade

3.11.1. From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay

levels in the labour market in order fo attract and retain employees with
particular experience, skills and capacity. Where necessary, the Council will
-ensure the requirement for such is objectively justified by reference to clear
and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using data
sources available from within the local government sector and outside, as
appropriate.

3.11.2. Any temporary supplement fo the salary scale for the grade is approved in

accordance with the Council’'s Honoraria Policy, or any applicable market
rate supplement arrangements.

3.12. Job Evaluation

3.12.1 The Council has implemented Job Evaluation for employees paid up to scp 34:

£28,636.

H:\Corporate Services\HRManagement\Cabinet\2014\1 oEﬁQi%l ;@%Iicy Stmt 2014-15 FV .doc 3



3.12.2The Council is committed to implementing a new grading structure and pay -
line in 2014/15 as part of the future council work.

3.13. The Living Wage

3.13.1. Living Wage rates are based on Minimum income Standards methodology
and seek to take account of real living costs for essential goods and services.
The Living Wage rate for outside London increased to £7.65 per hour in
November 2013.

3.13.2. Through Wirral's Pay Policy Statement, the Council is committed to paying
the Living Wage. The provision for the Living Wage will be kept under
review.

3.13.3. From 1 November 2013, council will set Band A at scp 10 at a locally agreed
rate of £7.65 an hour (equivalent to £14,361 per annum), and Band B at scp
11, at a locally agreed rate of £7.85 (equrvalent to £14 733 per annum), as
shown at Appendix One.

3.14. New Appointments

3.14.1. New appointments will normally be made at the minimum scp of the relevant
pay scale for the grade. Where the candidate is already on or above the
minimum scp of the relevant pay scale, the appointment will normally be
made at the same scp. S

3.14.2. The appointment salary can be varied in exceptional circumstances with the
approval of The Head of Human Resources and Organssatsonat
Development,

3.15. Progression through pay grades

3.15.1. An employee’s progression through the increments of a particular pay grade
-is finked to length of service. Increments are awarded on 1 April each year, or
for new appointments between 1 October and 31 March, six months from
start date.

3.156.2. The arrangements and factors considered in determining an individual's
progression through different pay grade are determined by experience, skills
and qualifications as set out in the relevant Job Description.

4. Senior Management Remuneration

4.1. For the purposes of this statement, senior management means ‘Chief Officers’
as defined within.the .Localism. Act.. The. posts -falling. within -the statutory. . ... ..
definition are set out in ‘The Code of Recommended Practice for Local
Authorities on Data Transparency (‘the data transparency code’)’.

4.2, The Council's grading structure for Chlef Officers is attached at Appendix Two
and includes:

Chief Executive

The salary falls within a range of 5 incremental points between £121,807, rising
to a maximum of £135,341.

HACorporate Services\HRManagement\Cabinet\ZOiRagglvﬂrﬁgy Policy Stmt 2014-15 FV .doc 4




4.3

4.4

Strategic Director

The salary package of posts designated as Strategic Director, fall within a
salary range of 5 incremental points between £109,626 fo a maximum of
£121,807.

Director 1
The salary package of posts designated as Director 1 fall within a range of 5
incremental points between £101,564 rising to a maximum of £112,8490.

Director 2 '
The salary package of posts designated as Director 2 fall within a range of 5
incremental points between £80,316 rising to a maximum of £89,240.

Head of Service 1

The salary package of posts designated as Head of Service 1, fall within a
range of 5 incremental points between £76,173 rising to a maximum of
£84,637. \

Head of Service 2

The salary package of posts designated as Head of Service 2, fall within a
range of 5 incremental points between £66,017 rising to a maximum of
£76,173.

The terms and conditions, including the payment of any allowances for Chief
Officers is set out within the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of
Local Authorities constitution conditions of service salaries.

The Chief Executive handbook sets out the terms and-conditions of employment
for Chief Executives and some provisions within this also apply to Council's
Statutory Officers.

5. Recruitment of Chief Officers

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers
is set out in Part Four of Council's Constitution. The appointment of Chief
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers is delegated to The Employment and
Appointments Committee as set out in Part Three of Council’'s Constitution.

When recruiting to all posts council will take full and proper account of all
provisions of relevant employment law and its own Equal Opportunities,
Recruitment and Selection and Redeployment Policies as approved by Council.

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed
Chief Officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies
in place at the time of recruitment.

In line with guidance under The Localism Act, proposed appointments to posts
with remuneration exceeding £100, 000 will be subject to a vote at Full Council.

6. Additions to Salary

6.1.

With the exception of progression through the incremental scale of the relevant
grade being subject fo satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an
annual basis, the level of remuneration is not variable dependent upon the
achievement of defined targets.

H\Corporate Services\HRManagement\Cabinet\2014\1 o-Eﬂ@a; aaﬁijolicy Stmt 2014-15 FV .doc 5




6.2. In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional pay as set out
below:

Post / Tier of post ‘ Payment details

Chief Executive and Head of Paid | Returning Officer duties:

Service o National statutory amount = for
Parliamentary/National Elections.

e locally determined amount in
accordance with national guidance for
Local Government Elections.

All eligible employees ' Allowances in accordance with council’s
terms and conditions.

Eligible Social Workers Approved recruitment and retention
allowances paid as a market supplement.

7. Pension Contributions

7.1. The employer’'s pension contribution is required to be published under S7 of the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011.

7.2. The Council will automatically enroll all eligible employees into the Local
Government Pension scheme and council is required to make a contribution to
the scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable remuneration due
under the contract of employment of that employee.

7.3. The rate of contribution is set by Actuaries advising Merseyside Pension Fund
and reviewed every three years in order to ensure the scheme is appropriately
funded. The current rate and deficit is equal {0 22.6%.

8. Payments on Termination

8.1. The Council’'s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination
of employment for all employees, including Chief Officers, prior to reaching
normal retirement age, is set out within council’s Retirement Policy.

8.2 The Council will keep its Enhanced Discretionary Severance Scheme under
review. Any changes, as approved by the Employment and Appointments
Committee are published in accordance with the Local Government (Early

Termination-of Employment)- (Discretionary Compensation)-{(England-and-Wales)- - -

regulations 2006.

. 8.3 Inline with guidance under The Localism Act, proposed severance packages

exceeding £100,000 in total will be subject to a vote at Full Council.
9. Lowest Paid Employees

9.1. The lowest paid persons employed by the Council are employed on full time (36
hours) equivalent salaries in accordance with spinal column points 10 (Band A)
of council’s grading structure (locailly agreed). The grading structure takes

H:\Corporate Ser\rices\HRManagement\Cabinet\zmPagtewt@@y Poticy Stmit 2014-15 FV .doc 6




9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5

9.6.

9.7.

10.

account of the Living Wage hourly rate (see section 3 above). As at 1 November
2013, this is £14,361 per annum, subject to local pay award.

The Council employs Apprentices which are not considered within the definition
of ‘lowest paid employees’ as they are employed under a training contract,
starting at minimum wage, with pay progression routes available.

The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and Chief Officers is
determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading sfructures as
set out earlier in this policy statement.

The current pay levels within council define the multiple between the average full
time equivalent (FTE) earnings and the Chief Executive as 1: 5.78.

The current pay levels within council define the multiple between the lowest paid
employee full time equivalent (FTE) earnings and average Chief Officer earnings
as 1:6.17. ‘

The current pay levels within council define the multiple between the average
FTE earnings and the average of Chief Officer earnings as 1: 3.78.

As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available
benchmark information as appropriate. In addition, upon the annual review of
this Statement, the Council will also monitor any changes in the relevant ‘pay
multiples’ and benchmark against other comparable local Authorities.

Accountability and Decision Making

10.1In accordance with The Constitution of Council, The Employment and

Appointments Committee is responsible for decision making in relation to Chief
Officer recruitment.

110.2The Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service has delegated responsibility for

decision making in relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and
severance arrangements in relation to employees of council below Chief Officer
level.

11.Re-employment / Re-engagement of Employees

11.1The Council will not re-employ any former employees that have left the Council

with an early retirement package or under the Voluntary Severance Scheme,
except in exceptional circumstances and with the approval of the Head of
Human Resources and Organisational Development.

H:\Corporate Services\HRMaﬂagément\Cabinet\z{)14\1G«Ra@ﬁl ﬂaﬁ@ﬁcy Stmt 2014-15 FV .doc 7




Page 164



LIVING WAGE SALARY BRATES
(WITH EFFECT FROM 1.11.2012)
SCP |Band | Full Time | Job Share | Monthly | Weekly 36 .
Salary Salary Hourly Appendix One
£13,985 6,982.50] 1,165.42
3601 517,180.00

(oS00 oYY
o

Bt

i
ais

£28,236 | 14,618.00| 2,436.33; 560.69| 155747
£30,011 § 1500850 2,500.92] 575551 159876
£30,851 ; 15425.50| 2,570.92] 591,66 16.4351
£31.764 15877001 2,646.17] 608.98 169181
£42,800 | 15400.001 2,733.38] 62004 17.4734
£33,661 | 16,830,501 2,805.08] 645.55] i7.2320
£34,540 | 17,274.50f 2,875.08| 662,58] 1B.4051
£35430 | 17,715.00 2,052.50] 879.48] 18,8744
£38,313 | 18,156.50| 3.026.08] £96.41] 193448
£37,208 | 18,803,00| 3,100.50] 7i8.54] 19.8205
£38,042 | 19.021.00| 3,170.17] 729571 20.2859
£88,061 | 1948050 3,248.75f 747.200 20.7555
£39,855 | 19,927.80| 3,321,251  764.84] 21.2317
£40,741 | 20,870.50] 3,355.08] 781.33] 21.7037
£41,618 | 20,808.00] 3,488.00| 798.12] 221899
£42,.320 | 21,180,001 3,526.67| 811.62| 225449
£43,088 | 21,519.00] 8,586.50| 825.38] 2p.o274
£43900 | 21,850.00] 3,658.33] 841,92 23.3866
£44,752 | 22,376.00] 3,729.33| 858.26| 23.8405
245552 | 22,776.00] 3,796.00] B73.60| 24.2667
£46,423 } 23.211.50] 3.868.58{ 890,30| 24.7307
£47,297 | 23648501 394142 907.07| 25.1963
£48.088 : 24044.00| 4,007.33| p22.24| 25.8177
£4B.979 | 24489.50| 4,081.58] 930.32| 26.0023
£49.827 | 2491350 4,162.25| 95559 255441
£50.667 | 25,338.50| 4222.25] 971.70| 289916
£51,615 | 28,757.50, 4,292.92} 987.961 27.4433
282361 | 26,180.50| 4,363.42! 1004.18] 27.8940
£53,200 | 26,604.50] 4,424.08] 1020.45! 28.3457
£64,057 | 27,028.50| 4,504.75] 1036.71] 28.7975
£84,801 | 27,450.50] 4575.08| 1052.90} 28.2471
£B5,73¢ | 27,860.50( 4,644.92| 1068.87] 29.6935
£56,591 | 28,29550| 4,715.92| 1085.31] 80.1474
£87,437 | 28,718,50| 4,788.42) 1101.53] 30.5981
£58,278 | 29,139.00] 4,856.50] - 1117.66] 31.0461
£59,130 | 29,565.00] 4,927.50 1134.00| 31.5000
£60,017_ | 30,008.50] 5,001.42] 1151.01] 37.9728
£60,917 | 3045850 5,076.42| 1168.27| 324520
£61,826 | 30,813.00] 5,162,17| 1185.70] 32.03862

862,761 1 31,380.50! 5.230.08| 1203.54] 33.4343

Page 165




Page 166




Z5e el 1£9'98 07¢ 68 B8YRZLL L08'LZL LPeisel S0
8151 L25'28 600°.8 120°0LL 182°8l1 1G6°LEL $0
#20'69 - SO¥'08 81/'98 902201 91.'GL} £16'gzl £0
05879 8878/ I¥5Z8 G8E'POL LI9ZLL 0816z zo
2L10°99 cll'9l 91£'08 05101 929'601 108121 LO
‘ sbuey Aieeg
{ZsH) (teH) (as) =9)
Z L (za) (1) Joyoang BAINSSXT
BIIAIOE JO PeSH aoiAleg JO peaH Z 4030811 | J0138JICY o_mmum._uw IO

oM} xipueddy

ssliejeg/apelo JSOIL0 J8IYD

Page 167







	Agenda
	2 Combined Authority
	Appendix One - Order
	Appendix One - Consequential order
	Appendix Two - Constitution
	Appendix Three - Operating Agreement and Protocols

	3 Pay Policy Statement 2014/15
	appendix one statement


